
Cabinet
Date: Thursday, 8 October 2015
Time: 6.15 pm

Venue: Committee Room 1 - Wallasey Town Hall

Contact Officer: Andrew Mossop
Tel: 0151 691 8501
e-mail: andrewmossop@wirral.gov.uk
Website: http://www.wirral.gov.uk

AGENDA
1. MEMBERS' CODE OF CONDUCT - DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Members of the Cabinet are asked to consider whether they have any 
disclosable pecuniary and/or any other relevant interest, in connection 
with any item(s) on this agenda and, if so, to declare them and state 
the nature of the interest.

2. MINUTES 

The minutes of the last meeting have been printed and published.  Any 
matters called in will be reported at the meeting.

RECOMMENDATION:  That the minutes be approved and adopted.

LEADER OF THE COUNCIL

3. WIRRAL PLAN: DELIVERY PLAN PHASE ONE AND MEDIUM 
TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY (Pages 1 - 64)

ENVIRONMENT AND SUSTAINABILITY

4. CLIMATE CHANGE ANNUAL PROGRESS REPORT AND ACTION 
PLAN (Pages 65 - 110)

GOVERNANCE, COMMISSIONING AND IMPROVEMENT

5. AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE ANNUAL REPORT 
2014/15 (Pages 111 - 130)

At its meeting held on 8 June 2015 (minute 3 refers), the Audit and 
Risk Management Committee gave consideration to the draft Annual 



Report 2014/2015, which had been prepared by the Chair in 
consultation with Internal Audit. The report was approved and referred 
to the Cabinet for consideration.

6. ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 2014-15 (Pages 131 - 150)

NEIGHBOURHOODS, HOUSING AND ENGAGEMENT

7. EMPOWERING LOCALLY / NEIGHBOURHOOD WORKING TO 
DELIVER THE WIRRAL PLAN 2020 (Pages 151 - 158)

8. ANY OTHER URGENT BUSINESS APPROVED BY THE CHAIR 
(PART 1) 

To consider any other business that the Chair accepts as being urgent.

9. EXEMPT INFORMATION - EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND 
PUBLIC 

The following items contain exempt information.

RECOMMENDATION:  That, under section 100 (A) (4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972, the public be excluded from the meeting during 
consideration of the following items of business on the grounds that 
they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined by 
the relevant paragraphs of Part I of Schedule 12A (as amended) to 
that Act. The Public Interest test has been applied and favours 
exclusion.

10. ANY OTHER URGENT BUSINESS APPROVED BY THE CHAIR 
(PART 2) 

To consider any other business that the Chair accepts as being urgent.



WIRRAL COUNCIL

CABINET 

8 OCTOBER 2015

SUBJECT: DELIVERY PLAN (PHASE ONE)

WARD/S AFFECTED: ALL

REPORT OF: CHIEF EXECUTIVE

RESPONSIBLE PORTFOLIO HOLDER: LEADER OF THE COUNCIL

KEY DECISION?  NO

1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1 This report provides Cabinet with phase one of the Delivery Plan for 
consideration following the unanimous approval of the five-year Council Plan at 
the meeting of full Council on 13th July 2015.

1.2 The Plan provides a clear ambition for the borough and defines the outcomes 
towards which we will work for the next five years: the 20 pledges. This Plan 
has, since approval by Council in July, now been adopted by all strategic 
partners from the public, private and third sectors to create the first Wirral Plan. 

1.3 This means that for the first time partners have formally agreed to work towards 
a shared set of outcomes, goals and objectives, to work towards integrating 
services and budgets and making best use of the totality of public sector 
resource in Wirral, for the benefit of Wirral people. As part of that agreement 
and progress since July, partners have committed to playing a lead role in 
achieving 8 out of the 20 pledges.  This Delivery Plan (Phase One) provides an 
outline of the approach that will be taken to ensure that the ambitions and 
priorities set out within plan are achieved and that they secure positive 
outcomes for local residents.  

1.4 Since July, significant progress has been made against all areas of the Wirral 
Plan. This work has been done at the same time as continuing the business of 
the Council which will benefit Wirral residents in relation to jobs, the local 
environment and their health. 

1.5 The Council is embedding an integrated approach to planning, policy and 
financial strategy; ensuring that resources are invested and allocated in 
accordance with the priorities committed to within the Wirral Plan. Therefore, 
Cabinet are also provided within this report the strategic framework for the 
delivery of a balanced budget for 2016/17 and Medium Term Financial Strategy 
for 2016/17-2020/21. This framework will align the budget with the priorities in 
the Wirral plan and will inform the development of a detailed Delivery Plan in 
February 2016.  



2.0 BACKGROUND AND KEY ISSUES
2.1 The Wirral Plan is a key policy document of the Council. The production of the 

Delivery Plan (Phase One) follows two successful Partnership Summit events 
in July and September 2015 during which partners formally signed up to the 
Wirral Plan and its pledges. It has also been agreed that 8 of 20 Wirral Plan 
pledges will now be led by a partner organisation working closely with all 
relevant stakeholders.

2.2 This development provides the opportunity for the public service economy in 
the borough to harness our collective resources and invest them in the delivery 
of the pledges committed to in this Plan; ensuring that public money available in 
Wirral, nearly £2 billion every year, will be invested towards those 20 Pledges.  

2.3 The plan sets out the borough’s ambition related to three overarching priority 
areas, underpinned by 20 specific pledges which will be achieved during the life 
of the Wirral Plan: 

 PEOPLE: Wirral is a place where the vulnerable are safe and protected, 
every child gets a good start in life and older residents are respected and 
valued.

 BUSINESS: Wirral is a place where employers want to invest and 
businesses thrive. 

 ENVIRONMENT: Wirral has an attractive and sustainable environment, 
where good health and an excellent quality of life is enjoyed by everyone 
who lives here.

2.4 The Delivery Plan (Phase One) outlines the approach that will be taken to 
develop the plans and strategies that will deliver the pledges. A fundamental 
principle in delivering on each and every one of the 20 Pledges is that our work 
is rooted in strong, accurate insight and that the views, needs and aspirations 
of residents underpin everything that we do. 

2.5 The first stage of that process started in September 2015, through a 
programme of resident insight. This programme is designed to hear directly 
from local people about what is important to them, and how they want to 
improve Wirral. The findings of this work will be reported to Cabinet in 
December 2015 and will enable the Council and its partners to develop the 
plans to secure the outcomes set out in the Wirral Plan. This programme of 
insight and research will be repeated on an annual basis and become an 
intrinsic facet of our business planning process. 

2.6 Delivery of the priorities and outcomes described in the Wirral Plan will be 
underpinned through the development and implementation of strategies and 
business plans. Progress against the identified outcomes will be regularly 
reported and published through the established Scrutiny process of the Council.



3.0 PROGRESS SINCE JULY 2015

3.1 It is essential that the plans and strategies that will underpin the Wirral Plan 
pledges are developed in partnership and that they signify a different approach 
which will be taken to deliver the ambition within the borough which the Plan 
provides. It is clear that the changing demands of our residents, coupled with 
our ongoing financial challenges, in turn demand a new approach from the 
Council and from all public services. 

3.2 The Delivery Plan (Phase One) outlines the work that will be completed to 
inform the detailed Delivery Plan in February, which will be fully integrated with 
a five-year budget strategy. It is also important to recognise that a significant 
amount of work is taking place day to day to both deliver the business of the 
Council and to make immediate progress in realising the Wirral Plan ambitions. 
Since the approval of the Wirral Plan in July:

 People: Significant progress has been made in the creation and 
establishment of two new, innovative service delivery vehicles: 
Edsential, to provide services to schools, and Wirral Evolutions, to 
provide Day Services to adults with a disability. We have also seen 
increases in attainment in GCSE results, and saw improvements in our 
early years provision, demonstrated by improvements in the rate of 
development of children at age 5. 

 Business: The new Wirral Metropolitan College campus is now open, at 
the Wirral Waters development. The innovative Lightbox development in 
Birkenhead, and the Tower Wharf complex near Wirral Waters are all 
nearing completion; bringing much needed office space to the borough 
and enabling successful and important local employers to grow. 
Hundreds of jobs have been created throughout the past year through 
Wirral working closely with the Local Enterprise Partnership to support 
businesses through the successful investment of Regional Growth Fund 
funding. More work is underway to develop the Burbo Bank extension 
project with many national and global businesses visiting Wirral during 
September. 

 Environment: Birkenhead Park was highlighted by the Guardian as one 
of the top ten parks in the world, a source of huge local pride and a high-
profile demonstration of the achievements of our staff and the dedicated 
Friends group. Many achievements in the day-to-day operations of our 
environmental services have been seen, including increases in the 
number of residents subscribing to garden waste collection, and the 
diversion of 2,722 tonnes of garden waste to be composted rather than 
sent to landfill. A behaviour change campaign targeted at the 
Woodchurch area saw a 54% reduction in dog fouling and over 3,000 
fixed penalty notices were issued to reduce instances of littering. 

3.3 On September 28, Audit and Risk Management Committee received a report 
from external auditors Grant Thornton which recognised that the Council had 
made real progress in arrangements for delivering value for money and 
achieved good financial performance. 



3.4 These achievements, among many others, demonstrate the twin-track 
approach which the Council is currently implementing: resource is being 
invested into creating the strategic direction for the Council and its partners 
for the next five years; in terms of achieving outcomes for Wirral people and 
also setting a sustainable budget position. However, this does not come at 
the cost of delivering the day-to-day business of the Council which is 
continuing to deliver and make a difference to the lives of local residents. 

4.0 FINANCIAL CONTEXT

4.1 In February 2015, the Council approved the current Medium Term Financial 
Strategy (MTFS) for 2015/16-2017/18. This detailed the financial challenge 
that the Council faced and the size of the anticipated remaining funding gap 
to 2017/18. The Wirral Plan provides the framework within which the budget 
and the MTFS will be developed. It will inform the development of the 
budgets, the prioritisation of resources and the difficult decisions that need to 
be made over the coming five years.   

4.2 Moving forward, the Council is taking a different approach to its budget setting 
process from that taken in previous years. We are looking long-term and will 
be setting a sustainable, stable budget and medium term financial plan over a 
five year period, rather than looking to bridge financial gaps on an annual 
basis. 

4.3 Over the five years 2016/2021 the Council is facing a continued, challenging 
financial future: with an anticipated funding gap of £126 million, which 
includes a £24 million funding gap in 2016/17. This is due to a combination of 
reductions in Government grant and the combined pressures of inflation and 
changes in demographics. The objective is to develop a financial strategy and 
associated programme of changes to close the funding gap by focusing future 
limited resources on the delivery of Wirral Plan outcomes and pledges. We 
need to focus on using our remaining net revenue budget of £201 million by 
2020/21 in the best way to deliver on our pledges, in partnership with our 
other public sector colleagues. 

4.4 A number of the Pledges within the Wirral Plan can and must provide 
significant support to the Council’s financial position, especially in respect of 
income from new building homes, and increased business rates from new 
and growing businesses. There are also a number of cross-cutting themes 
which will be explored to develop efficiencies, such as working across 
constituencies, capital investments into extra care housing and business, 
generating income, making much better use of our assets and ensuring our 
technology and access channels are fit for purpose and drive efficiency. 

4.5 The five year MTFS sits within the overall Wirral Plan and associated policy 
framework of the Council. The budget for 2016/17 and medium term financial 
plan to 2020/21 will be developed with an understanding how all the plans and 
strategies of the Council fit together. The Council has to juggle the needs and 
demands of the businesses, people and communities of Wirral whilst being 



responsible for setting a balanced budget that reflects and allocates resources 
to its pledges.

5.0 TIMETABLE

5.1 A timetable is in place to ensure that there is an integrated approach to 
developing a detailed Delivery Plan (Phase Two) for February 2016 which is 
fully aligned to the five year Medium Term Financial Strategy and specific 
budget proposals for 2016-17.

5.2 The plans and strategies that will underpin the 20 pledges will be developed 
in the context of the available resources that the Council and its Partners will 
have in 2020. This will ensure that budget proposals for 2016/17 and the five 
year Medium Term Financial Strategy are developed based on the resources 
that will be required to deliver the ambitions set out in the Wirral Plan and 
outline the allocation of resources to deliver the 20 pledges by 2020.

5.3 In December 2015, a series of budget proposals for 2016/17 and a proposed 
MTFS to 2020/21 will be reported to Cabinet, alongside the feedback 
received from the Residents Survey 2015. These budget and MTFS 
proposals will be developed in accordance with Wirral Plan priorities and will 
then be consulted on with people using services and other stakeholders. The 
budget proposals will be developed in accordance with the 20 pledges to 
ensure they are focussed on the long-term picture and enable the 
organisation to deliver its budget and also deliver on the pledges committed 
to in the Wirral Plan.   

5.4 In January 2016, Cabinet will receive a series of strategies and plans which 
are in development to provide a detailed approach on how the 20 Pledges will 
be delivered, in the context of the Wirral Partnership and the financial position 
of the Council. 

5.5 In February 2016, Cabinet will receive the Delivery Plan (phase two) which 
fully aligns the plans and strategies to deliver the pledges by 2020. Cabinet 
will also receive a five year Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS), and the 
consultation feedback in relation to the budget proposals for 2016/17. These 
reports will support Cabinet in proposing a balanced budget for 2016/17 and 
5-year MTFS to refer to Budget Council; to enable the budget to be set in the 
context of a long term, strategic plan.

6.0 RELEVANT RISKS 
6.1 The Corporate Risk Register will be refreshed in line with the new Wirral Plan to 

ensure that any risks to delivery are understood and mitigating actions are put 
in place as appropriate.

6.2 A delivery group has been established which is chaired by a strategic director 
and has representation from Finance, Policy, change and communications. 
This group meets weekly and robust project and risk management 
arrangements are in place. 



7.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
7.1 As outlined, the Wirral Plan is a key policy document and drives all other 

business planning processes and is therefore vital for the Council’s 
development in the coming year. Therefore no other options were considered.

8.0 CONSULTATION 
8.1 A new resident survey to further understand the needs of residents and 

communities is currently being carried out to influence the development of the 
underpinning strategies and business plan. Consultation will be undertaken as 
part of the budget setting process, and the delivery arrangements related to 
each of the 20 pledges will be rooted in insight, engagement and consultation. 

8.2 Policy and Performance Committees are already engaged in the process for 
delivering the 20 Pledges. 

9.0 IMPLICATIONS FOR VOLUNTARY, COMMUNITY AND FAITH GROUPS
9.1 The Wirral Plan makes reference to working closely with all partners for the 

benefit of Wirral residents and communities. This includes voluntary, 
community and faith groups. This partnership approach will continue to be a 
key priority for the Council, with representation from the third sector forming a 
key part of the Wirral Partnership. 

10.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: FINANCIAL; IT; STAFFING; AND ASSETS 
10.1 The budget setting process is fully integrated with the Wirral Plan. A process is 

currently underway to determine the resources which are required to deliver on 
the 20 Pledges. The outcome of this exercise will form part of the Delivery Plan 
(Phase Two) in February 2016.

11.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
11.1 Legal implications relating to the actions set out in the Wirral Plan will be 

addressed by directorates as appropriate.

12.0 EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS
12.1 Yes.

 http://www.wirral.gov.uk/my-services/community-and-living/equality-diversity-
cohesion/equality-impact-assessments/eias-april-2014/eias-chief-executives-d

13.0 CARBON REDUCTION AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 
13.1 None arising as a direct result of this report.

14.0 PLANNING AND COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS
14.1 None arising as a direct result of this report.

http://www.wirral.gov.uk/my-services/community-and-living/equality-diversity-cohesion/equality-impact-assessments/eias-april-2014/eias-chief-executives-d
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/my-services/community-and-living/equality-diversity-cohesion/equality-impact-assessments/eias-april-2014/eias-chief-executives-d


15.0 RECOMMENDATIONS

15.1 Cabinet are requested to consider and endorse the contents of this report, and 
the associated Delivery Plan (Phase One) provided at appendix one.

15.2 Cabinet are requested to consider and endorse the overarching timeline 
provided that sets out the process of agreeing the detailed 5-year delivery plan 
(phase two), the budget process for 2016/17 and the 5-year medium term 
financial strategy. 

16.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S
16.1 The Council is required to produce a Plan which provides a robust approach to 

the business planning; ensuring that it is based on sound evidence and an 
understanding of community needs. 

REPORT AUTHOR: Joe Blott
Strategic Director: Transformation and Resources 

APPENDICES
Appendix 1 – Delivery Plan: Phase 1





1

DELIVERY PLAN - PHASE ONE THE WIRRAL PARTNERSHIP

THE WIRRAL PARTNERSHIP

THE WIRRAL PLAN:
A 2020 VISION
Delivery Plan - Phase One



2

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

FOREWORD 4

A NEW DIRECTION FOR WIRRAL COUNCIL 6

OPERATING PRINCIPLES 8

Empowering locally 9

Leading collectively 9

Acting regionally 10

Organising internally  11

OUR PRIORITIES 12

 
SECTION A: PEOPLE  15

2020: Pledge 1 – Older people live well 18

2020: Pledge 2 – Children are ready for school 15

2020: Pledge 3 – Young people are ready for work and adulthood 20

2020: Pledge 4 – Vulnerable children reach their full potential 22

2020: Pledge 5 – Reduce child and family poverty 24

2020: Pledge 6 – People with disabilities live independently   26

2020: Pledge 7 – Zero tolerance to domestic violence 28

CONTENTS



3

DELIVERY PLAN - PHASE ONE THE WIRRAL PARTNERSHIP

 
SECTION B: BUSINESS 31

2020: Pledge 8 – Greater job opportunities in Wirral 32

2020: Pledge 9 – Workforce skills match business needs 34

2020: Pledge 10 – Increase inward investment 36

2020: Pledge 11 – Thriving small businesses  38

2020: Pledge 12 – Vibrant tourism economy 40

2020: Pledge 13 – Transport and technology infrastructure fit for the future 41

2020: Pledge 14 – Assets and buildings are fit for purpose  42

 
SECTION C: ENVIRONMENT  45

2020: Pledge 15 – Leisure and cultural opportunities for all 46

2020: Pledge 16 – Wirral residents live healthier lives  47

2020: Pledge 17 – Community services are joined up and accessible 48

2020: Pledge 18 – Good quality housing that meets the needs of residents 49

2020: Pledge 19 – Wirral’s neighbourhoods are safe  50

2020: Pledge 20 – Attractive local environment for Wirral residents 52

 
GETTING THERE: OUR PERFORMANCE ARRANGEMENTS 54

CONCLUSION 55

CONTENTS



4

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

In our “Wirral Council Plan: A 2020 Vision” we set out our 
aspirations as a council for an area built around its people  
and of a place where everyone can lead the kind of good,  
healthy and successful life they want.

Wirral is in the enviable position of having 
a set of partners who are talented, who are 
experienced and who share our absolute focus 
on achieving the right outcomes for residents. 
Our partners – from all public services and 
key private and third sector organisations – 
have not just endorsed this Plan, they have 
committed to it becoming their Plan too. 

Wirral Plan – a set of shared outcomes and 
priorities toward which every single pound 
of public resources which Wirral has at its 
disposal will be invested in.  This is a huge step 
for Wirral. 

The Council and its Partners are now truly one 
team, in a position to harness our collective 
resources – almost £2 billion every year – to 
jointly build on Wirral’s strengths and tackle 
our problems and together make real progress 
towards achieving the 20 Pledges we have 
committed to. 

That is not to suggest we have never worked 
well with our Partners before – we have. Our 
relationships are strong and we have a history 
of delivering in partnership in a whole range of 

This is about moving from Partnership 
to Integration. It is about the entire Public 
Sector in Wirral signing up to a joint set of 
outcomes; pooling budgets, sharing assets and 
stretching public resources further and further. 

This is our Delivery Plan. It sets out how 
we will begin to deliver on our 20 Pledges, 
build real integration across public services, 
reorganise the Council, and start changing the 
lives of local people for the better.

This is a Plan, not a set of prescriptions, and 
there is much work to do with our partners 
and with residents on the detail behind the 
direction we outline.

We need to recognise as a council that the 
world, the country and this area is changing 
and that in the 21st century people are 

5 years ago. People – rightly – want greater 
independence and control of their own lives. 
Expectations continue to change; people are 
no longer happy to receive what the state 
says is best. This has major, far reaching 
implications for all public services. 

FOREWORD



5

DELIVERY PLAN - PHASE ONE THE WIRRAL PARTNERSHIP

We also recognise the changing landscape at 
a regional and national level. We have already 
taken the huge step of committing to operate 
on a joint, pan-Wirral basis with our partners. 
Ongoing negotiations with Government on  
the Devolution agenda mean we also have to 
think and act regionally if we are to deliver on 
our duty to get the very best possible deal for 
local people.  

If we do not change the way we do things 
and do not respond to the challenge from 
residents, then we have failed in our duty to 
the communities we have chosen to serve.

In our vision for the future of Wirral residents 
are supported and encouraged to be free, 
independent and self-sufficient because that 
is what people say they prefer, however they 
remain at the heart of what the public sector  
is about. 

This plan will make sure that what gets done  
by public services is not based on what 
services we currently have, but on a deep, 
detailed understanding of what residents need 
in order to improve their quality of life.

It will make sure that the public services work 
together to get things done and do not worry 
about organisational boundaries. 

This delivery plan looks forward to a place 
where sharing, co-ordinating and integrating 
are the norm.

In the Wirral that this plan will shape, the 
council steps aside if there is someone else 
who can do a particular job better, but doesn’t 
shirk its duty to help those who need help  
the most.

We are passionate and proud of what we  
can achieve, and confident we have a fantastic 
story to tell regionally and nationally.

Councillor Phil Davies, Leader 
Eric Robinson, Chief Executive



6

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

If we are going to achieve our ambitions and aspirations the 
Council needs to look at itself and recognise where it has not 
always got things right, needs to do better and must change its 
approach.

We must also be pragmatic, and accept  
with our continuing financial challenges we 
cannot operate in the way we have always 
done. We must find new ways of achieving 
outcomes, looking beyond the traditional 
forms of local government towards new types 
of services, new organisations and innovative 
models for delivering services. 

This Delivery Plan starts identifying how, and 
gives our residents the opportunity to hold us 
to account and judge us by actions not words.

The Council accepts the realities of modern 
local government are about doing better with 
less money. We see this as an opportunity to 
remake the organisation and work with the 
wider public service, to focus relentlessly on 
what matters to local people and only on  
those issues that will improve their lives –  
from good health to better jobs, from 
improving the environment to a better start  
in life for young people.

But we must be honest with local people and 
our own workforce that we can no longer 
afford to provide all the services we have in the 
past, nor can we continue to provide services 
in the same way. Nor should we – because a 
modern, forward-looking Council finds new 
ways of delivering, it finds ways of doing more 
with less and it finds ways to achieve the right 
outcomes for its residents. 

This doesn’t mean we will avoid our 
responsibilities.  In fact it gives the council a 
new and very important role in harnessing 
the collective power of the public services to 
tackle some big, complex and hard issues and 
together improve all our lives.

Huge progress has been made in this area. 
We have established The Wirral Partnership 
and we have agreed that delivering on the 
outcomes committed to in this Plan is a shared 
responsibility. The Wirral Partnership consists 
of all public services working in Wirral, of key 
private sector organisations and of partners 
throughout the community, voluntary and 
faith sectors. We all have skills, experience 
and resources which – combined – create a 
powerful force which will have a big impact on 
the lives of Wirral people. 

We are already talking and making real 
progress, and seeing early achievements 
against the pledges in this document and 
throughout the partnership we are making 
plans to fully integrate services, pool and share 
resources and make the best use of assets and 
buildings to stretch public resources further 
for the benefit of local people. 

A NEW DIRECTION FOR WIRRAL COUNCIL



7

DELIVERY PLAN - PHASE ONE THE WIRRAL PARTNERSHIP

Our financial situation remains challenging. 
After making cuts of well in excess of £100 
million since 2010 we fully expect to be 
required to make a similar amount over the 
next five years. 

These cuts have consequences – for our staff, 
for our services and for the residents we serve. 
We must be much better at targeting our 
resources, and we must be much better  
at targeting our resources and prioritising 
where investment will have the most impact. 
We must also be imaginative, and find new 
ways of making sure outcomes which matter  
to residents are achieved. 

There is much more detail in this delivery  
plan, related to all 20 of our pledges for 
2020. These pledges are simultaneously 
ambitious and pragmatic; we understand the 
challenges we face and we have set targets to 
deliver which are achievable. However, to be 
successful we know that we need to deliver 
real, systemic change; to how we operate,  
how we are structured and to how we think 
and behave. 

This is not our final Delivery Plan. This 
document is here to provide initial direction 
and demonstrate where we are headed,  
and it shows real progress throughout the 
Pledges. However, during October, November 
and December of 2015 a number of things  
will happen;

• We will have the results of our 
Residents’ Survey 2015, and have a 
detailed understanding of our residents’ 
perceptions, priorities and concerns. 

• We will more fully understand our financial 
situation, following the Chancellor’s 
Comprehensive Spending Review and 
our Financial Settlement. 

• We will understand the full implications of 
Devolution, and be in a position to begin 
to plan our response to ensure we get the 
best deal for Wirral. 

It is only after we are in possession of 
this information that we can truly say we 
understand the landscape we are 
operating in. A Delivery Plan Phase Two, 
taking account of these points and the further 
work we are doing, will then be published for 
February 2016. It is this document that will 
provide the strategic direction for all public 
services in Wirral from now until 2020. 



8

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

Our strategic intent for the future can be summed up in four main 
themes: empowering locally, leading collectively, acting regionally 
and organising internally. It is on these foundations that a new 
Wirral Council – and a new approach to public services throughout 
Wirral – will be built. 

These next five years will be among the most 
challenging ever faced by this Council, and 
by local government as a whole, as austerity 
measures continue to bite and as it gets 
harder and harder to meet rising resident 
expectations with diminishing financial 
resources. 

However, in Wirral it is our commitment to 
residents that we will not respond to these 
financial challenges through making reactive, 
arbitrary cuts to services. We will balance 
our budget – and that will require some 
tough choices – but we will do it in a planned, 
strategic fashion. 

The four principles outlined here begin to 
demonstrate how we will do it. Finances 
are one driver towards implementing this 
approach, but it is by no means the only one. 
Operating strategically, focussing on outcomes, 
working as part of a public service collective 
both locally and regionally and devolving as 
much power as possible down to the most 
local level is just the way a modern Council 
should operate, regardless of finance. 

OPERATING PRINCIPLES



9

DELIVERY PLAN - PHASE ONE THE WIRRAL PARTNERSHIP

OPERATING PRINCIPLES

EMPOWERING LOCALLY 

Giving back power and responsibility to communities and tailoring our support to 
the unique needs of local areas and neighbourhoods.

A fundamental principle of delivering this Plan will be operating at the most local level 
possible – what is right for people in Birkenhead may not be right for those in Heswall.  
We must and will recognise this, and will build on our neighbourhood working 
programme, through production of a three-year Development Plan, to ensure that 
outcomes can be planned, agreed and delivered at a local level and that delivery plans are 
influenced and prioritised according to local need.  

This programme will lead to more independent and resilient people and communities; with 
a focus on individual wellbeing, greater local control and influence in relation to assets, open 
spaces and the place. 

LEADING COLLECTIVELY 

Working with public private and voluntary organisations in Wirral to agree a vision 
for the area and a set of priorities that will help us focus together on making a real 
difference collectively to people’s lives.

Against the drive for public sector reform and considerable financial challenges, the Council 
must look beyond organisational and geographical boundaries. The Wirral Plan, and the Wirral 
Partnership, represents a major step towards this goal, but we must go further. We need to 
share more services and ensure delivery is more joined up, at the same time as doing things 
differently. 

Working together, we will work strategically, all of our decisions and plans will be based on 
robust insight, and we will be absolutely focussed on outcomes. The Council will take a key 
role in leading a new, more efficient approach to partnership working across the Borough,  
in order to achieve better outcomes for local residents.



10

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

OPERATING PRINCIPLES

ACTING REGIONALLY

On behalf of the people of Wirral, we are playing a leading role in the Liverpool 
City Region and wider to bring resources from Government, gain more freedoms 
to transform our economy, improve lives and save money.

The Council is a key player in the regional and national Devolution agenda. We will ensure 
that we get the very best deal from Government and use the new powers devolved to the 
City Region to capitalise on what is a once in a generation opportunity to transform our 
economy and infrastructure. The right Devolution deal for Merseyside – and Wirral – will 
enable our region to create thousands upon thousands of good, skilled jobs in marine 
and renewable energies, in culture, in leisure and in advanced manufacturing. It will allow 
us to compete on a global scale, on a level playing field, and bring about an economic 
renaissance for Merseyside. 

This means we must, more than ever, think and act regionally. From the operational – 
sharing services, pooling resources – to the strategic projects and investments that will 
reshape our infrastructure and economy for the 21st century we must ensure that Wirral 
gets the best possible deal for residents while remaining at the forefront of the regional 
and national negotiations. 



11

DELIVERY PLAN - PHASE ONE THE WIRRAL PARTNERSHIP

ORGANISING INTERNALLY 

The Council is changing itself so that we have the right attitudes, abilities, skills, 
approach and finances to deliver our vision for Wirral.

Delivering the 20 Pledges will require a step-change in how the Council operates.  
Focussing on partnerships and outcomes, and not on services, organisations and processes, 
is a fundamental change in approach for the organisation. It is not a change which will 
happen overnight, but it is a change which will be enabled through reorganising ourselves 
and making sure we have the right skills in the right places. 

The Council’s operating model – currently a set of traditional support, back office functions 
– will be completely reviewed, to ensure the organisation is supported internally to achieve 
change which is effective, appropriate and delivered at pace. This will be complemented by  
a reinvigorated drive to embed the right culture throughout our workforce. 

Even with the major, continuing reductions in Council funding, the organisation will still be in 
a position to invest £200m per year into achieving outcomes for the borough, by 2020. This is 
part of a total public sector investment of approaching £2billion per year. We will make sure 
that a 5-year budget strategy is in place to get the best value for the Wirral Pound, and that 
opportunities to increase other revenue streams are maximised. 

OPERATING PRINCIPLES



12

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

Wirral Council has identified three 
outcome focused priorities. 

They are presented here as distinct 
areas of activity, but they are not.  
We fully understand that they are 
inextricably linked and – taken 
together – represent the core building 
blocks towards improving the quality 
of life enjoyed by Wirral residents.

OUR PRIORITIES



13

DELIVERY PLAN - PHASE ONE THE WIRRAL PARTNERSHIP

PEOPLE

Wirral is a place where the vulnerable are safe and protected,  
every child gets a good start in life and older residents are respected 
and valued.

Ensuring the most vulnerable among us are safe, and feel safe, is perhaps the  
most important responsibility of any Council. We will work across Council and  
agency boundaries to promptly identify and tackle problems before they develop. 

 

BUSINESS

Wirral is a place where employers want to invest and businesses thrive.

We will seize and capitalise on the unprecedented opportunities before us,  
and work hard to create new ones to transform Wirral’s economy for this 
generation and the next. We will focus on Wirral’s priority growth sectors 
to promote and grow jobs in the visitor economy, offshore wind, advanced 
manufacturing, maritime and renewable energy sectors. We will work with  
our partners to deliver these ambitions for Wirral and ensure that our plans  
are both economically and environmentally sustainable.   

 

ENVIRONMENT

Wirral has an attractive and sustainable environment, where  
good health and an excellent quality of life is enjoyed by everyone 
who lives here.

Working to reduce the unacceptable levels of inequality, particularly in 
relation to health has been and remains of paramount importance to this 
Council. We want all of our residents to have a good quality of life and live 
healthy lifestyles in clean and safe environments.



14

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

14

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

Young people are
ready for work and

adulthood

People with
disabilities live
independently

Zero tolerance
to domestic

violence

Children are
ready for school

Reduce child and 
family poverty

Older people
live well

Vulnerable
children reach

their full potential

PEOPLE



15

DELIVERY PLAN - PHASE ONE THE WIRRAL PARTNERSHIP

PEOPLE

Wirral is a place where the vulnerable are safe and 
protected, every child gets a good start in life and 
older residents are respected and valued. 

Ensuring the most vulnerable among us 
are safe, and feel safe, is perhaps the most 
important responsibility of any Council.  
We will work across Council and agency 
boundaries to promptly identify and tackle 
problems before they develop.

Our future direction

For too long, public services across the 
country have focussed too much on what 
people can’t do. We step in when an older 
person can no longer live independently, 
when a child gets excluded from school 
or when a family unit breaks down and a 
young person has to be taken into care. 

Not enough attention, or resources, goes 
into building on the strengths of our 
people: building resilience and focussing 
on early intervention to support people 
to be stronger, and prevent more serious 
issues occurring in the first place. 

It is this change in focus that will be the 
cornerstone of our new approach for 
Wirral people. 

We recognise how important an asset 
our older people are. Their experience, 
knowledge and skills are vital to bringing our 
communities together. 

We recognise that disabled people want 
and deserve to live independently, and we 
recognise the contribution they can make to 
the borough and to the economy if they are 
supported to live full, enriching lives which 
fulfil their potential. 

We recognise that younger people – 
regardless of background – need to be 
empowered and enabled to raise and then 
meet their aspirations. We will be there to 
support and inspire them to do just that. 

One of the first, most important steps we 
will be taking towards this approach is 
further, more embedded integration with 
our NHS colleagues. The Wirral Vanguard 
programme brings with it huge opportunities 
for integration, new models of care, and 
making sure our health and social care 
system is tailored to the changing demands 
of our residents. We will make best use of this 
opportunity, recognising that our combined 
resources are extremely powerful.



16

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

2020: Pledge 1 –  
Older people  
live well

The Wirral Plan:

We will support older people to live 
independently in their homes and  
help prevent social isolation. We 
will seek ways to show we value 
the experience and knowledge 
of older people and encourage 
more volunteering and mentoring 
opportunities within our communities. 

To achieve this, we must talk more regularly to 
older residents in Wirral. Over the five years 
of this plan, we will ensure more older people 
tell us they have a good quality of life and feel 
valued and respected in their communities.  
We will identify a benchmark in our 2015 
Survey and show continuous improvement 
over the life of this plan.

Understanding what is needed:

We recognise that older residents are a 
huge asset to this borough. They volunteer, 
they support their neighbours and they are 
often the glue which holds their communities 
together. We must make sure that they are 
enabled and empowered to do more, and 
supported when they need help.

At the heart of our approach to develop a 
strategy for older people will be the views of 
Wirral residents who are over 50, so we can 
truly understand what is important to them  
as they grow older in Wirral. 

Our strategy must and will be tailored to  
meet the needs of each and every older 
person in Wirral but we know that the needs  
of a resident who is 55 are likely to be  
totally different to those of a 90 year old.  
We recognise that, and will make sure our 
efforts reflect it. The majority of residents in 
Wirral between 50 and 64 are in employment. 
Over 14% of those over 50 have also 
volunteered in the last year and we want to 
build on this community involvement for future 
years, by encouraging more volunteering, and 
more people to give up their time to support 
their communities. 

A new approach:

The right strategy for older people enables  
and empowers our older residents to be 
as active, independent and self-sufficient 
as possible. It recognises that older people 
are hugely valuable to a community, and 
treats them with the respect and dignity 
commensurate to that status. 

To deliver the ambitions set out in our pledge 
it will require a completely new way of 
working. We will develop a five year strategy 
to enable older people to age well in Wirral, but 
we will do it in complete partnership. A range 
of public sector bodies provide or commission 
services designed to support older people.  
We could do more, and achieve a bigger 
impact, if we integrated those services and 
shared those budgets. We want to encourage 
more cohesion in communities, and more 
people to look out for and support their 
neighbours. We want to encourage and 
enable more volunteering, both in community 
based settings but also through more formal 
arrangements through social sector agencies.

PEOPLE



17

DELIVERY PLAN - PHASE ONE THE WIRRAL PARTNERSHIP

We need to create responsive health and care 
services for those that need them - focussed 
on delivering the right care, in the right place, 
at the right time. In order to achieve this we 
will integrate and re-shape services and pool 
resources. 

We will ensure that care is provided to our 
older people with dignity and respect by all 
providers, and that people are safeguarded 
against abuse and neglect.

We will work across the public, voluntary 
and community sector to develop a set of 
outcomes that are based on what residents 
tell us is important to them. We will use these 
outcomes to design a shared approach with 
partners and communities to make a real 
difference in the lives of older people.  

Wirral’s Older People’s Parliament will  
play a key role in shaping this work and 
providing a genuine opportunity to ensure  
that the views of residents are central and  
that the strategy is based on what people 
actually need, not what we think they need. 

Our priority in developing this strategy is to  
talk to our residents who are over 50 about 
what is important to them and how we can 
improve their quality of life.  

We want all our residents to have a good 
quality of life and as people grow older 
we want to help them plan for retirement, 
encourage them to get involved with their 
communities and ensure they feel valued  
and respected.

How we will get there:

Before the end of March 2016 we will:

• Identify the vision and outcomes for 
making Wirral a great place to grow  
old through discussion and involvement  
with local residents. 

• Agree a shared strategy for older people, 
setting out the actions that we and our 
partners will take to deliver the vision.

• Reach an agreement across all related 
Partners regarding integration of health 
and social care services and budgets.

How we will measure if we’re getting  
it right: 

• More older people live independently  
in their own homes.

• More older people tell us they feel safe  
and protected.

• More older people will be volunteering  
and playing an active role in their 
communities.



18

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

2020: Pledge 2 –  
Children are ready 
for school

The Wirral Plan:

We must make sure that every child  
has the emotional, social and 
developmental skills to be ready to  
start school and to learn. We will 
achieve this through a range of  
early interventions, engagement 
and support for families within our 
communities. 

Currently 63% of our children are reaching 
their development target at the age of 5,  
over the life of this plan we want to see a  
major improvement in this number so more  
of our young children get the best possible 
start in life.

Understanding what is needed:

Over 55,000 young people live in the borough. 
For the vast majority of them, Wirral is a great 
place to learn, to live and to grow up. Our 
schools are excellent; generally performing 
well in excess of the national average. We have 
fantastic leisure opportunities and a thriving 
cultural and sporting offer. 

We have 20,000 children under the age of 
five. These children will need different levels of 
support depending on their needs. Our aim is 
that every child will have the emotional, social 
and development skills to be ready to start school 
and to learn. To fully achieve our ambition we 
must work in partnership to target our resources 
and share knowledge and intelligence. 

Most importantly we will speak to families 
about what is important to them in order 
that we can develop shared approaches that 
meet these needs more effectively.

We want to take a fresh approach to ensuring 
that every child is ready to start school and 
to learn. To do this we will draw on a range of 
expertise that exists locally and nationally to 
understand fully the work that is already taking 
place and to understand how we can enhance 
this activity and support offer to ensure that 
every child gets the best possible start in life.  

A new approach:

In some areas, and some families, we need to 
reverse an ongoing cycle which has embedded 
over generations. To do this, we will develop 
a completely new approach to improving 
outcomes for these families and we will ensure 
our resources are targeted where they are 
needed the most. 

We will implement a new approach to sharing 
data and intelligence, building on the good 
work which is already in place, to make sure 
that no family is left without the support 
that they need. 

A new way of working will be established – 
covering all partners – to explore how we 
can better support children and families at 
the right times, with the right level of help, 
engagement and intervention. Focussing 
primarily on three areas – maternity and 
post-natal support, nursery and pre-school 
and parental support – our partnerships will 
be vital to addressing the underlying issues 
related to ensuring our children are enabled  
to reach their full potential.

PEOPLE



19

DELIVERY PLAN - PHASE ONE THE WIRRAL PARTNERSHIP

Our absolute priority is to keep children 
safe, well looked after and to provide 
them with the best start in life.  We will 
put the views of parents and families at the 
heart of our strategy to ensure that what they 
tell us guides the approaches that we will take 
in a way that meets their needs and most 
importantly the needs of Wirral’s children. 

We will build on what we know works, such 
as our Intensive Family Intervention 
Programme, which has unlocked a number 
of barriers to sharing information with our 
partners. One of our key priorities will be to 
ensure that we are regularly and consistently 
sharing data and information with our 
partners in order that we can effectively target 
our resources at those who most need our 
support and to identify the most vulnerable 
families in Wirral.  

We will work to align budgets from a range of 
partners and agencies including health visitors 
and family nurses, midwifery and antenatal 
services, early year’s provision and the 
government funding that is provided for 2 to 4 
year olds. Developing a greater understanding 
on how this money is currently spent will 
enable the Council to work with its partners 
to maximise these resources and focus future 
spend on prioritising children’s health and 
development, parental support, resilience and 
capacity and their readiness to work and learn.  

How we will get there:

By the end of March 2016, we will:

• Complete targeted engagement activity 
with families to identify what is important 
to them.

• Agree a strategy which is shared by 
partners throughout the public and 
community sectors, that sets out the 
actions that we will take in partnership to 
deliver our vision for every child to have 
the best possible start in life.

How we will measure if we’re getting  
it right:

• More children achieve a good level of 
development at the age of five.



20

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

2020: Pledge 3 –  
Young people are 
ready for work and 
adulthood

The Wirral Plan:

Our children deserve to be educated  
in ‘good’ schools. We want to see 
continued improvements in literacy  
and numeracy skills with more of our 
pupils achieving GCSE level English and 
Maths. Today, 78.5% of Wirral schools 
are rated ‘good’ or better by OFSTED. 

By 2020, we want to extend that to cover 
all Wirral schools. We also want to support 
improving academic attainment for children 
in care and those in low income families. It is 
also important to support teenage parents 
and vulnerable young people back into 
education and we will reduce the number 
of young people classified as NEETS – not in 
employment, education or training.

Understanding what is needed:

In Wirral, 69.2% of pupils achieved 5 or more 
GCSEs A* to C, including English and Maths, 
in 2014 which is above the national average. 
However, we know we have issues related to 
academic performance in certain areas of the 
borough as well as with those children who are 
in the Council’s care. 

Ensuring that young people in Wirral are ready 
for work and adulthood starts from birth and 
builds on our ambition to ensure that every 
child has the best start in life. 

We must also make sure that education 
leads to employment, and will be continuing 
our work with business and the Chamber of 
Commerce to develop opportunities for  
young people. 

Understanding the views of young people will 
be paramount to developing a new approach 
and we will work with this group to understand 
what is important to them and how we can 
ensure that they receive the best possible 
support, information and advice.

A new approach:

The Council has a relatively traditional model of 
providing support for young people, through a 
generic set of services including youth centres. 
It is clear that our ambitions must be delivered 
in partnership and therefore we will establish 
a stakeholder group who will be tasked with 
developing an innovative and creative 
approach to ensuring that young people are 
ready for work and adulthood, and who are 
willing to review and challenge current activity 
to ensure it is having the right impact.

The stakeholder group will initially be asked to 
consider a range of themes, including: 

• Raising ambition and aspiration. 

• Closing the gap in attainment. 

• Adopting a holistic approach to ensure 
children in care are equipped to achieve 
well in school.

• Developing a multi-agency approach to the 
education of children with special needs 
and disabilities. 

PEOPLE



21

DELIVERY PLAN - PHASE ONE THE WIRRAL PARTNERSHIP

• Supporting young people to develop 
approaches to manage risk and address 
potentially harmful behaviours and to 
become resilient adults.

• Ensuring there is a sufficient supply of jobs, 
internships and apprenticeships, colleges 
and university places to make sure that our 
young people can reach their full potential.

• Developing financial awareness and 
resilience amongst our young people, 
such as advice on budgeting and money 
management.

We want to ensure all young people have good 
knowledge and insight into different industries 
and workplaces to provide an understanding 
of the employability skills that are required to 
be successful in their careers.  

We will do this by working in close partnership 
with the Chamber of Commerce and schools 
through the Young Chamber programme.  We 
also want our young people to be confident 
and will work with them to increase this, and 
to make sure that we build self-esteem and 
improve our response to and prevention of 
bullying. 

We want all young people in Wirral to have 
access to high quality education opportunities 
from primary school right through to post 16 
education. In particular we want to ensure 
that vulnerable and disadvantaged pupils are 
supported to have the same opportunities 
and life chances as others regardless of their 
individual circumstances or background.

How we will get there:

Before the end of March 2016, we will:

• Complete targeted engagement activity 
with young people to identify what is 
important to them.

• Establish a steering group to lead a review 
of current activity and identify future 
provision; leading to the development of 
a shared strategy that sets out the actions 
that we and our partners will deliver to 
achieve our vision that all young people in 
Wirral are ready for work and adulthood.

• Fully establish the Young Chamber 
programme in Wirral schools.

 
How we will measure if we’re getting  
it right: 

• 100% of Wirral schools are good or 
outstanding by 2020.

• More young people achieve 5+ GCSE A*-C 
including English and Mathematics.

• More young people are in education, 
employment and training.



22

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

2020: Pledge 4 –  
Vulnerable children 
reach their full 
potential

The Wirral Plan:

We want to see Wirral’s children thrive 
and be safe in their own families and 
communities. Today, nearly 700 young 
people are living in care on Wirral.  
Over the term of this plan we aim to 
reduce that by a third. 

By focusing on prevention, more children and 
young people will avoid the need to enter 
care, and for those who are looked after, we 
will provide quality care and services to enable 
them to reach their full potential. 

Understanding what is needed:

Out of a total population of young people 
which is over 55,000, we know that currently 
we have almost 700 young people living in care 
in Wirral. This is less than 1.5%, but it is still too 
high. Supporting those young people is one of 
the most enduring responsibilities of any 
Council and we remain determined to making 
sure our most vulnerable young people are 
safe, supported and inspired to reach their full 
potential. 

We are absolutely committed to safely 
reducing this number and ensuring 
that these children and young people are 
supported to reach their full potential. 

We have a moral imperative to support these 
children, but we also have a financial one. 

The 700 children in our care have around 10 
times more public resources invested into 
their support than other children. The more 
children we can keep safe, and keep achieving, 
in their families then the more resources are 
available to be invested into other areas. 

We will support children who need to be 
looked after to feel safe and secure, and to 
ensure they are safe, healthy and achieve well 
at school, training and work and have a good 
adult life. At the heart of this approach will 
be what children and young people tell us is 
important to them and makes a difference 
to them feeling safe, secure, engaged and 
listened to and supported in an environment 
where they achieve and do well.

A new approach:

To achieve our ambition, we will work in 
partnership to enable more children to 
remain at home with their families or in 
secure environments with strong attachment 
to substitute carers, where they can thrive in 
their local communities. We will ensure that 
young people are supported to remain at 
home through a range of interventions which 
enable them and their families to live together 
and for the young person to remain in school 
and achieve good attendance and educational 
outcomes. At the same time, we will greatly 
increase the availability of foster care homes 
and people who wish to adopt so that, where 
young people cannot live safely at home, we 
have a supportive, family based setting where 
they can be placed. 

PEOPLE



23

DELIVERY PLAN - PHASE ONE THE WIRRAL PARTNERSHIP

We will also commit to ensuring that 
every child who leaves care has the 
opportunity to start work, further their 
education or enrol on an Apprenticeship. 

We will work with our partners to design 
access for children and families to a range of 
multi-agency services in a way that is joined up 
so that they tell their story once and receive 
support and services that are appropriate 
and delivered at the right time and in the right 
place.  We must design this approach so that 
it is proportionate to the need of the child and 
their family allowing them to develop the right 
skills, capacity and resilience and avoid creating 
a dependency on the service. 

We want the best outcomes for all our children 
and young people in Wirral so that they can 
realise their ambitions and their full potential.  
Children need to have the best start in life 
so that they are ready for school, work and 
adulthood. Where there is a gap in achieving 
these outcomes, which is dependent on 
where someone lives and whether they are 
vulnerable, then we must redouble our 
efforts to ensure this gap is closed.

We will review what works locally, regionally 
and nationally to support children and 
families to achieve positive outcomes. We will 
review our approach to supporting children 
and their families at the earliest opportunity 
so that fewer children need to become looked 
after and children and their families lead 
better lives.

We will target our approach for young people 
who are vulnerable and at risk yet who may not 
seek help and for those whose families may be 
struggling. 

We will secure the right level of support to enable 
these young people to remain with their families 
where it is safe to do so. We will also support 
children who become looked after to move 
through care to lead settled lives in permanent 
substitute families where they feel safe, secure 
and confident, and where they can thrive and 
meet their full potential.

How we will get there:

By the end of March 2016, we will:

• Establish a steering group to lead a review 
of current activity and identify future 
provision.  

• Complete targeted engagement activity 
with young people and their families to 
identify what is important to them.

• Agree a shared strategy that sets out 
the actions that we and our partners will 
deliver to achieve our vision for vulnerable 
children to achieve their full potential.  

• Make sure that every child leaving care 
is provided an opportunity to enrol on 
Apprenticeship, start work or continue  
into training or education. 

How we will measure if we’re getting  
it right:

• We will reduce the number of children  
in care where it is safe to do so. 

• We will increase the rate of positive 
outcomes with families through our  
Family Intervention Service.



24

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

2020: Pledge 5 –  
Reduce child and 
family poverty

The Wirral Plan:

We will continue to work with partners  
to look at opportunities to tackle 
child and family poverty in Wirral 
communities. Sadly, 22.4% of children 
in Wirral currently live in low income 
households. Our long term ambition 
is to ensure no child in Wirral lives 
in poverty and we will work with our 
partners to reduce this level over the 
five years of this plan. 

Understanding what is needed:

We continue to face real challenges in reducing 
child and family poverty, with some parts of 
Wirral’s communities having experienced 
high levels of child and family poverty for 
decades. We also know that the government’s 
programme of welfare reform and introduction 
of Universal Credit will have an impact on 
families in Wirral, and changes to the tax 
and benefit system are expected to see child 
poverty increase by around 1 million children 
nationally between now and 2020.   

In order to effectively review the impact of 
current activity and the causes of child and 
family poverty there will be a significant 
programme of insight and intelligence 
work to determine the focus and ambition  
of a future strategy.  Engagement with 
residents who are impacted by child and family 
poverty will be essential to understand the 
root causes of poverty and the action that 
needs to be taken. 

A review of best practice will also be completed 
to understand what works at a local, regional 
and national level.

We need to be clear that reducing child and 
family poverty cannot and will not be the 
sole role of our children’s services. Reducing 
poverty must be intrinsically linked to 
increasing jobs, it must be linked to improving 
health and lifestyles, and it must be linked  
to securing better housing. Our approach 
will be holistic; it will focus on support for the 
entire family and it is linked to many of our  
20 Pledges. 

A new approach:

We have a Wirral Child and Family Poverty 
Working Group which includes a range of 
partners across all agencies and sectors.  
The focus of this group is to ensure we 
are joining up activity and maximising 
our collective resources to make a real 
difference to tackling child and family poverty. 
This group will be tasked with reviewing local 
activity and evidence and to bring forward 
proposals and options for future actions 
around a number of themes:

• Birth and school readiness

• School interventions, pupil premium and 
young people who are not in education, 
employment and training.

• Health inequalities and lifestyle choices.

• Support for families into work and 
employment.

• Transport and access to services.

PEOPLE



25

DELIVERY PLAN - PHASE ONE THE WIRRAL PARTNERSHIP

Our overall ambition is to ensure that  
no child in Wirral lives in poverty.  
We are committed to seeing a major  
reduction in the current levels over the  
next five years.

We will build on the success of our School 
Hubs pilot programme, drawing together 
community assets to provide parents, pupils 
and local people with opportunities and an 
easily accessible network of support.

Giving families the tools, the encouragement 
and the opportunity to get into work, to  
get into a better house and to live healthier  
all massively contribute to reducing the  
levels of child poverty. 

We will do all we can to inspire and support 
our communities to raise their aspirations  
and achieve the very best for their children  
and families. 

How we will get there:

Before the end of March 2016, we will:

• Complete a programme of research to 
hear from local residents about their 
experiences, better understand the root 
causes of poverty and review evidence of 
activity positively impacting on child and 
family poverty.  

• Review best practice at a local, regional 
and national level to influence future 
commissioning decisions; complete 
targeted engagement activity with young 
people and their families to identify what  
is important to them.

• Agree a five year multi-agency strategy 
to tackle child poverty that sets out the 
actions that we and our partners will 
deliver to achieve our vision that no child  
in Wirral lives in poverty. 

How we will measure if we’re getting  
it right: 

• Fewer children in Wirral are living in low 
income households.

• More people are in work. 



26

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

2020: Pledge 6 –  
People with 
disabilities live 
independently

The Wirral Plan:

It is our aim to support more people 
with disabilities to increase their 
independence and access to work, 
education and volunteering. 

To do this we must listen to people with 
disabilities to fully understand their needs, how 
to best support them to be ready for work and 
enable more people to access employment 
opportunities over the next five years. 

Understanding what is needed:

We know that many disabled people and 
people with health conditions can and do work, 
and while the employment rates for disabled 
people have increased gradually over the 
years, they remain significantly lower than for 
non-disabled people.  

We will review the current offer to all people 
in Wirral who have disabilities regarding work, 
employment and training opportunities.  
We will ask this target group about their 
experiences and what is important to 
them in order that we fully understand the 
issues and develop appropriate interventions 
to respond to these issues. 

It is also important in this area that we are 
clear about just who this work is aimed at:  
we must ensure that all people who are 
disabled are supported to live independently, 
not just those people receiving support 
through social services. 

A new approach:

To achieve our ambition we will develop a five 
year plan with our partners, which will guide 
how we will support people with disabilities 
into paid employment and education, training 
and volunteering opportunities.

We will adopt a partnership approach to 
deliver the ambitions set out in our plan 
and work with partners in the public, private 
and voluntary and community sector to 
support more people with disabilities to live 
independently.  

We will work with local employers to help 
people access paid work and volunteering 
opportunities, and we will work with education 
providers and schools to support access 
to employment and to create a culture of 
independence.

We want people with disabilities in Wirral to  
be less dependent on services and to choose 
to live more independent lives. 

We want to maximise the use and availability of 
community networks to support people to be 
more independent, and ensure that they have 
access to information and advice to enable 
them to live independently.

PEOPLE



27

DELIVERY PLAN - PHASE ONE THE WIRRAL PARTNERSHIP

How we will get there:

By the end of March 2016, we will:

• Complete a programme of research and 
intelligence to hear directly from people 
with disabilities about their experiences 
and identify the actions require to support 
them to access work and volunteering 
opportunities, and live independently. 

• Agree a strategy that sets out the actions 
that we and our partners will deliver 
to achieve our vision for people with 
disabilities to live independently.  

• Fully implement our new company which 
will provide Day Services for people with 
disabilities – Wirral Evolutions. 

 
How we will measure if we’re getting  
it right: 

• More people with disabilities are in paid or 
voluntary employment.

• More adults with a disability live in their 
own home or with their family.



28

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

2020: Pledge 7 –  
Zero tolerance to 
domestic violence

The Wirral Plan

Our focus will remain on prevention  
and early intervention and we will 
continue to facilitate an integrated 
response and effective court system to 
deal with cases quickly and effectively. 

By working with our partners we want to see 
a significant reduction in repeat incidents of 
domestic violence by 2020.    

Understanding what is needed:

We want to ensure that domestic abuse 
is never tolerated or accepted, victims are 
protected and supported and able to live in 
safety in their own homes where possible.  
We will talk directly to victims and offenders  
to understand the root causes of domestic 
abuse to better identify and mitigate the 
triggers, and ensure that the voice of the  
victim is heard.   

A new approach:

We will ensure that domestic abuse is never 
tolerated or accepted, victims are protected 
and supported and able to live in safety in the 
own homes where possible.  

A completely new way of working, with full 
integration across all agencies, to tackle 
domestic abuse and harmful practices and 
adopt zero tolerance to violence against 
children and adults will be established. 

We will coordinate a range of activities with our 
partners, to reduce the incidence of domestic 
violence where children and adults are likely to 
be significantly harmed.

We will work to embed a culture where 
domestic abuse is not tolerated, working to 
increase the skills, confidence and self-esteem 
of people to help them identify relationships 
and situations which are harmful and to take 
action. We will also review our response to 
these issues; making sure that the appropriate 
action is taken to both support the victim and 
deal with the offender, either through the 
criminal process or rehabilitation. 

We will work with a range of partners to 
prioritise early intervention and prevention 
activities and to ensure that we are working 
together to deal with domestic abuse. We will 
also raise awareness amongst Wirral residents 
on the forms of domestic abuse, what they 
can do to ensure that it is not tolerated in their 
communities and what action can be taken to 
tackle it.

We will also explore opportunities to bring 
resources together collectively to tackle 
domestic abuse effectively through a single 
team.

We want the behaviour of perpetrators of 
domestic abuse to be challenged and action 
taken so that they do not repeat their abusive 
behaviour. This includes ensuring that 
incidents are reported and offenders brought 
to justice with cases dealt with quickly and 
effectively through an effective court system.

PEOPLE



29

DELIVERY PLAN - PHASE ONE THE WIRRAL PARTNERSHIP

We want to work with young people to 
increase awareness of respectful personal 
relationships and to reduce the number of 
children and young people who experience 
domestic abuse.

How we will get there:

By the end of March 2016, we will:

• Complete a programme of research and 
intelligence to hear directly from victims 
and offenders on the root causes of 
domestic abuse.

• Develop proposals for fully integrating 
resources to tackle domestic abuse 
though a single team. We will also develop 
a programme for offenders to prevent 
repeat incidents.

• Begin to commission local groups to 
develop awareness of domestic abuse 
by organising events and campaigns and 
working with schools to further develop the 
curriculum as a preventative response. 

How we will measure if we’re getting  
it right:

• A reduction in levels of repeat domestic 
abuse.



30

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

BUSINESS

Increase
inward 

investment

Workforce 
skills match

business needs

Technology
and Infrastructure

Greater job 
opportunities 

in Wirral
Create 
5,000

new jobs

Thriving small
businesses

Vibrant tourism
economy

£450
million 

Assets and
buildings are

fit for purpose



31

DELIVERY PLAN - PHASE ONE THE WIRRAL PARTNERSHIP

BUSINESS

Wirral is a place where employers want to invest  
and businesses thrive. 

We will seize and capitalise on the 
unprecedented opportunities before 
us, and work hard to create new ones 
to transform Wirral’s economy for this 
generation and the next. We will focus on 
Wirral’s priority growth sectors to promote 
and grow jobs in the visitor economy, 
offshore wind, advanced manufacturing, 
maritime and renewable energy sectors. 
We will work with our partners to deliver 
these ambitions for Wirral and ensure 
that our plans are both economically and 
environmentally sustainable.   

Our future direction

We do not, and should not pretend, that 
we have a monopoly on good ideas and 
skills. Nor should we pretend that we are 
the best people to deliver in every area. 
Business knows how to lead business. 

• Our role is to support, to enable, 
business to grow in Wirral. 

• Our role is to drive inward investment, 
and sell Wirral to the World. 

• Our role is to put the infrastructure 
in place to make Wirral the perfect 
location for businesses looking to start 
up, relocate or expand. 

• Our role is to make sure economic 
growth is felt by our residents. We 
must make sure our residents have 
the skills that business needs, and 
that business look to them when they 
succeed and expand. 

Comparatively, we do not invest a great 
deal of resources into driving economic 
growth, despite the huge dividends a 
strong economy brings to the borough; 
such as more jobs, reduced poverty, better 
health and reductions in inequalities. 
We must review this, and make the best 
of our current investment by delivering 
further integration with the Chamber of 
Commerce. 

We will work with our partners to develop 
one, joint, Growth Plan for Wirral: this 
Growth Plan will combine our resources 
aimed at supporting small business, 
attracting investment and improving the 
skills of our residents. 

We will also look regionally, and make 
sure that the Devolution negotiations 
and any potential deal are right for Wirral 
business and people, and that economic 
growth throughout the North of England 
and within the City Region is felt by Wirral 
residents and businesses alike. 



32

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

2020: Pledge 8 –  
Greater job 
opportunities  
in Wirral

The Wirral Plan

We will provide an increase in  
the number and range of jobs in  
Wirral so all our residents can find  
employment opportunities. To make 
progress towards this goal we will  
see the creation and safeguarding  
of 5,000 jobs by 2020.  

We will also seek to increase the number of 
employers who pay the living wage and will 
work with partners and others to reduce 
unemployment and improve access to skills. 
We will encourage more young people into 
work who are currently not in employment, 
education or training. 

Understanding what is needed:

Wirral’s economy is worth around £3.9 billion; 
this is its highest ever value and it makes  
up around 15% of the Merseyside total.  
The total number of jobs in the borough 
currently stands at 113,000, which is our 
highest figure for 8 years. 

Our average weekly wage is over £485 per 
week for people working here and £498 for 
people living here. These figures are above the 
North West average for the first time ever. 

We will continue to develop our deep 
understanding of the local economy; ensuring 
that we know what skills business need and 
that our residents are equipped to meet them. 

Our economy continues to grow, with a 
faster reduction in JSA claimants than 
anywhere in the City Region and the 
highest concentration of fast growing 
businesses in the UK. However, we know  
we must do more if we are to meet our  
Pledge to Wirral people. In particular,  
we will ensure that those residents  
furthest away from employment, including 
those with health conditions and / or 
disabilities have the right support and 
opportunities to access employment. 

The developing negotiations regarding 
Devolution will be core to ensuring we are best 
placed to break through the economic glass 
ceiling we are currently faced with. We have 
unprecedented opportunities to build growth 
in target sectors such as renewable energies 
and automotive manufacture – sectors where 
Wirral has unmatched potential. 

We will make sure that by understanding what 
residents want, and what businesses need, 
we are able to create and safeguard 5,000 
jobs through our focussed, sector-specific, 
intelligence led-growth plans. 

BUSINESS



33

DELIVERY PLAN - PHASE ONE THE WIRRAL PARTNERSHIP

A new approach:

It is essential for continuing economic 
development that we work with partners 
locally, regionally, nationally and internationally 
to promote investment in Wirral and increase 
employment opportunities. 

We will redevelop our Growth Plan and our 
Investment Strategy to ensure the best 
possible return for the resources available 
through an effective partnership strategic 
approach. Our approach will create an 
overarching strategy for growth across  
the Borough. 

It will also allow the Council to take a clear 
leadership role by working with partners and 
to take a City Region lead on key themes, 
particularly in working with and influencing 
Government. Through this partnership 
approach, it will ensure that key sectors and 
spatial plans that are currently prioritised are 
the right ones to achieve a significant step 
change in the economy to create greater job 
opportunities.

The Council will work to optimise key 
regeneration programmes such as Wirral 
Waters, Birkenhead Town Centre and the 
International Golf Resort so that they  
maximise economic growth for the borough 
and its residents.

We will also continue to work directly with 
unemployed residents who have a health 
condition to successfully move them into 
employment as part of our nationally 
recognised transformational project to  
address health related worklessness in Wirral. 

How we will get there:

By the end of March 2016, we will:

• Complete a review of the current provision 
and existing investment strategy.

• Identify enhanced models of working  
and delivery to develop the new approach. 

• Agree a new five year Wirral Growth  
Plan which will include a refreshed 
Investment Strategy which will articulate  
an overarching approach for growth  
across the borough.   

How we will measure if we’re getting  
it right:

• The creation and safeguarding of 5,000 
jobs by 2020.

• Increase economic productivity in Wirral.

• More people are in work.



34

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

2020: Pledge 9 –  
Workforce skills 
match business 
needs

The Wirral Plan:

To meet the needs of local businesses 
and attract those interested in 
investing in Wirral we must develop an 
appropriately skilled workforce that 
meets the needs of business for the 
future.   

We will work with our partners in education 
and training to closely align the provision of 
training offered with the skills businesses will 
need to develop the borough. We will measure 
and close this skills gap by 2020.

Understanding what is needed:

Ensuring that employers can access the 
right workforce skills is a key priority for 
the Liverpool City Region. It is essential that 
employers have access to a suitably qualified 
workforce but that they also have access 
to training for staff that requires it. A key 
challenge for Wirral is to ensure that workforce 
skills match business needs, particularly as we 
look to meet challenging inward investment 
targets and realise significant potential to 
grow and attract major businesses in key 
sectors.

We want to develop a much better 
understanding of skills within the Wirral 
economy. 

This understanding will provide key 
information on employer demand for labour, 
skill deficiencies, levels of investment in 
training and workforce development. Analysis 
of our findings alongside nationally available 
data will allow the development of insight into 
determining demand for key strategic projects 
such as the Offshore Survival Training Centre, 
as well as better understanding the capacity  
of the workforce to meet the needs  
of the Borough’s key growth sectors.

A new approach:

Excellent partnership arrangements are 
already in place through networks such as 
the Wirral Chamber of Commerce. We will 
build on these arrangements and work with 
key strategic partners such as local colleges, 
training providers and the Liverpool City 
Region Employment and Skills Board. Strong 
links will be developed with schools to ensure 
that our young people are informed of the 
local growth opportunities and of the skills 
required to access these opportunities.   
This will include active support for initiatives 
such as the Young Chamber.

Through the Devolution negotiations, we 
will work to redesign the local and regional 
skills system and transform the delivery 
infrastructure to be more responsive to local 
employer and economic growth priorities, to 
enable greater specialisation and support a 
more highly skilled and appropriately qualified 
workforce. 

BUSINESS



35

DELIVERY PLAN - PHASE ONE THE WIRRAL PARTNERSHIP

Businesses need to be in the driving  
seat – determining the skills they need to 
boost productivity now and in the future.  
We must be an enabler, ensuring their 
messages get through and our schools, 
colleges, learning providers and universities 
respond. 

The most important aspect of upskilling our 
communities is of course our communities 
themselves; we must work with residents 
to increase their aspirations and to make 
sure that they understand the career routes 
available to them, and how to achieve them. 

How we will get there:

By the end of March 2016, we will:

• Deliver a skills survey; designed and carried 
out in partnership with the Chamber of 
Commerce and other business partners.

• Complete analysis of our primary insight, 
combined with other intelligence and use  
it to develop the approach of the workforce 
skills delivery plan.

• Agree a new five year Wirral Growth  
Plan which will include a workforce skills 
delivery plan.

How we will measure if we’re getting  
it right:

• More Wirral residents will have the skills  
that employers require.



36

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

2020: Pledge 10 –  
Increase inward 
investment

The Wirral Plan:

To continue to grow our economy we 
have to identify local, national and 
international opportunities to bring  
more investment into Wirral.    

We will increase the borough’s gross  
value added at a faster rate than the  
regional average and commit to securing  
£250 million of private sector investment  
into Wirral by 2020.

Understanding what is needed:

In order to continue to grow our economy, 
Wirral has to identify local, national and 
international opportunities to bring more 
investment into the Borough. In a competitive 
market for inward investment, we need to 
develop a distinctive offer and a sustained 
plan of investment promotion activities.  

Wirral has the ambition and opportunity to 
become a world class location for investment, 
competing globally for investment in a number 
of key sectors.

A new approach:

Attracting new companies, jobs and investment 
cannot be delivered by any one organisation 
in isolation; therefore a real partnership 
approach between the public and private 
sectors is required. 

Much has been done to ensure this approach 
but the time is right to put a more effective 
plan in place to deliver a coordinated and 
collaborative approach across the City 
Region and most importantly to identify 
how businesses themselves can support the 
activity through working with the Chamber 
of Commerce and other key businesses and 
sector bodies.

Inward investment plays a crucial role in the 
local economy, not only by creating new jobs, 
but in supporting the wider economic growth 
through a focused approach to supply-chain 
development to provide a major boost to 
existing local companies. 

There are significant benefits to be had 
through the attraction of new high-technology 
inward investors in the dynamic growth  
sectors such as advanced manufacturing  
and engineering.

BUSINESS



37

DELIVERY PLAN - PHASE ONE THE WIRRAL PARTNERSHIP

How we will get there:

By the end of March 2016, we will:

• Develop a focussed inward investment 
delivery plan, aligned with an international 
strategy for Wirral Chamber of Commerce.

• Carry out detailed consultation with the 
Investment Strategy Board, comprising 
CEOs from major employers, to ensure full 
partner engagement to the approach.

• Agree a new five year Wirral Growth 
Plan which will include the new inward 
investment delivery plan.

How we will measure if we’re getting  
it right: 

• We will secure £250 million of private 
sector investment.

• We will secure growth within our key 
supply chains.



38

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

2020: Pledge 11 –  
Thriving small 
businesses

The Wirral Plan:

Our economy is also supported by 
entrepreneurs and small businesses. 
We will work with our partners and 
other community groups to deliver net 
additional 250 new businesses in Wirral 
over the coming 5 years.     

We will make it easier for our small businesses 
to grow and will work to improve local high 
streets and our town centre economy.

Understanding what is needed:

To continue to develop economic growth 
is a key priority. We have a desire to create 
the best possible environment for business 
growth, and to be as business friendly as 
possible. Our aim is to realise Wirral’s vast 
economic potential by further strengthening 
our competitiveness, encouraging 
entrepreneurship, expanding our business 
base and unlocking private sector growth. 

A new approach:

We will work to ensure that the business 
support framework in Wirral continues 
to offer Wirral companies the best level 
of support and to ensure the approach 
maximises public investment and operates 
far more commercially, relieving the financial 
pressures on the public sector. A key 
partner in enhancing the framework is the 
Wirral Chamber of Commerce and Industry. 
After successfully merging a number of 
organisations in 2013, the Chamber of 
Commerce has grown to achieve British 
Chamber of Commerce accreditation in 2014 
and emerging as the country’s fastest 
growing Chamber.

Working with local businesses we will refresh 
the Business Support Framework in Wirral, 
reviewing the Councils collaboration with the 
Chamber and enhancing current and future 
delivery models to maximise resources and 
continue to give businesses in Wirral the 
best possible levels of support. Working with 
the Local Enterprise Partnership and other 
Liverpool City Region partners, the framework 
will respond to the business needs of small, 
medium and large enterprises and will form 
one of the delivery plans of the Wirral Growth 
Strategy.

BUSINESS



39

DELIVERY PLAN - PHASE ONE THE WIRRAL PARTNERSHIP

We will empower local business to drive 
our new approach, capitalising on initiatives 
such as the Business Improvement District 
in Birkenhead and providing support to the 
Wirral Chamber of Commerce to enable the 
success of ventures such as the business hub 
at the Pacific Road site. 

How we will get there:

By the end of March 2016, we will:

• Review the collaboration agreement 
between the Chamber and the Council, 
review best practice and consult with key 
businesses to shape the new approach.

• Ensure a five year partnership business 
support framework is agreed and 
implemented.

How we will measure if we’re getting  
it right:

• We will deliver net additional 250 new 
businesses in Wirral over the next 5 years. 



40

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

2020: Pledge 12 –  
Vibrant tourism 
economy

The Wirral Plan:

We are proud of our home and will  
work to promote and grow the 
borough’s tourism offer; making Wirral  
a place even more people enjoy visiting.  

We will review and make best use of our 
heritage, leisure and cultural assets to drive 
tourism, the associated creation of jobs and 
increase revenue for Wirral’s visitor economy 
to £450 million by 2020.

Understanding what is needed:

Wirral has the fastest growing tourism 
economy in the Liverpool City region. We have 
a tourism sector valued at over £355 million in 
2014, employing 4,800 full time equivalent jobs 
and attracting 7.5 million visitors. Since 2009 
the sector has grown by over 40% adding 
an additional £103 million to Wirral’s local 
economy and providing a 20% increase in jobs 
within the sector and a 14% increase in visitors 
to the borough. 

We will further build on this success through 
delivering a detailed visitor and stakeholder 
insight programme to inform a reinvigorated 
Tourism Strategy. 

A new approach:

We want to continue to develop and improve 
our tourism offer in order to increase jobs 
and revenue in this key area. Working with key 
partners we will ensure the insight we gather 
informs a new Wirral Tourism Strategy. The 
new strategy will explore and develop Wirral’s 
tourism attractions offer through delivery of an 
annual tourism implementation plan. 

We will capitalise on the unique characteristics 
of Wirral: our scenery, our heritage and our 
visitor attractions, to bring about a partnership 
approach to delivering tourism activity that 
will increase the value of Wirral’s tourism 
economy by at least 5% each year. 

How we will get there:

By the end of March 2016, we will:

• Complete 2015-16 Tourism 
Implementation Plan.

• Be in a position to commission a Wirral 
Visitor Research Study.

How we will measure if we’re getting  
it right:

• We will increase visitor numbers in  
Wirral to 9.1 M by 2020.

• By 2020 we will increase Wirral’s  
visitor spend to £450 million.

BUSINESS



41

DELIVERY PLAN - PHASE ONE THE WIRRAL PARTNERSHIP

2020: Pledge 13 –  
Transport and 
technology 
infrastructure fit  
for the future

The Wirral Plan:

Ensure that Wirral has safe, affordable, 
well maintained and efficient transport 
networks for residents to access 
community and services, enjoy our 
leisure facilities and commute to work.    

In a digital economy we will also complete 
the deployment of a high speed broadband 
network for more residents and businesses in 
Wirral with 98% having access by 2017.

Understanding what is needed:

The way people live their lives is now almost 
unrecognisable from how it was only 20 years 
ago. Technology has transformed the 
world; how people connect with each other, 
communicate and work has fundamentally 
changed, as have employment patterns, family 
structures and leisure opportunities. 

People rightly demand that public services 
become more flexible, and fit in more closely 
with how they live their lives. We must 
make sure that we become more agile, and 
able to deliver in a modern, technology-led 
environment. 

We must make sure we have the infrastructure 
in place to support this, in terms of 
technological capabilities and also transport 
networks, to make Wirral competitive for 
business and able to deliver for residents. 

A new approach:

We will also be working to get the best deal 
possible for Wirral in relation to Transport 
infrastructure as part of the Devolution 
negotiations with Government. We will 
continue to invest in our highways, keeping 
Wirral moving and making sure our road 
network is safe and well maintained; always 
remembering our duty to residents in regard 
to road safety. 

Internally, we will be making sure the 
organisation is able to operate in a digital 
world, and that our systems and equipment 
are modern and fit for purpose to enable agile, 
efficient working. 

How we will get there:

By the end of March 2016, we will:

• Develop a three year technology 
strategy in partnership with public sector 
organisations in Wirral which responds to 
the needs of our residents.

• Progress the proposals outlined within 
the City Region devolution asks regarding 
transport infrastructure and networks.

• Develop a new Road Safety Strategy,  
based on detailed insight.



42

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

• Carry out the procurement process for 
the replacement of the two Dock Bridges; 
a major infrastucture improvement 
commitment.

• Take part in the National Highways and 
Transport Public Satisfaction Survey to get 
national benchmarks and feedback on our 
highway network.

How we will measure if we’re getting  
it right: 

• We will deliver high speed broadband 
network across Wirral with 98% access  
by 2017.

• The condition of our roads will be 
measured, as will the reduction in 
casualties and injuries on our roads.  
We will also measure customer satisfaction 
and ensure we act on the feedback we 
receive.

BUSINESS



43

DELIVERY PLAN - PHASE ONE THE WIRRAL PARTNERSHIP

2020: Pledge 14 –  
Assets and Buildings 
are fit for purpose 
for Wirral’s 
businesses

The Wirral Plan:

Wirral businesses are looking for new 
and refurbished commercial space to 
grow and expand into. We must ensure 
the best use of our real estate assets  
by linking them to business and 
community aspirations. 

We need to make Wirral a business-friendly 
borough and one way to achieve this is to 
make our planning processes simpler to 
encourage growth over the next five years. 

Understanding what is needed:

We currently have a range of commercial 
space in Wirral which varies greatly in quality.  
These buildings include modern, fit for 
purpose facilities which have good transport 
and technology links. However, we also 
know that there are some sites that require 
development to meet the needs of local 
businesses.

We now have the opportunity to look to 
optimise the use of our real estate assets  
for all types of commercial activity. In order  
to do this we need to better understand what 
type of buildings businesses need in order  
to maximise the use of our assets.  

A new approach:

We have the opportunity to look to optimise 
the use of our real estate assets for all  
types of commercial activity. 

We need to better understand what type 
of buildings businesses need in order to 
maximise the use of our assets. 

We will review existing Council owned 
commercial property and look for 
opportunities to release council owned 
premises and land for commercial 
development.

There are clear opportunities to work with 
partners, public and private, to ‘join up’ asset 
reviews and disposals to create enhanced 
opportunities for business and commercial 
development. 

We will also look to generate additional capital 
resources in order to facilitate capital new-
build schemes in a difficult market.

How we will get there:

By the end of March 2016, we will:

• Complete a business survey regarding 
asset requirements, to develop the 
approach to remodelling available assets. 

• Review council owned commercial assets 
currently leased/rented and evaluate 
options for retention, disposal and 
management.

• Identify council owned sites which could 
be released for commercial/business 
development alongside sites being 
released for house building.

• Review joint opportunities for commercial 
development of existing sites with our 
partners. 

How we will measure if we’re getting  
it right: 

• Contribute to the provision of new and 
refurbished commercial space.



44

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

ENVIRONMENT

Leisure and cultural
opportunities for all

Wirral
residents live
healthier lives

Wirral’s
neighbourhoods

are safe

Community
Services are joined
up and accessible

Attractive local
environment

Good quality
housing

7,000
new and 

improved 
homes



45

DELIVERY PLAN - PHASE ONE THE WIRRAL PARTNERSHIP

Wirral has an attractive and sustainable environment, 
where good health and an excellent quality of life is 
enjoyed by everyone who lives here. 

Working to reduce the unacceptable levels 
of inequality, particularly in relation to 
health has been and remains of paramount 
importance to this Council. We want all of 
our residents to have a good quality of life 
and live healthy lifestyles in clean and safe 
environments.

Our future direction

Our focus for the future has to be on 
integration, and on building capacity, 
skills and confidence throughout our 
communities to unlock their potential 
and increase their pride in their local 
environments. 

• Wirral has a fantastic leisure offer  
for residents and visitors. Too often  
we consider ‘leisure’ as being limited  
to the leisure centres we operate.  
To the vast majority of residents, leisure 
is walking on the beach, enjoying the 
park or spending time with friends. We 
must understand that, and understand 
what people actually want, to inform 
how and where we invest in leisure. 

• Our communities are active, 
vibrant and keen to do more, take 
more ownership and improve their 
environments. We must empower 
them, and support them to harness the 
pride they feel for their communities 
into real action. 

• We must take new approaches to 
changing behaviour. Our leadership 
of the public health agenda provides a 
real opportunity to use our resources 
to address health issues which have for 
generations created huge disparities in 
health and life expectancy. 

We have too many buildings, and we will 
work collaboratively with all of our partners 
to make efficient, intelligent use of the 
network of public assets – freeing up land 
and buildings for development as we 
move toward co-located services. We also 
recognise that we have not built enough 
new homes, or done enough to improve 
the existing housing which is available. 

Meeting our pledge of 7,000 new and 
improved homes is worth at least  
£7 million in new homes bonus, with  
an increased tax base on top of that.  
This is new resources to invest into making 
this borough a better place to live, which is 
the ultimate goals for us all.  

ENVIRONMENT



46

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

2020: Pledge 15 –  
Leisure and cultural 
opportunities for all

The Wirral Plan:

We will encourage more people to enjoy 
the wide range of leisure, culture and 
sporting opportunities on offer across 
Wirral. We will listen to residents’ ideas 
and requests, and by 2020, will have 
increased access to events and activities 
to all our residents, regardless of age or 
income.  

We will review the borough’s leisure and cultural 
offer to make it fit for the future, and optimise 
the use of public spaces, parks and gardens 
across Wirral as community assets.  

Understanding what is needed:

Residents in Wirral already have excellent leisure 
opportunities. Wirral is a stunning borough, 
with natural scenery and assets which are 
the envy of the entire country. Many of 
the opportunities people have to enjoy leisure 
activities have no relationship or involvement 
from the Council, or any public service. 

From the outset this project will ensure that we 
have a deep, meaningful understanding of what 
local people actually want in relation to leisure, 
culture and sporting opportunities. This insight 
will be developed through our 2015 resident’s 
survey and from detailed engagement and 
conversations with local people. 

This intelligence will help us as we work to 
increase the use of and access to opportunities 
for leisure, culture and sporting activities, looking 
at the offer across the whole borough, regardless 
of provider. 

This project will drive tangible health benefits for 
our residents, as we encourage them to take part 
in more physical activity and exercise. 

A new approach:

Another key aspect of this programme will be 
increasing the capacity and involvement of the 
already vibrant communities supporting activities, 
events and facilities across the borough; we 
will support them by creating and developing 
volunteering opportunities and building on our 
community assets and infrastructure. 

A new leisure and culture strategy will be 
developed, which will look beyond traditional 
Council boundaries and put in place the 
processes to enable Wirral residents to be aware 
of and access the vibrant and varied leisure and 
cultural offer available to them. 

How we will get there:

Before the end of March 2016, we will:

• Have gathered our insight related to our 
residents’ needs, wants and aspirations for 
leisure and culture. 

• Complete the initial phase of our targeted, 
detailed engagement and conversations with 
residents and begun to develop our strategy.

• Developed a leisure strategy to shape the 
future offer in the borough, and developed 
a culture strategy in partnership with the 
wider Liverpool City Region. 

How we will measure if we’re getting it right: 

• More people will state Wirral is a good 
place to live. 

ENVIRONMENT



47

DELIVERY PLAN - PHASE ONE THE WIRRAL PARTNERSHIP

2020: Pledge 16 –  
Wirral residents live 
healthier lives

The Wirral Plan:

We remain committed to addressing health 
inequalities in Wirral through encouraging 
residents to lead healthier lifestyles, and 
promoting physical activity and healthy eating.   

We will also continue to reduce the prevalence 
of smoking amongst our residents and reduce 
levels of alcohol related ill-health and anti-social 
behaviour through reducing availability of ‘super 
strength’ alcohol. We want to see 30% of Wirral’s 
off-sales retailers sign up to the council-supported 
“reducing the strength” campaign.

Understanding what is needed:

This work will be underpinned by robust, genuine 
and appropriate insight and intelligence. We have 
already commissioned a market research 
specialist to improve our understanding and give 
us a fresh perspective on some of the challenges 
related to changing behaviour, improving health 
and making sure we optimise the impact of our 
responsibility for the public health agenda to have  
a real, tangible benefit in the quality of life enjoyed 
by our residents. 

A new approach:

To support the delivery of this pledge, we will 
refresh three existing strategies to ensure they are 
fit for purpose and achieve the right outcomes for 
Wirral residents. 

These strategies include the Alcohol Strategy, a 
Tobacco Control Strategy and a new approach 
to healthy eating and physical activity – which will 
link closely to our work on ensuring leisure and 
cultural opportunities for all. Our strategy will 
include a deeper understanding of;

• The impact on behaviours and health related 
to where a resident lives, and the welfare 
system. 

• The main motivations which drive people to 
change behaviour and live healthier, to enable 
use to those motivations to inspire positive 
change and community engagement. 

• Provide supported volunteering opportunities 
for those participants trained and engaged in 
this community research 

We also know that businesses make an important 
contribution to vibrant and healthy high streets; 
however there are some business practices which 
may negatively impact on the public’s health. We will 
work with businesses to better improve the health of 
their community and review the necessary changes 
that need to take place to encourage healthier 
choices and lifestyles amongst our residents.  
We will build on the successes we have already had 
in projects and campaigns such as Takeaway for a 
Change and Reducing the Strength. 

We will further progress our programmes of 
integration with the NHS, and work particularly 
closely with our Health partners on ensuring the 
‘Vanguard’ programme is a success; which will bring 
health services closer to communities and work to 
change the culture of health services in general to 
focus on prevention, early intervention and self-help. 

How we will get there:

Before the end of March 2016, we will:

• Complete our detailed programme of  
insight into the motivations and triggers  
on behaviour and lifestyle. 

• Use that insight to redevelop our shared 
approaches to improving smoking, alcohol, 
drugs, healthy eating and physical activity. 

How we will measure if we’re getting  
it right: 

• Increased healthy life expectancy.



48

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

2020: Pledge 17 –  
Community services 
are joined up and 
accessible

 
The Wirral Plan:

We are already integrating public sector 
and community services to make sure  
they are fully joined up.   

We will integrate more services with our partners, 
and work with voluntary and community groups to 
transfer local assets for them to manage directly, 
providing the services residents need.

Understanding what is needed:

This project is vital; it is our duty to ensure we 
can enable and empower our already thriving 
communities to realise their full potential and 
unlock the skills and expertise within to deliver 
more for themselves, their neighbours and their 
communities. 

We will conduct a full review into how and where 
public services are located and integrated and find 
opportunities for the borough; both in terms of 
integrating services but also co-locating services 
with partners such as NHS, Police and Fire. 

A new approach:

We will focus on the use of Council land, resources, 
staff, funding and premises – all of which will 
be reviewed in the light of our community 
leadership role and we will build upon the work 
already done to link services together structurally, 
physically and financially, to better meet the needs 
of residents. 

This programme is dependent on new, more 
integrated, levels of relationships and reaching 
a common understanding among all service 
providers supporting Wirral residents; in the public, 
private and third sectors. 

How we will get there:

Before the end of March 2016, we will:

• Map where services are already integrated with 
partners and identify opportunities for further 
integration and redesign. 

• Develop a decision making process to support 
rapid asset transfers; making sure our 
default position moves towards community 
involvement, management and ownership of 
assets and services. 

• Ensure early implementation of integration 
with other agencies.

How we will measure if we’re getting  
it right: 

• Increased integration of services with partners 
involving pooled budgets and co-location. 

ENVIRONMENT



49

DELIVERY PLAN - PHASE ONE THE WIRRAL PARTNERSHIP

2020: Pledge 18 –  
Good quality 
housing that 
meets the needs 
of residents

The Wirral Plan:

A safe and secure home is vital to all 
Wirral residents. We are working to 
improve the quality and supply of 
Wirral’s housing stock, providing more 
affordable homes and specialist housing 
solutions, including extra care homes 
and supported living accommodation.     

We will build and improve 7,000 houses over 
the lifetime of this five year plan. Our plans 
include building 3,500 new homes, improving 
2,250 private sector properties and bringing 
1,250 empty homes back into use by 2020.  
We will also continue to tackle the challenges 
and causes of homelessness in Wirral.

Understanding what is needed:

Everything we do will be rooted in strong 
evidence and insight; we will make sure we 
fundamentally understand the current 
housing situation in the borough and our 
resident’s aspirations and requirements for the 
future. We will use this insight to develop our 
strategies and delivery plans and continuously 
refresh our data and insight work to take 
account of changing needs. 

We are already aware that we have a shortage 
of land and that we require new solutions 
for ensuring housing options which are 
appropriate for our growing population. 

A new approach:

Achieving this outcome is worth at least  
£7 million to Wirral. This is money which will 
be invested into making further improvements 
to the borough; its economy, its environment 
and its people. There is a direct link to our 
ongoing Devolution negotiations, with the 
potential for a City Region wide spatial plan. 
We must make sure we understand the 
implications of this and maximise its benefits 
for Wirral. 

This project will consist of two key priority 
areas; improving the housing offer in Wirral 
and helping people find an appropriate home.

This project will see a range of programmes  
of work completed and services provided 
that will collectively contribute to meeting 
the housing and housing support needs of 
residents. In turn this will have a positive 
impact on resident’s health and quality  
of life and will contribute towards achieving  
an attractive and sustainable environment for 
all who live here.  

We will promote the best possible home 
environment for our residents and ensure 
that everyone living in the borough has a safe, 
warm, affordable and sustainable home that 
meets their needs. We will work in partnership 
to ensure that there is a joined up approach 
to housing and health and social care services, 
and we will review the provision of housing for 
vulnerable people. 



50

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

We will also continue to tackle the challenges 
and causes of homelessness in Wirral. 
The overarching Housing Strategy for the 
Borough is supported by a number of other 
key statutory and supporting strategies and 
assessments, the review of these ensure we 
are responsive to the needs of communities 
especially those most vulnerable. 

Other key data will be used to support 
decisions and target resources effectively  
to those who most need it.

How we will get there:

By the end of March 2016, we will:

• Seek and secure national investment  
on an ongoing basis to support the work  
to improve the housing offer. 

• Achieve our annual target of 250  
empty homes, 450 private rented  
sector improvements and 200 affordable  
housing units.

• Ensure all licensed rented accommodation 
is brought up to the appropriate standards. 

How we will measure if we’re getting  
it right: 

• Increase and improve the housing offer  
for Wirral residents.

ENVIRONMENT



51

DELIVERY PLAN - PHASE ONE THE WIRRAL PARTNERSHIP

2020: Pledge 19 –  
Wirral’s 
neighbourhoods 
are safe

The Wirral Plan:

Unfortunately, the actions of a small 
minority can have a negative impact 
on the majority of residents. We 
are increasing our efforts to quickly 
and effectively deal with anti-social 
behaviour, including street drinking  
and neighbourhood noise issues. 

Over the next five years we will place a greater 
emphasis on activities which will positively 
engage young people and communities to 
prevent anti-social behaviour. We will also look 
at improving potential licensing and planning 
enforcement powers. 

Understanding what is needed:

Over the past six years, crime in Wirral has 
fallen significantly. However there is still more 
that can be done to address the perception of 
crime across our neighbourhoods; making sure 
our residents feel safe and are safe remains a 
key priority. Our Resident’s Survey for 2015 will 
begin to provide the level of insight we need to 
understand people’s perception of crime and 
safety and, combined with multi-agency data 
and experiences will enable us to implement 
a complete partnership approach to keeping 
Wirral people safe. 

A new approach:

The key to ensuring that Wirral’s 
neighbourhoods are safe is to deliver a new 
Community Safety Strategy. Our new strategy 
will be developed – and led – by our partners, 
ensuring we make immediate progress in 
delivering a true combined response to 
issues of crime, anti-social behaviour and 
community safety. This new strategy will be 
community and victim focussed, ensuring 
that all the residents and businesses of 
Wirral are listened to and informed of action 
which is taken in response to their crime. Our 
resources will be targeted at those places 
where they are most needed. 

The project will also review existing multi-
agency working arrangements and establish 
whether some elements of this working 
theme can be more efficiently delivered on 
a City Region basis, using the Multi-Agency 
Safeguarding Hubs (MASH) on a ‘Hub and 
spoke’ type model.

The perception of safety is almost as 
important in this area as actual safety. Where 
people do not feel safe, we must find ways of 
providing reassurance and support. 

Our vision is that by 2020, crime rates in Wirral 
will be markedly below the national average, 
and that residents and businesses, both in the 
Borough and beyond, will believe Wirral to be a 
safe place in which to live, work and visit.



52

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

How we will get there:

By the end of March 2016, we will:

• Use the insight gathered from the 2015 
residents survey to shape a community 
safety strategy, to be implemented from 
April 2016.

• Tackle and reduce levels of ASB in our 
communities; ensuring a multi-agency 
response, ensuring people feel safer in 
their homes and communities, and deliver 
additional support to the most vulnerable. 

How we will measure if we’re getting  
it right: 

• Wirral residents feel safe in their local area.

• Crime levels have reduced.

ENVIRONMENT



53

DELIVERY PLAN - PHASE ONE THE WIRRAL PARTNERSHIP

2020: Pledge 20 –  
Attractive local 
environment for 
Wirral residents

The Wirral Plan:

We want to encourage residents’  
pride in their local communities, and 
increase personal responsibility to  
keep Wirral ‘clean and green’.    

We will listen to local residents and act on  
their suggestions to ensure more residents  
see their quality of life improve over the five 
years of this plan by supporting communities 
to deal with local environment issues such as 
litter, fly tipping and dog fouling.  

Understanding what is needed:

Wirral is an area of outstanding natural beauty. 
We have world-class parks, stunning scenery, 
and an environment which people travel 
from hundreds of miles to visit. We also have 
a vibrant and passionate community; keen 
to do more and take more ownership of the 
environmental assets in their local areas. 

We will hold an ongoing conversation with these 
communities; developing our understanding of 
what they need and want from their local areas 
and exploring opportunities where we can 
share ownership, delivery and management of 
community assets. 

A new approach:

This project will deliver on its outcome through 
working to two strategic themes; working with 
local communities to create an attractive and 
sustainable environment and taking a lead 
role in supporting residents and businesses to 
reduce waste and promote recycling. 

We will do more to increase pride in the local 
environment and to inspire and enable more 
community involvement in their local areas. 
We will drive recycling, driven by many factors 
including the significant savings that will be 
achieve through reducing landfill charges. 

Through the work of this project, by 2020 
Wirral’s environment will be upheld as 
outstanding with the requirements of each 
location identified and addressed. Local people 
and businesses will be empowered to lead 
on the management of their neighbourhood, 
with the Council’s support, and residents will 
understand their contribution and personal 
responsibility for protecting the environment.    

By 2020 Wirral will be achieving over 50% 
recycling of municipal waste and less than 10% 
of non-recycled waste collected will be landfilled. 
Residents will understand the importance of 
waste minimisation and be fully participating in 
the recycling of waste generated.   

How we will get there:

By the end of March 2016, we will:

• Develop a new approach to encouraging 
behaviour change through community and 
enforcement action. 

• Reinvigorate our approach to empowering 
communities; giving more freedom and 
powers to friends groups and other 
community organisations. 

• Determine new and improved 
arrangements for domestic refuse 
collection to improve Wirral’s recycling.

How we will measure if we’re getting  
it right: 

• Fewer Wirral residents consider litter  
and dog fouling to be a problem in  
their local area.

• Increased recycling and reduced landfill 
of waste in Wirral.



54

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

The commitment laid out in the Wirral Plan is to work collectively 
with our partners – towards full integration of services – and 
residents to make a clear and substantial difference in improving 
the lives of the people of Wirral. 

We have set out what we plan to do; we now 
need to ensure we have the right approach  
in place to make sure we are delivering our 
plans, check our progress regularly and to  
take action when we are not doing well.

In this Delivery Plan we have set out the  
high level outcomes we want to achieve  
for each priority area. We are developing  
a new outcome framework in collaboration 
with partners to develop associated measures 
and targets that we can monitor over the five 
years of our plan. 

We are accountable to Wirral residents 
and we will regularly report on our progress 
towards the delivery of the Wirral Plan to allow 
our performance to be effectively scrutinised 
and decision-makers held to account.

GETTING THERE: OUR PERFORMANCE ARRANGEMENTS



55

DELIVERY PLAN - PHASE ONE THE WIRRAL PARTNERSHIP

Wirral is already a great place to live, work and invest. There is 
much about this borough that we can be rightly proud of; in terms 
of our history, our future and our here and now. It is our duty as 
public servants to be ambitious in the targets we set for ourselves, 
and relentless in our determination to achieve them. 

What is most important however is to make sure the outcomes 
we work to achieve are the right ones to deliver real change and 
improvement in the quality of life enjoyed by Wirral residents. 

This Plan is a key component of a new 
approach in Wirral: a 5 year strategy; jointly 
agreed and adopted by all partners, which  
can and will make a huge impact. This Delivery 
Plan is the next stage in this approach; 
however, it is not the final stage.

We have much more work to do. A second, 
more detailed version of this Delivery 
Plan is already in production. We will use 
the time between now and February - when 
this new version will be published - to further 
develop our insight and intelligence, to gather 
more input from Members, partners and 
residents, and to firm up our approach to 
achieving all of our 20 Pledges, within the 
budget we have available to work with.

This is how we will deliver a better Wirral 
for everyone. We have a clear vision for the 
Wirral we want in the future, this Plan takes us 
further towards achieving it. 

CONCLUSION



56

THE WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION

THE WIRRAL PLAN:
A 2020 VISION
To find out more:
 
 search: Wirral 2020

 @wirral2020

THE WIRRAL PLAN - A 2020 VISION THE WIRRAL PARTNERSHIP



WIRRAL COUNCIL 

REGENERATION AND ENVIRONMENT POLICY & PERFORMANCE 
COMMITTEE – 15 SEPTEMBER 2015

CABINET – 8 OCTOBER 2015

SUBJECT CLIMATE CHANGE ANNUAL 
PROGRESS REPORT AND ACTION 
PLAN

WARDS AFFECTED ALL
REPORT OF DAVID ARMSTRONG – ASSISTANT 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE
RESPONSIBLE PORTFOLIO 
HOLDERS

CLLR BERNIE MOONEY – 
ENVIRONMENT AND 
SUSTAINABILITY

KEY DECISION? YES

1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1 This report presents a summary of progress to implement the new climate 
change strategy for Wirral.  It documents the activities of the Wirral Climate 
Group, introduces the first annual progress report and details the current action 
plan in support of the strategy. 

1.2 It is recommended that progress be noted and the first annual report and ‘rolling’ 
action plan be endorsed for public reporting purposes.

1.3 As part of the Council’s five year plan, the proposals in this report support the 
following pledges covered in the plan:

- Providing an attractive local environment for Wirral residents
- Wirral residents live healthier lives
- Thriving small businesses
- Assets and buildings are fit for purpose for Wirral’s businesses

2.0 BACKGROUND AND KEY ISSUES

2.1 Climate change presents challenges globally, national and locally.  We need to 
limit pollution that exacerbates climate change and simultaneously adapt to 
unavoidable change from pollution already in our atmosphere.  Much local 
climate-related pollution is linked to the amount of fossil fuels we use for heat, 
power and travel.  It is also linked to decisions that we take that influence how 
others use fossil fuels.  If we operate more efficiently and are more mindful about 
the wider impacts of our decisions we can help reduce the danger of climatic 
disturbance.  Extreme weather already impacts on our activities. It is important to 
be better prepared and adapt so that we become more resilient to such 
disruption.  Many of the actions needed in response to the climate agenda help 



advance other agendas too, e.g. less pollution, better health and economic 
opportunities. 

2.2 Local authorities have an important role to play in the climate agenda and many 
including Wirral Council have a long-held commitment and track record of action.   
Wirral Council is a signatory to the Local Government Association’s (LGA) 
‘Climate Local’ initiative (Sustainable Communities Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee, 29 January 2013, Minute 63). This commits the council to set out its 
actions to both reduce climate pollution and to adapt to unavoidable change.  
Climate Local also requires the public reporting of progress with respect to these 
actions.

2.3 The Council’s first submission under Climate Local detailed actions to complete a 
new climate change strategy for Wirral through the Wirral Climate Change 
Group. This new strategy was endorsed by cabinet in October 2014 and now 
forms the basis for co-ordinating and encouraging actions across Wirral.  The 
strategy proposes a ‘rolling’ action plan and annual public ‘score card’ to 
document progress. These have been developed via the Wirral Climate Change 
Group and are introduced in this report.

2.4 When Cabinet endorsed the new climate change strategy it requested an annual 
report on climate change.  This report aims to fulfil this request.  It is directed first 
via the Regeneration and Environmental Policy and Performance Committee in 
order to fulfil the agreed process for meeting our reporting obligations under 
Climate Local.   

3.0 Wirral Climate Change Group

3.1 The Wirral Climate Change Group is a forum set up by Wirral Council to help co-
ordinate climate action.  The group includes officers and councillors as well as 
representatives from various public bodies, community and voluntary interests. 
Taking a partnership approach acknowledges the importance and value of 
working together and that climate change demands a response from all quarters. 

3.2 The Wirral Climate Change Group developed the new climate change strategy 
for Wirral.  It agreed the final version of this strategy in July 2014 and 
recommended it be endorsed by the partners involved. It has since been working 
to advance implementation of the strategy.

3.3 Since developing the strategy the Wirral Climate Change Group has met three 
times: in November 2014 and March and June 2015.  It has helped to: 

3.3.1 Develop launch events for the climate strategy. Two events took place in 
December 2014 at Wallasey Town Hall.  A climate workshop for schools and 
a public launch ‘party’ to celebrate the creation of the strategy. The school 
event introduced themes from the strategy as a series of practical workshops 
using real-world examples.  Participating schools were challenged to develop 
these projects back at school and present their findings to other schools at a 
Climate Convention.  The convention took place in July 2015 at Kingsway 
Academy.  The public launch ‘party’ introduced themes from the strategy 



through a series of festive activities and displays.  This ‘drop-in’ event 
featured a ‘market place’ to showcase local organisations and projects.  It was 
opened by the Mayor and featured a performance of Christmas tunes by a 
school choir accompanied with instruments made from waste materials.
     

3.3.2 Organise a public event to promote community renewable energy. This 
event took place at Magenta Living’s headquarters in Birkenhead in March 
2015 with support from the Liverpool City Region Local Enterprise Partnership 
(LEP).  It attracted over 40 people and featured presentations from three 
community renewable energy projects and the launch of the LEP’s community 
energy brochure. Seventeen people came forward to express interest in 
setting up a community renewable energy initiative in Wirral.  Work to 
establish such an initiative is now being progressed via local fuel poverty 
charity Energy Projects Plus – a partner in the Wirral Climate Change Group. 

3.3.3 Update the Joint Strategic Need Assessment (JSNA) climate and health 
paper.  The climate and health paper forms part of the JSNA evidence base 
and it is subject to regular review.  Wirral’s demographics suggest certain 
population groups could be more susceptible to climate change events and at 
greater risk of the subsequent impacts.  These include: residents experiencing 
multiple deprivation, older people, young children, people suffering from 
cardiovascular disease (CVD) or respiratory illnesses, those at risk of thermal 
illness and residents with poor mental health. Hotter, drier summers are 
expected to increase the risk of CVD, heat stroke, respiratory illness, and food 
poisoning and gastrointestinal diseases. Extreme temperatures may 
exacerbate mental health problems. Storms and flooding may lead to injuries, 
death, susceptibility to respiratory illnesses, gastro-intestinal illness, food 
poisoning and have a detrimental impact on mental health.

3.3.4 Produce an annual progress report on the climate change strategy. 
(Appendix 1). The strategy envisages an annual progress report or ‘score 
card’.  A first year progress report has thus been produced.  This report 
highlights recent steps taken locally that help progress climate objectives.  Its 
publication, at a relatively early stage in life of the strategy, aims to help raise 
awareness, build momentum and motivate further action.  Future progress 
reports will likely evolve in style and content as actions progress or stall and 
more data is collected. 

3.3.5 Develop the climate strategy action plan (Appendix 2). The strategy 
envisages a ‘rolling’ action plan updated ‘in action’ over its five year life.  This 
approach recognises: 
(i) The scale of the agenda.  It is not necessary or practical to seek progress 
with all 70-plus objectives at the same time. 
(ii) The need for flexibility.  It is important to be able to respond to 
opportunities and adapt to changing circumstances.  
(iii) The importance of building momentum and encouraging widespread 
action. Implementation is not the responsibility of a single organisation. 



As an early iteration of a ‘rolling’ plan, the initial action plan document seeks 
to capture actions from across the Wirral Climate Change Group.  Later 
versions will also seek to capture actions pledged by those beyond.   

3.4 The group has also received presentations on:

3.4.1 Carbon reduction at Wirral University Teaching Hospital NHS Trust - The 
Trust had secured £5.6M capital investment through the carbon and energy 
fund mechanism for Combined Heat and Power, energy efficient lighting and 
insulation.  These measures will reduce carbon emissions by around six 
thousand tonnes per annum.  The investment will be paid back from savings 
over a 15 year period and is expected to deliver an addition £3m savings over 
this time-frame.

3.4.2 ‘WARP-IT’- Cheshire and Wirral NHS Partnership Trust use the on-line Warp-
it portal to manage surplus materials and furniture across the organisation and 
beyond.   The service has helped the Trust limit waste and to encourage re-
use at a time of estate rationalisation. 

3.4.3 The carbon reduction work of Magenta Living - Magenta’s property 
improvement work has helped raise the energy efficiency ‘SAP’ rating of its 
housing stock from an average ‘D’ rating to a ‘C’ rating.

3.4.4 The carbon reduction and resilience work of Cheshire West and Chester 
Council - The council is a signatory to ‘Climate Local’ and has developed an 
action plan via a ‘Sustainability Commission’ with a scrutiny panel to oversee 
progress.  The focus is on mitigation and adaptation.

3.4.5 Better Food Wirral - The Better Food Wirral initiative supported by Public 
Health provides an opportunity to address food and climate-related issues, 
such as promotion of local, fresh and seasonal produce.

3.4.6 The local climate impact profile for Wirral - Following an update, the profile 
now covers the period January 2005 to May 2014.  The media record is 
comprised of 185 news items documenting 82 weather episodes. It confirms 
continued weather disruption to services.  The most common weather 
episodes reported are excessive rainfall and flooding, followed by wind, then 
frost, snow and ice.  The most common impacts reported relate to damage to 
infrastructure – roads, railways communication networks etc., disruption to 
processes, damage to buildings or subsidence; and changes in use of 
facilities or services. 

3.4.7 The Resilient Parks Project - This pilot project was made possible due to a 
successful bid to CLASP (the local authority and public sector sustainability 
support service for the NW of England) for a small grant.  This grant was used 
to commission a study of five local parks to help consider how we might need 
to adapt parks in the face of a changing climate. The sites chosen reflected a 
variety of circumstances and existing weather-related impacts from flooding to 
wild-fires. The project aimed to get interested parties including parks staff and 
user groups to think about the implications of warmer wetter winters and 



hotter drier summers for parks management.  The final project reports have 
now been published.  

3.4.8 Investigation into small scale wind power - The climate strategy includes 
an objective to ‘establish a small scale wind trial’.  An investigation to provide 
some context has thus been undertaken. This found that since 2000 there 
have been 19 planning applications for wind turbines in Wirral with around 
two-thirds approved. At present there are five sites hosting nine turbines.  All 
turbines are small in size with none rated over 15kW.  Turbines have been 
developed for a variety of reasons beyond reducing bills and carbon 
emissions.  These reasons include: as a temporary supply of power, for off 
grid power, educational reasons, to access grant funding, and as part of a 
wider ecological ethos.  Since the investigation was reported to the group the 
Government has issued a Ministerial Statement which indicates that planning 
permission should only be granted for one or more wind turbines if the site is 
in an area identified as suitable for wind energy development in a Local or 
Neighbourhood Plan and the proposal is backed by the local community. This 
would cast doubt over the prospect of establishing a small scale wind trial.

4.0 RELEVANT RISKS

4.1 A failure to publicly report progress and identify actions in support of 
commitments for climate action could pose reputational risk for the Council.  
Failure to develop an appropriate response to climate change in Wirral will 
increase the risk of negative impacts from climate change in Wirral and beyond.  
Climate impacts are likely to be more severe for vulnerable groups. 

5.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

5.1 None. This report has been prepared to fulfil a request from cabinet and to meet 
the reporting requirements of the Climate Local programme.     

6.0 CONSULTATION

6.1 The annual progress report and action plan have been developed in discussions 
with partners in the Wirral Climate Change Group.  The climate change strategy 
2014-2019 to which these reports relate was developed through a wider public 
consultation process.   

7.0 OUTSTANDING PREVIOUSLY APPROVED ACTIONS

7.1 N/A

8.0 IMPLICATIONS FOR VOLUNTARY, COMMUNITY AND FAITH GROUPS

8.1 Climate change poses challenges and creates opportunities for all sectors. 

9.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: FINANCIAL; IT; STAFFING; AND ASSETS



9.1 The action plan does not commit the Council to any additional expenditure, IT, 
or staffing resources. 
 

9.2 The Council’s asset strategy acknowledges the importance of responding to 
the climate agenda and managing assets accordingly. 

10.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

10.1 There are no legal issues foreseen associated with recommendation to 
endorse the progress report and action plan beyond those set out in the body 
of this report.

11.0 EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS

11.1    Has the potential impact of your proposal(s) been reviewed with regard to
equality?

(a) Yes and impact review can be found at the link below

http://bit.ly/transEIA

12.0 CARBON REDUCTION AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS

12.1 The action plan accords with the climate change strategy and it reflects the 
Council’s existing carbon reduction ambitions.

13.0 PLANNING AND COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS

13.1 The action plan is compatible with the emerging planning framework for Wirral 
that supports the transition to a low carbon economy and anticipates the need 
to adapt to climate change. It includes actions to improve pedestrian, cycle 
and driver safety and security. 

13.2 Recent changes to planning guidance concerning onshore wind turbines 
make further progress with the strategy objective to ‘Establish a small-scale 
wind turbine trial’ unlikely without changes to the Council’s Core Strategy 
Local Plan, which does not currently seek to promote sites for onshore wind 
power. Draft Policy CS43 would currently only support the micro generation of 
renewable energy where the energy generated can be used at source.

14.0 RECOMMENDATION/S

14.1 The annual progress report and climate strategy action plan be noted and 
endorsed and used as the basis for public reporting to meet commitments 
under Climate Local. 

15.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S

15.1 The Council is a signatory to Climate Local which requires public reporting of 
action and progress.

http://bit.ly/transEIA


15.2 As part of the Council’s five year plan, the proposals in this report support the 
following pledges covered in the plan:

- Providing an attractive local environment for Wirral residents
- Wirral residents live healthier lives
- Thriving small businesses
- Assets and buildings are fit for purpose for Wirral’s businesses

REPORT AUTHOR: 
Bryan Lipscombe
Sustainability Liaison Officer
telephone (0151) 6062141
e-mail: bryanlipscombe@chester.ac.uk

APPENDICES

Appendix 1: 
Annual report: Cool Steps - Progress implementing the Wirral Climate 
Change Strategy, July 2015 

Appendix 2: 
Climate Change Strategy Action Plan, August 2015 version

REFERENCE MATERIAL
Cool: Wirral Climate Change Strategy- 2014-2019 
[http://www.wirral.gov.uk/downloads/7555]
Wirral JSNA Climate and Health 
[http://info.wirral.nhs.uk/ourjsna/climate&health.html]
Wirral Local Climate Impact Profile 2005-2014 
[http://info.wirral.nhs.uk/document_uploads/Downloads/Wirral_Local_Climate_Impact
_Profile_2005_2014.pdf]   
Wirral resilient parks pilot project [http://www.wirral.gov.uk/my-services/leisure-and-
culture/parks-beaches-and-countryside/parks-development-and-
maintenance/resilient-parks-project] 
Transforming our Assets and Asset Management - Strategic Asset Management
Plan 2014 – 2017 [http://www.wirral.gov.uk/downloads/7129] 

BRIEFING NOTES HISTORY
-
SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)
Council Meeting Date
Sustainable Communities Overview 
and Scrutiny

January 2013

Policy and Performance - 
Regeneration and Environment 
Committee

September 2014

Cabinet October 2014

http://www.wirral.gov.uk/downloads/7555
http://info.wirral.nhs.uk/ourjsna/climate&health.html
http://info.wirral.nhs.uk/document_uploads/Downloads/Wirral_Local_Climate_Impact_Profile_2005_2014.pdf
http://info.wirral.nhs.uk/document_uploads/Downloads/Wirral_Local_Climate_Impact_Profile_2005_2014.pdf
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/my-services/leisure-and-culture/parks-beaches-and-countryside/parks-development-and-maintenance/resilient-parks-project
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/my-services/leisure-and-culture/parks-beaches-and-countryside/parks-development-and-maintenance/resilient-parks-project
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/my-services/leisure-and-culture/parks-beaches-and-countryside/parks-development-and-maintenance/resilient-parks-project
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/downloads/7129




Cool Steps: Wirral Climate Change Strategy Progress Report at July 2015

Background
Cool, Wirral’s climate change strategy - 2014-2019 seeks to encourage and co-
ordinate climate change-related action and investment by people and organisations 
with an interest in Wirral.  Cool Steps is the first of a planned series of annual reports 
to detail progress.  

This report outlines some recent steps taken towards meeting the main aims of the 
strategy.  It focuses on the activities of participants in the Wirral Climate Change 
Group, the partnership that helped develop the strategy.  It is anticipated that future 
reports will capture a fuller picture. 

Readers are asked to reflect about their own potential role and actions in relation 
each aim in recognition that the success of the strategy will rest on more widespread 
action.  

Aim: Reducing demand for energy and making Wirral more energy efficient
Recent steps…

 A 12 month programme of energy efficiency awareness raising activity and 
support for fuel poor households in Birkenhead & Tranmere ward is underway 
delivered by Energy Projects Plus

 Magenta Living’s solid wall insulation programme is continuing utilising ERDF 
funding. 

 Public Health funding is in place to support installation of solid wall insulation 
for 50 low income private households in areas which are part of the selective 
licencing of private rented homes. 

 An ‘energy Champions’ training programme for staff of front-line organisations 
including Wirral Council and Magenta Living has been delivered by Energy 
Projects Plus. 

 79 Cosy Home Heating Grants were provided by Wirral Council and several 
Cosy Loans were issued for replacement boilers in 2014/15. Both schemes 
are continuing in 2015/16.

 The overall trend in domestic CO2 emissions in Wirral continues to be 
downwards with a 13.3% decrease from 2005 to 2012. Average standard 
electricity consumption by the domestic sector in Wirral has decreased by 
8.8% between 2008 and 2013 and average gas consumption in Wirral has 
decreased by 23.0% over the same period.

 There has been £5.6M capital investment in Combined Heat and Power, 
energy efficient lighting and insulation at Wirral University Teaching Hospital 
NHS Trust hospital campuses.  These measures will reduce carbon emissions 
by around six thousand tonnes per annum.  



 A street lighting strategy has been adopted by Wirral Council advocating more 
efficient lamps and controls.

Aim: Meeting more of our energy needs from renewable sources
Recent steps…

 A public meeting has been held to identify support for renewable energy co-
operative.  A group of interested parties has been identified.  A partner 
organisation willing to host community funded solar PV has identified two 
possible buildings to discuss with the emerging community energy group.

 1,062 kWp of solar PV was installed (registered for FiT) in 2014/15, bringing 
the total installed under FiT to 5,476 kWp.   Wirral Council has installed 391 
kWp of solar PV on 18 council buildings.

 An investigation to identify local schools where solar PV panels could be 
feasible is underway.

 An investigation into existing wind installations in Wirral has been completed 
to establish the context for any future small scale wind turbine trial 

Aim: Making use of more sustainable means for transport
Recent steps…

 Cycle pathways implemented on Bayswater Road, Levers Causeway, 
Seacombe Ferry/Birkenhead Rd, A41 Eastham/M53 Eastham, A41 Torr Rd to 
Woodyear Rd, Ivy Street and The Fender.

 A cycle network map has been produced.
 19 ‘Dr Bike’ cycle maintenance sessions held at local businesses.
 21 workplace travel plans developed.
 New electric vehicle charging points have been introduced at Seacombe 

Ferry, Cleveland Street Depot, and Treasury Building, Birkenhead.

Aim: Reducing indirect climate pollution
Recent steps…

 The WARP-IT portal for sharing surplus materials has been introduced by the 
Cheshire and Wirral NHS Partnership. Wirral Council is currently investigating 
adopting the system to enable surplus items to be shared within the council 
local schools and with community and voluntary sector organisations.

 Work to establish a network and develop a ‘Better Food Wirral’ brand is 
underway.

Aim: Adapting to unavoidable changes in Wirral’s climate
Recent steps

 Wirral’s local climate impact profile has been updated. 
 The Wirral Resilient Parks project has been completed.  This investigation 

involved five parks and countryside sites that already experience weather 



related issues.  The aim has been to generate thinking about how parks 
management can adapt in the face of climate change.

 An update to Joint Strategic Needs Assessment Climate and Health paper is 
in progress.

Aim: Building capacity for action
Recent steps

 A launch party for Wirral Climate Change Strategy was held in December 
2014.

 Web pages for Cool Wirral and Wirral Climate Change Strategy have been 
created.

 A ‘Cool Wirral’ project has been established on www.projectdirt.com.
 There have been regular updates for @CoolWirral twitter feed.  
 A school ‘Climate Challenge’ event for Wirral was held in March 2015
 A ‘Cool Wirral’ team was entered by Community Action Wirral in the ‘Big 

Energy Race’ energy saving competition.  The team finished third in the 
national league table.

Next steps

The Wirral Climate Change Group is currently co-ordinating efforts across various 
organisations through a rolling plan of action in support of the strategy.  Success will 
ultimately depend on wider support and action.  To get involved and find out how you 
can help put Cool into practice, at home in your community and in your workplace: 

 Read the strategy available at: www.wirral.gov.uk/climatestrategy 
 Join the free mailing list to keep in touch via www.wirral.gov.uk/coolwirral 
 Follow @CoolWirral on twitter.
 Connect with others via our Cool Wirral group at www.projectdirt.com 

http://www.projectdirt.com/
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/climatestrategy
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/coolwirral
http://www.projectdirt.com/
http://www.projectdirt.com/




Wirral Climate Change Group – Rolling Action Plan – Version at August 2015  

page 1

Climate Local Commitment  1

Wirral Climate Strategy Action Plan 

Goal: Substantially cut climate pollution associated with Wirral

Aim 1: Make Wirral more energy efficient

Objective 1:01 Contact the owners/occupiers of at least 95% of the 
remaining “easy to treat” homes to highlight the opportunities for 
improvement

Justification: There remain around 26,000 residential properties with 
un-insulated cavities and 4,700 with less than 100 mm of loft insulation.  
These measures are relatively easy to implement and are thus usually 
amongst the most cost effective. 

Action Lead Measure Timescale Progress
Identify areas where easy to treat homes are 
concentrated

Housing Strategy, 
Wirral Council

List of priority 
areas

Dec 2014 A list has been compiled based on 
energy company funding data and 
estimates of cavity walled properties. 

Publicise national and local energy efficiency 
initiatives in priority areas.

Housing Strategy, 
Wirral Council

No. of phone 
calls to 
freephone 
advice line

Aug 2016 This will form part of energy efficiency 
promotional work from September 2015 

Objective 1:02  Improve a minimum of 200 properties each year mainly 
in the east of Wirral using a range of funding streams including ECO 
investment

Justification: The Energy Company Obligation (ECO) is a key current 
investment stream for improving residential energy efficiency.  The 
properties and households most likely to benefit from ECO are more 
concentrated in the east of Wirral.

Action Lead Measure Timescale Progress
Work with Housing Associations to provide 
cross-tenure offer for areas where they are 
installing solid wall insulation

Housing Strategy, 
Wirral Council

Private 
households 
benefit from 
economies of 
scale

Mar 2016 The Council continues to explore ways 
for private households to partake in 
housing association schemes. 

Appoint delivery partner to engage 
households in areas of high fuel poverty with 
advice and referrals to reduce energy bills.

Housing Strategy, 
Wirral Council

Contractor 
appointed
Contract 
outputs met

Sep 2014

Aug 2015

Contract awarded to Energy Projects 
Plus to concentrate work in fuel poor 
areas. Data to be provided at end of 
contract in August 2015.

Objective 1:03 Identify and refer vulnerable and ‘fuel poor’ households 
to available support via social, health, housing and education services 
and community and faith groups

Justification: Support is often available for vulnerable and fuel poor 
households, but it can be difficult to identify those eligible for support. 
Those who work in community settings have an important potential 



Wirral Climate Change Group – Rolling Action Plan – Version at August 2015  

page 2

Climate Local Commitment  2

role in helping to refer those who could benefit to such support.   
Action Lead Timescale Measure Progress
Appoint delivery partner to deliver training 
sessions to front-line organisations, talks to 
community organisations and work with 
primary school.

Housing Strategy, 
Wirral Council

Sep 2014

Aug 2015

Contractor 
appointed
Two 
training 
sessions 
and four 
talks and 
partnership 
with 
primary 
school

Energy Projects Plus appointed in 
September 2014. Training session 
delivered to councillors in February 
2015. Two training sessions for Fire 
Service and Age UK Wirral booked for 
June 2015. Drop-in sessions held for 
parents in St Werburgh’s Primary, 
Birkenhead.

Energy Champions training programme 
delivered through Liverpool City Region Viridis 
partnership with largest housing associations. 

Housing Strategy 
Wirral Council

Mar 2015 Training 
sessions 
delivered

Training sessions completed. Final 
numbers yet to be reported.

Work with the child poverty group to identify 
families who may be in need of support

Public Health, Wirral 
Council

June 2015 Number of 
families 
identified 
as fuel poor

Item at child poverty group on 16th June 
2015

Ensure appropriate pathways are in place for 
those identified as ‘fuel poor’ households

Public Health, Wirral 
Council

June 2015 Pathway 
developed 
and in use

Item at child poverty group on 16th June 
2015

Objective 1:04 Lobby Government for support to improve take-up of 
energy efficiency measures including steps to make the Green Deal 
more attractive

Justification: The Green Deal is the government’s flag ship energy 
efficiency initiative offering loans to support investment in energy 
efficiency at no upfront cost.  The initiative has had a relatively slow 
start and it is not yet delivering levels of investment widely considered 
necessary.

Action Lead Timescale Measure Progress
Contribute to any Government consultations 
relating to Green Deal, ECO and the Fuel 
Poverty Strategy

Housing Strategy, 
Wirral Council

When 
required by 
Government

Consultation 
responses

Responses submitted to consultations 
as follows: Private Rented Sector 
Energy Efficiency Regulations 
(Domestic) Aug 14, Government’s Fuel 
Poverty Strategy Oct 2014, Housing 
Standards Nov 2014.  

Provide opinions to Government through NEA 
membership and the North West Carbon 

Housing Strategy, 
Wirral Council

Ongoing Attendance 
at meetings 

NEA membership renewed for 2015/16, 
input fed through on all consultations.



Wirral Climate Change Group – Rolling Action Plan – Version at August 2015  

page 3

Climate Local Commitment  3

Action Network or respond 
to calls for 
evidence

Objective 1:05 Target high energy use households in the west of 
Wirral with information about the Green Deal and other energy 
efficiency opportunities

Justification: There is a greater concentration of high energy use 
households in the west of Wirral, although the relative affluence of this 
part of the Wirral make it less likely benefit from ECO investment.  It 
thus makes sense to target efforts to raise awareness about the Green 
Deal here.

Action Lead Timescale Measure Progress
Publicise national and local energy efficiency 
initiatives utilising the free phone advice line

Housing Strategy, 
Wirral Council

August 2015 No. of 
phone calls 
to 
freephone 
advice line

Phone line publicised through Energy 
Projects Plus contract. No. of calls to be 
reported at end of contract

Assist people to calculate their carbon 
footprint at Wirral Earth Fest

TTWK Energy Group September 
2015

Number of 
people 
calculating 
their carbon 
footprint

Planning in progress

Objective 1:06 Create targeted locally relevant support to complement 
national energy efficiency opportunities taking into consideration 
existing barriers to local participation       

Justification: The take up of national support opportunities varies. 
Targeted interventions can be more sensitive to local needs.

Action Lead Timescale Measure Progress
Appoint delivery partner to engage households 
in areas of high fuel poverty with advice and 
referrals to reduce energy bills.

Housing Strategy, 
Wirral Council

September  
2014

August  2015

Contractor 
appointed
Contract 
outputs met

Contract awarded to Energy Projects 
Plus to concentrate work in fuel poor 
areas. Data to be provided at end of 
contract in August 2015

Objective 1:07 Develop local capacity in the skills to design, build and 
refurbish buildings to the highest energy efficiency standards by 
promoting education and training opportunities and linking them with 
local building programmes

Justification: If the local area is to benefit fully from investments 
needed in energy efficiency, it makes sense to ensure the skills to 
design, build and refurbish buildings to the highest standards are 
available locally 

Action Lead Timescale Measure Progress
Engagement with businesses regarding their 
skills and training requirements.  Linking this 
activity to work of economic policy (skills) 

Wirral Chamber of 
Commerce

Ongoing



Wirral Climate Change Group – Rolling Action Plan – Version at August 2015  

page 4

Climate Local Commitment  4

team.
Work with City Region REECH programme 
and partner housing associations to continue 
to develop local capacity for energy efficiency 
refurbishment of social housing

Housing Strategy, 
Wirral Council

End of 2014 
for bid 
outcome.

Successful 
City Region 
bid for 
ERDF funds 
for energy 
efficiency 
improvemen
ts to social 
housing. 
Outputs 
dependent 
on funding 
awarded.

Bid submitted May 2015. Awaiting 
outcome

Objective 1:08 Bid to the LCR Local Enterprise Partnership or other 
sources of funding to work up the feasibility of potential heat networks 
in Wirral in support of the LCR SEAP

Justification:  Heat networks can deliver major energy efficiency 
benefits. The Liverpool City Region (LCR) Sustainable Energy Action 
Plan (SEAP) identifies the potential for heat networks locally.  The 
Local Enterprise Partnership endorses the SEAP and may be a source 
of support to develop heat networks in Wirral

Action Lead Timescale Measure Progress
Work with Peel Holdings to understand the 
timing & phasing of the Wirral Waters scheme 
such that an assessment could be made of the 
potential for a heat network to serve the 
entirety of the site. 

Regeneration and 
Environment, Wirral 
Council working via 
Wirral Waters S106 
“Sustainability, 
Energy and Waste 
Working Group” 

Introduce CHP-based network at Trust 
hospital campuses utilising NHS carbon and 
energy fund mechanism.  

WUTH NHS Trust January 2015 Scheme 
implemented

Scheme implemented. £5.6M capital 
investment secured and invested in 
Combined Heat and Power (CHP), 
energy efficient lighting and insulation

Objective 1:09 Promote investment in ‘Wirral Waters’ as an exemplar 
sustainable energy opportunity

Justification: ‘Wirral Waters’ is a major development proposal centred 
on the regeneration of dock lands into mixed residential commercial 
and leisure uses.  It is anticipated that the development will be an 



Wirral Climate Change Group – Rolling Action Plan – Version at August 2015  

page 5

Climate Local Commitment  5

exemplar sustainable community.  The LCR Sustainable Energy Action 
Plan identifies Wirral Waters a key opportunity for a major district 
heating scheme. 

Action Lead Timescale Measure Progress
Work with Peel Holdings to understand the 
timing & phasing of the Wirral Waters scheme 
such that an assessment could be made of the 
potential for the incorporation of sustainable 
energy measures within the scheme.

Regeneration and 
Environment, Wirral 
Council working via
Wirral Waters S106 
“Sustainability, 
Energy and Waste 
Working Group” 
ctives

Objective 1:10 Assemble the market evidence to identify areas where 
it is feasible to demand more than minimum energy efficiency 
standards through the planning system

Justification:  There is a need for evidence to justify ‘more than 
minimum’ energy efficiency standards through land use planning.  
Without such evidence it is likely that policies to support them will not 
be upheld at appeal.

Action Lead Timescale Measure Progress
Viability Assessment in preparation to support 
the Core Strategy Local Plan

Planning, Wirral 
Council

Adoption of 
Core Strategy 
Local Plan 
and SPDs 
before end of 
2016. Site 
specific Local 
Plan to follow.

Core 
Strategy 
found 
“sound” at 
Examination

In progress; finalisation linked to 
completion of Strategic Housing Market 
Assessment.  Core Strategy at Pre-
Submission Stage, Scope of SPDs 
subject to consultation in 2013
The Deregulation Act 2015 removed a 
clause from the Planning and Energy 
Act 2008 that enabled Local Authorities 
to require new housing developments to 
reach higher energy efficiency 
standards. A ministerial statement sets 
out guidance to local planning 
authorities. For energy performance, 
authorities will continue to be able to 
ask for energy performance standards 
that exceed the Building Regulations 
until the national zero carbon homes 
policy is introduced, expected to be in 
late 2016. Until that time, authorities 
should not ask for developments to 
achieve energy standards higher than a 



Wirral Climate Change Group – Rolling Action Plan – Version at August 2015  

page 6

Climate Local Commitment  6

Code Level 4 equivalent.  Local 
authorities will still be able to ask for 
BREEAM standards on non-residential 
development.  

Objective 1:11 Develop targeted energy efficiency campaigns for 
places of work, leisure, education and worship

Justification:  Different settings raise different energy efficiency 
issues.  Targeted campaigns can have a greater impact.

Action Lead Timescale Measure Progress
Promote ‘Switch off fortnight’ and  associated 
assessments as part of Eco schools

Eco Schools, Wirral 
Council

November 
2014
November 
2015

Number of 
schools 
participating

Promote Green Office Week via Council 
intranet

Sustainability, Wirral 
Council 

May 2015 Items 
posted

Items posted 

Seek funding to develop climate-related work 
with faith communities in Wirral

Faiths4Change July 2016 Funding 
secured

Objective 1:12 Seek support for improving the energy efficiency of 
community buildings

Justification:  The consultation flagged up that those who run 
community buildings often struggle to fund building improvements 
including energy efficiency measures.  Local grant support has been 
available in the past.  Improvements to community buildings not only 
benefit climate change but can help groups cut running costs enabling 
community buildings to operate on a more sustainable basis.

Action Lead Timescale Measure Progress
Seek opportunities and develop/encourage 
bids for support where appropriate

Community Action 
Wirral

Ongoing Support 
secured

Opportunity identified for community 
buildings along coast via Burbo Bank 
Extension Community Fund.  
Preliminary work to develop bid concept 
underway.

Provide funding advice to groups seeking to 
make community building improvements

Community Action 
Wirral

Ongoing

Objective 1:13 Assemble a set of “good house-keeping” promotional 
resources to support  energy awareness campaigns

Justification:  It makes sense to pool existing promotional resources 
to avoid the ‘re-inventing the wheel’ and to make it easier to run energy 
awareness campaigns.

Action Lead Timscale Measure Progress



Wirral Climate Change Group – Rolling Action Plan – Version at August 2015  

page 7

Climate Local Commitment  7

Objective 1:14 Create a mechanism to promote voluntary peer review 
of energy efficiency efforts in different organisations and to encourage 
the sharing of resources to support the work of energy/eco champions

Justification:  With finite resources available, it makes sense to work 
together and share good practice.

Action Lead Timescale Measure Timescale

Objective 1:15 Create a directory of local suppliers of accredited 
energy efficient goods and services and promote these through an 
expo event

Justification: If the local area is to benefit fully from investments in 
energy efficiency, it makes sense to highlight local suppliers offering 
energy efficient goods and services

Action Lead Timescale Measure Progress
Investigation by University of Chester students Sustainability

Wirral Council
Survey undertaken but limited response

Objective 1:16 Upgrade outdoor lighting fixtures and controls 
including street lights

Justification:  Outdoor lighting presents an opportunity to introduce 
energy saving fixtures and controls.

Action Lead Timescale Measure Progress
Develop street lighting strategy Highway 

Management
Wirral Council 

2014 Strategy in 
place

Street lighting strategy and action plan 
2014 approved by Wirral Council in 
October 2014

Implement retrofit and replacement LED 
lanterns with a wireless central management 
systems to the 7,557 high energy consuming 
street lights across Wirral in line with the street 
lighting strategy.

Highway 
Management 
Wirral Council

July 2015 – 
March 2016

Number of 
lanterns to 
be replaced 
is 7557

Invest to Save Contract to replace 7557 
existing lanterns with retrofit LED units. 
Installation from July.  

Objective 1:17 Create a Wirral-focussed energy efficiency campaign 
linked to the roll out of smart meters

Justification:  Utility companies will be rolling out new smart meters to 
their customers over coming years.  This presents a potential opportunity 
to engage people about energy saving practices 

Action Lead Timescale Measure Progress
Obtain timetable for roll-out in Wirral Housing Strategy, 

Wirral Council
2015 Plan activity 

around 
timetable

Roll-out began early 2015. Each 
individual energy company decides 
when it will roll-out to Wirral households 
and so the ability to have a high profile 



Wirral Climate Change Group – Rolling Action Plan – Version at August 2015  

page 8

Climate Local Commitment  8

localised campaign over a short time-
frame is no longer possible.  May be 
opportunities to piggy-back on 
marketing messages. 

Create plan of engagement around key 
milestones for roll-out

Housing Strategy, 
Wirral Council

2015 Activity plan See above.

Explore the potential for piggy-backing on the 
marketing messages of energy companies 
linked to their smart meter roll outs

Housing Strategy, 
Wirral Council

2016 Opportunities 
identified

Objective 1:18: Pilot a ‘smart grid’ in at least one Wirral community Justification:  Electricity networks are critical to achieving climate 
change objectives. A shift from a tradition grid designed to distribute 
energy one-way from large centralised power stations, to smart grids is 
anticipated.  Smart grids utilise information and communication 
technologies in an automated way to improve reliability; efficiency and 
flexibility of the electricity distribution network– including coping with two 
way flows from more decentralised smaller scale generation sources 
including renewable energy sources.  The transition to a smarter grid 
presents opportunities to pilot new technologies.   

Action Lead Timescale Measure Progress

Goal: Substantially cut climate pollution associated with Wirral

Aim 2: Generate and source more of our local energy needs from renewable sources

Objective 2:01:Create a renewable energy co-operative to pool local 
investment 

Justification:  Incentives are in place to make investment in renewable 
energy attractive, but not everyone is in a position to exploit the 
technology directly.  Co-operatives have been used elsewhere to 
enable those who support renewable energy to pool their resources 
and develop community renewable energy projects.  Community-led 
projects give local people a stake in projects and help ensure the 
benefits are enjoyed locally.

Action Lead Timescale Measure Progress
Gather information about renewable energy 
co-operatives elsewhere and support for the 

Sustainability,
Wirral Council

Information 
held

Information gathered and used at public 
event held in March 2015



Wirral Climate Change Group – Rolling Action Plan – Version at August 2015  

page 9

Climate Local Commitment  9

creation of community renewable energy 
schemes
Convene a meeting of interested parties Sustainability,

Wirral Council
February 
2015

Meeting 
held

Public event “Community Energy for 
Wirral & Liverpool City Region” held in 
in partnership with LCR Local Enterprise 
Partnership and hosted by Magenta in 
March 2015. 41 people took part. The 
event featured presentations from 
Lymm Community Energy, Liverpool 
Community Renewables and MORE 
(Morecombe Bay Renewables) in 
Lancaster.  16 people recorded their 
interest in setting up a similar Wirral 
initiative.  

Follow-up contact with interested parties Energy Projects Plus March 2015 Contact 
made

Contact made to identify ‘core group’.

Bid for support from the Co-operatives UK 
Energy Mentoring programme to develop a 
community energy group 

Energy Projects Plus April 2015 Bid 
progress

Bid submitted.  Mentoring support 
secured June 2015 

Facilitate meetings to encourage formation of 
Wirral Community Renewables as a 
Community Benefit Society

Energy Projects Plus June -
October 2015

Meetings 
held. 
Community 
Benefit 
Society 
Formed

Two meetings held with core group.  
Work to develop founding 
documentation begun.  Bid developed 
for M&S Community Energy Fund

Promote “Solar Enlightenment” bid to M&S 
Community Energy Fund 

Wirral Community 
Renewables with 
support from EPPlus  
TTWK Energy Group, 
Wirral Council

August-
September 
2015

Support 
secured for 
bid

Proposal for installation of 4KWp Solar 
PV array at Pensby Library submitted 
and shortlisted 

Support formation of Wirral Community 
Renewables Group 

TTWK Energy Group August 2015-
August 2016

Ongoing.  Project featured on TTWK 
Energy group web site

Objective 2:02: Identify potential sites for solar energy investment Justification:  Solar energy proved to be one of the more popular 
types of renewable energy in the climate strategy consultation process. 
Wirral enjoys sufficient sunlight (solar insolation) to make solar energy 
viable in the right locations both to capture heat (solar thermal) and 
generate electricity (solar thermal).  National Planning Policy Guidance 



Wirral Climate Change Group – Rolling Action Plan – Version at August 2015  

page 10

Climate Local Commitment  10

indicates that large scale solar farms should be focused on previously 
developed and non-agricultural land, provided that it is not of high 
environmental value.  This is likely to limit the potential for large scale 
solar farms within Wirral. 

Action Lead Timescale Measure Progress
Encourage the incorporation of active solar 
and Solar PV in new developments, including 
through inclusion of appropriate policies in 
Wirral’s Local Plan and guidance in 
Supplementary Planning Documents

Planning, Wirral 
Council

Adoption of 
Core Strategy 
Local Plan 
and SPDs 
before end of 
2016. Site 
specific Local 
Plan to follow

Core 
Strategy 
found 
“sound” at 
Examination

Core Strategy at Pre-Submission Stage, 
Scope of SPDs subject to consultation 
in 2013

Seek investment in solar PV projects on Wirral 
Council buildings with most potential to exploit 
solar energy 

Sustainability, Wirral 
Council

Ongoing Number of 
sites with 
installations 
and kWp 
installed

Top 30 sites identified.  18 sites have 
PV installed  
7 further sites planned by August 2015

Review potential for solar PV on Wirral 
Schools owned by Wirral Council

Sustainability, Wirral 
Council

September 
2015

Priority sites 
identified

Desk-top review of 90 primary schools 
and three Early Years Centres 
completed to identify top 20 sites for 
further investigation 

Seek investment in solar PV projects on 
schools

Sustainability, Wirral 
Council

Ongoing Number of 
schools with 
installations 
and kWp 
installed

Objective 2:03: Establish a small-scale wind turbine trial Justification:  Parts of Wirral have a suitable wind conditions to make 
wind turbines viable, although constraints exist.  In the strategy 
consultation process wind energy was supported although opinion was 
more divided.   Investigating the potential of wind through a small-scale 
wind turbine trial will enable local experience to be built.   

Action Lead Timescale Measure Progress
Research existing wind turbines in Wirral as a 
basis for consideration of developing a 
potential small-scale wind turbine trial

Sustainability, Wirral 
Council

June 2015 Report 
produced

Report presented to Wirral Climate 
Change Group June 2015.  Subsequent 
Government Ministerial Statement 
appears to limit opportunity to develop a 



Wirral Climate Change Group – Rolling Action Plan – Version at August 2015  

page 11

Climate Local Commitment  11

trial.

Objective 2:04: Identify the potential for the use of bio-mass heat and 
power in parks and countryside facilities 

Justification: The consultation workshop included a presentation that 
featured an example of the use of bio-mass heat and power in parks 
and countryside facilities.  This proved to be popular in subsequent 
discussion and merits some further investigation.

Action Lead Timescale Measure Progress
Consider implementing household and/or 
commercial food waste collection schemes to 
provide source of biomass energy

MRWA To be 
determined

Objective 2:05: Promote the availability of support to establish the 
feasibility of on farm anaerobic digestion plant and explore other 
opportunities to produce biogas from wastes 

Justification:  The On-Farm Anaerobic Digestion (AD) Fund 
administered by WRAP exists to help farmers build AD plants on their 
farms.  There may be other opportunities to produce biogas from 
different waste streams.

Action Lead Timescale Measure Progress

Objective 2:06: Highlight the availability of incentives to support 
installation of micro-renewable energy including FiTs and RHI

Justification:  Incentive payments – The Feed-in-Tariff (FITs) for renewable 
electricity and more recently Renewable Heat Incentive (RHI) for renewable 
heat - are a major driver in the uptake of renewable energy.

Action Lead Timescale Measure Progress
Awareness raising among businesses by 
email, online and during face-to-face 
meetings

Wirral Chamber of 
Commerce

Ongoing Emails sent to all 
members of 
Businesswirral.com

Promote the availability of FiTs and RHI via 
relevant social media channels and web 
pages

Sustainability
Wirral Council

Objective 2:07: Promote the use of biomass fuels in off-grid locations 
and raise awareness about the use of correct appliances in smoke 
control areas

Justification:  Biomass-based fuels, e.g. wood pellets and logs, are an 
important potential renewable derived heating source.  Biomass boilers 
are a good low carbon alternative for those with heating needs off the 
gas grid that currently rely on bottled gas, oil or coal fired systems.  
Much of Wirral is a smoke control area where only smokeless fuels can 
be burnt unless they are burnt in an exempted appliance

Action Lead Timescale Measure Progress
Promote biomass fuels and awareness via Sustainability, 



Wirral Climate Change Group – Rolling Action Plan – Version at August 2015  

page 12

Climate Local Commitment  12

relevant social media channels and web 
pages

Wirral Council

Objective 2:08: Win further resources to develop Wirral as a centre of 
excellence for wind energy 

Justification:  Wirral’s existing dock and maritime industrial assets 
make it an obvious location for supporting the development of off -
shore wind farms. There has already been some public and private 
sector investment to make Wirral a centre of excellence in this growing 
industry.  

Action Lead Timescale Measure Progress
New infrastructure projects for development of 
offshore wind cluster.

Investment Strategy 
Wirral Council

Complete 
expenditure 
by end of 
March 2015.

Invest £5m 
in 
supporting 
low carbon 
offshore 
energy 
supply 
chain 
projects in 
Wirral.

Entire £5m budget spent - supporting 
offshore energy and related projects.  
Leveraging £8.6m million private sector 
investment, creating 67 jobs and 
safeguarding 483.  

Objective 2:09: Promote Wirral’s value as a location for investment in 
emerging renewable energy technologies

Justification:  Wirral’s location, skill base and proximity to existing 
centres of research make it a potentially attractive location for 
investment in emerging renewable energy technologies

Action Lead Timescale Measure Progress

Objective 2:10: Build local skills to assess, install and service 
renewable energy equipment by promoting education and training 
opportunities and linking them with local renewable energy investments

Justification:  If the local area is to benefit fully from investments in 
renewable energy, it makes sense to ensure the skills to assess, install 
and service renewable energy equipment are available locally.

Action Lead Timescale Measure Progress
Skills and education shows to have a low 
carbon element

Economic Policy 
Team, Wirral Council

New infrastructure projects for development of 
offshore wind cluster.

Investment Strategy 
Wirral Council

Complete 
expenditure 
by end of 
March 2015.

Invest £5m 
in 
supporting 
low carbon 

Entire £5m budget spent - supporting 
offshore energy and related projects.  
Leveraging £8.6m million private sector 
investment, creating 67 jobs and 



Wirral Climate Change Group – Rolling Action Plan – Version at August 2015  

page 13

Climate Local Commitment  13

offshore 
energy 
supply 
chain 
projects in 
Wirral.

safeguarding 483.  

Objective 2:11: Create a directory of local suppliers and installers and 
promote them through an expo event

Justification: If the local area is to benefit fully from investments in 
renewable energy, it makes sense to highlight local suppliers and 
installers.

Action Lead Timescale Measure Progress
Investigation by University of Chester 
Students

Sustainability, Wirral 
Council

Survey undertaken but limited response

Objective 2:12: Highlight renewable energy tariffs in collective 
switching and related campaigns

Justification:  The have been some recent collective switching 
campaigns designed to help consumers get a better deal from utility 
companies.  There appears to be an opportunity to promote switching 
to renewable energy tariffs.

Action Lead Timescale Measure Progress
Specify a renewable energy tariff be provided 
as part of collective switching offers

Housing Strategy  
Wirral Council

Next 
collective 
switch Sep 14

Tariff 
offered in 
every 
collective 
switch

Goal: Substantially cut climate pollution associated with Wirral

Aim 3: Use more sustainable modes of transport, more fuel efficient vehicles and less polluting means of getting around

Objective 3:01: Establish a Wirral cycle route network map and 
develop the network

Justification:  The creation of - and awareness about - a cycle 
network is an important element in supporting cycle journeys 

Action Lead Timescale Measure Progress
Construction of cycle pathways through the 
Local Sustainable Transport Fund. Cycle links 
to businesses and to tourism sites

Cycling, Wirral 
Council

Until end of 
funding 
2014/15

Construction 
completed

Construction completed on:
Bayswater Road
Levers Causeway
Seacombe Ferry/Birkenhead Rd
A41 Eastham/M53 Eastham



Wirral Climate Change Group – Rolling Action Plan – Version at August 2015  

page 14

Climate Local Commitment  14

A41 Torr Rd to Woodyear Rd
Ivy Street
The Fender

Construction of cycle pathways / crossings etc 
funded through the Integrated Transport Block 
(ITB)

Cycling, Wirral 
Council

Annual 
budget 
allocation

Construction 
completed

Wirral Cycle map published and regularly 
updated

Cycling, Wirral 
Council

Map to be re-
printed Sept 
‘14

Published 
map

Map re-printed

Objective 3:02: Promote cycle skills training, cycle maintenance and 
cycle security measures 

Justification:  Concerns about safety and security can be a barrier to 
the more widespread use of cycles.

Action Lead Timescale Measure Progress
Dr Bike maintenance sessions held at 
businesses to provide a free service to 
employees bikes

Sustainable Travel
Wirral Council

Until end of 
funding 
2014/15

Number of 
sessions 
provided at 
businesses

19 Dr Bike sessions held at businesses

Bikeright to deliver Bikeability to National 
Standards in Wirral Schools.

Bike Right/ Road 
Safety Team, Wirral 
Council

Until end of 
school year 
summer 2016

Numbers of 
pupils 
trained

Reported at end of financial year

Objective 3:03: New 20 MPH zones in residential areas to improve 
pedestrian and cycle safety 

Justification: The speed of motor traffic can be a deterrent to 
pedestrians and cyclists.

Action Lead Timescale Measure Progress
Instigate 20mph zones as casualty reduction 
schemes or via Constituency Committees.

Road Safety
Wirral Council

As required Number of 
schemes 
implemented

Objective 3:04: Run an awareness campaign to discourage 
pavement parking and take enforcement action where necessary to 
improve the pedestrian environment

Justification:  Pavement parking can create a more dangerous and 
restricted environment and act as a deterrent for walking journeys 

Action Lead Timescale Measure Progress

Direction of travel: Safer and more convenient routes for 
pedestrians 

Justification:  Creating safer and more convenient routes for pedestrians 
is likely to make walking a more attractive option



Wirral Climate Change Group – Rolling Action Plan – Version at August 2015  

page 15

Climate Local Commitment  15

Action Lead Timescale Measure Progress
Meet with local groups to promote walking and 
look at ways of overcoming challenges

Living Streets March 2016 Questionnaires Meeting setup with Wirral Radio, 
Alpha homes and in other community 
groups in New Brighton and 
Bromborough.

Work with community groups, businesses or 
schools where a need for improvements has 
been highlighted or where existing issues 
exist. 

Living Streets March 2016 Improvements 
identified

Objective 3:05: Ensure that the majority of households are aware of 
journey planning tools 

Justification:  Increasing access to information about transport options 
and connections between them should help support more sustainable 
travel choices.

Action Lead Timescale Measure Progress
Travel solutions – Team provides bespoke 
advice and information on travel from and 
within the East Wirral area, to help people 
who are entering employment. This could 
be:

 Personalised journey planning
 Help with travel costs
 Bike to work scheme
 Scooter Commuter
 Travel Training

Wirral Travel 
Solutions,
Wirral Council

Until end of 
funding 
2014/15

Number of 
solutions 
provided

2014/15 figures
Total individual engagements: 2720
Total travel passes given out: 1252
Total bikes given out: 593
Total scooters given out: 9
Number of job seekers receiving 
personal journey plans: 474
Number of individuals receiving travel 
training: 45
Number of Maxi Taxi cards issued: 57

Merseytravel roadshows and education 
programme

Merseytravel Ongoing Merseytravel 
road shows
Via 
Employers 
Network to 
41 Wirral 
organisations
Via 
Education 
programme 
to secondary 

Merseytravel’s engagement team 
promote sustainable travel behaviour to 
a wide audience, specific programmes 
engage newly employed jobseekers, 
major and smaller employers, 
educational establishments including 
apprenticeship providers. This work is 
core and ongoing year on year. Journey 
planning tools are a key part of the offer 
promoted. The team also engage with 
the public via 50 roadshows per year, 



Wirral Climate Change Group – Rolling Action Plan – Version at August 2015  

page 16

Climate Local Commitment  16

schools targeted to reach a Merseyside 
population of 5,000 individuals. This 
work is all on target for this year.

Objective 3:06:Develop travel plans at key employment sites, 
leisure facilities and retail centres

Justification: Travel Plans are a way to manage travel to and from a 
site more effectively. They are commonly used to address growing 
congestion and improve travel choices.  

Action Lead Timescale Measure Progress
Consider travel plans received with planning 
applications

Planning, Wirral 
Council 

Ongoing

Travel plans developed with businesses 
through business travel support funded by 
the LSTF

Sustainable Travel, 
Wirral Council

Until end of 
funding 
2014/15

20 travel plans 
developed

21 Travel plans completed and signed 
off

Baseline travel surveys Sustainable Travel,   
Wirral Council

Until end of 
funding 
2014/15

22 surveys 
undertaken 
(782 staff a 
19.5% 
response rate)

27 surveys undertaken (2764 staff a 
19% response rate)
SOV 57.9%
Car share 13.7%
Bus 10.9%
Walk 6.7%
Train 4.8%
Bicycle 4.2%
Follow up surveys with 6 businesses 
with 329 participants

Hold Walk Doctor events, walking challenges 
and do walking promotion in at least 5 local 
businesses before March 2016, engaging an 
average of 60 employees at each site.

Living Streets Until end of 
funding 31st 
March 16

Target 
achieved and 
evaluation 
completed

Walk Doctor event at Premier Foods 
engaged 50 staff, walking promotion 
taken place in at least 5 other business 
and online challenges promoted during 
walk to work week in May.

Promote walking maps during business 
engagement events

Living Streets Until end of 
funding 31st 
March 16

Uptake of 
maps

New maps received from Robin 
Tutchings to give out during walking 
promotions 

Run WoW (Walk once a Week) in 55 primary 
schools.

Living Streets Until end of 
school year 
summer 2016

Hands up 
questionnaires

60 primary schools were engaged 
previously.  Have written to all schools 
to see if they wish to continue for a 
further year.

Run (FyF) Free your Feet walking challenge 
in 10 secondary schools

Living Streets Until end of 
funding 31st 

Hands up 
questionnaires

6 secondary schools have run the 
scheme in May/June.



Wirral Climate Change Group – Rolling Action Plan – Version at August 2015  

page 17

Climate Local Commitment  17

March 16

Objective 3:07: Complete the introduction of secure cycle parking at 
all Wirral railway stations

Justification: Improvements in cycle parking facilities at stations make 
it more convenient for combined cycle and rail journeys  

Action Lead Timescale Measure Progress
Introduction of secure and sheltered cycle 
parking at Wirral stations 

Merseytravel 2014/15 Bike stores 
built

Bike stores introduced at Bebington, 
Bidston, Birkenhead Central, Birkenhead 
North, Birkenhead Park, Bromborough, 
Bromborough Rake, Conway Park, 
Eastham Rake, Green Lane, Hoylake, 
Leasowe, Meols, Moreton, New Brighton, 
Port Sunlight, Rock Ferry, Spital Cycle, 
Wallasey Grove Road and West Kirkby.  
Planned for Hamilton Square.

Bike hire at select Wirral stations Merseyrail Ongoing Bikes hire 
facilities 
introduced

‘Bike and Go’ introduced at Bidston, New 
Brighton, West Kirby, Port Sunlight.  
Planned for Hamilton Square

Objective 3:08 Introduce local bus quality partnerships to extend the 
co-ordination of timetables and ticketing between operators 

Justification:  Bus quality partnerships provide a means to better 
integrate services provided by rival operators to make them more 
convenient and attractive to users

Action Lead Timescale Measure Progress

Objective 3:09: Promote the development and uptake of flexible 
ticketing options and ensure the introduction of new ticket systems 
include consideration of the opportunities for new flexible ticket 
products.

Justification: Convenient and flexible ticketing can make public transport 
journeys more attractive

Action Lead Timescale Measure Progress
Implementation of ‘Walrus’ travel card system 
- an electronic version of the Saveaway ticket 
is being rolled out initially

Merseytravel Autumn 2014 Use of 
cards

Smart Saveaway piloted in Wirral – Nov 
2014
Smart Saveaway roll-out across 
Merseyside - March 2015
Today or Tomorrow Smart Saveaway – 
7th Sept 2015
Weekly Smart Solo – 7th September 



Wirral Climate Change Group – Rolling Action Plan – Version at August 2015  

page 18

Climate Local Commitment  18

2015
Four weekly Smart Solo – 7th September 
2015
Young Person Weekly Smart Solo – 7th 
September 2015

Objective 3:10 Establish a network of publicly accessible electric 
vehicle charging points with at least one rapid charger to serve the 
strategic road network

Justification:  If electric vehicle use is to grow, there is a need for an 
adequate network of charging facilities.  Electric vehicle use can help 
reduce climate pollution – assuming the carbon intensity of grid supplied 
electricity continues to fall.

Action Lead Timescale Measure Progress
Implement OLEV funded charging points on 
public sector estate There are 8 posts 
proposed for charging points within Wirral 
Council’s estate, at: Allport Lane 
(Bromborough); Hamilton Square; Perch Rock 
Car Park / Marine Promenade; West Kirby 
Concourse Car Park; Wirral MBC, Treasury 
Building Car Park; Cleveland Street Depot; 
Wallasey Town Hall; and Green Lane.

Sustainable Travel, 
Wirral Council

Until end of 
funding 
2014/15

Introduction 
of charging 
points. 
Measure 
use of 
charging 
points

Charging points have been put in at:
Cleveland Street (x2)
Treasury Building

Plans for Elgin Way and Wallasey Town 
Hall

Investigate the potential for future bids / 
funding streams 

Sustainable Travel, 
Wirral Council

Ongoing Successful 
bids

Bid submitted to lease hire 2 electric 
vehicles with 75% of the cost being 
covered by OLEV

E-Vehicle Charging Strategy to establish 
11 publicly available electric charging points

Merseytravel On-going 14 publically available Recharge posts 
are currently available in LCR. With a 
further 6 to be added to the network 
before April 2016

Objective 3:11: Promote the availability of ‘alternative’ fuels at filling 
stations through online maps

Justification: Alternatives fuelled vehicles can help reduce climate 
pollution. Increasing knowledge about the location of filling stations that 
offer alternative fuels makes the use of alternative fuelled vehicles more 
likely.  

Action Lead Timescale Measure Progress
Back office and online support for public 
electric charging points so that the public can 

Merseytravel On-going Website 
hits / use of 

All Recharge posts are linked to the 
‘Charge Your Car’ back office portal 



Wirral Climate Change Group – Rolling Action Plan – Version at August 2015  

page 19

Climate Local Commitment  19

see whether a car charging point is available. charging 
points

which means any EV driver can use the 
posts

Objective 3:12: Create a directory of local suppliers of alternative 
fuelled vehicles and vehicle convertors and promote these through 
an expo event 

Justification: If Wirral is to benefit fully from investments in the transition 
to more sustainable travel, it makes sense to highlight local suppliers and 
convertors of alternative fuelled vehicles and fuels/charging points

Action Lead Timescale Measure Progress
Investigation by University of Chester 
Students

Sustainability,
Wirral Council

Survey undertaken but limited response

Hold an event for electric vehicle expo for taxi 
drivers

Merseytravel N/A Expo held Taxi expo was planned but never held. 
Green fuel event took place at Aintree in 
Feb 2015, although this wasn’t explicitly 
aimed at taxi drivers

Objective 3:13: Promote smarter driving tips and techniques Justification:  The manner in which people drive can make a big 
difference to fuel use and resultant pollution produced.  Promoting 
smarter driving should help improve efficiency and reduce pollution.

Action Lead Timescale Measure Progress
Smarter driver leaflet produced Sustainable travel,  

Wirral Council
Ongoing Number of 

leaflets 
distributed

Distributed through ongoing business 
travel support engagement

Mind Your Business Project– offers driver 
training sessions (practical and theory) which 
include safer and more economical driving 
advice

Road Safety, Wirral 
Council

Until end of 
funding March 
2016

Take up of 
sessions 

Promoted to individual businesses, 
through marketing and promotion and 
during seminars.

Objective 3:14: Promote car sharing for journeys when applicable Justification: Sharing journeys can help cut traffic congestion and the 
associated pollution

Action Lead Timescale Measure Progress
Car sharing promoted where applicable 
through business travel support team

Sustainable Travel,
Wirral Council

Until end of 
funding 
2014/15

Mode share 
of staff car 
sharing will 

2014/15 stats, driving assessments 
offered: 235 sessions offered 5 delivered



Wirral Climate Change Group – Rolling Action Plan – Version at August 2015  

page 20

Climate Local Commitment  20

be 
measured 
through 
travel 
surveys 

Goal: Substantially cut climate pollution associated with Wirral

Aim 4: Reducing the indirect negative impacts that our decisions have for climate pollution in Wirral and elsewhere

Objective 4:01: Host a green procurement fair to promote the 
greening of local supply chains and encourage the spread of 
environmentally sensitive procurement practice 

Justification: Purchasing decisions can have many indirect impacts 
including those on climate pollution. 

Action Lead Timescale Measure Progress
SME engagement regarding event.  Support 
with promotion and venue.

Wirral Chamber of 
Commerce

To be 
determined

Objective 4:02: Promote local inter-trading to shorten supply chains 
through Invest Wirral and local trade associations  

Justification: Shortening supply chains can limit climate pollution by 
reducing unnecessary transportation.

Action Lead Timescale Measure Progress
Businesswirral.com online platform exists to 
promote and support local inter-trading.  
Businesses can use this to find local providers 
of goods and services.  Improvements to this 
system will enable greater number and range 
of opportunities to be realised.  

Wirral Chamber of 
Commerce

Completed 3,060 members, representing 2,673 
organisations on Businesswirral.com

Promote business to business inter-trading 
and collaborations via Wirral Chamber of 
Commerce relationship managers 

Wirral Chamber of 
Commerce

Ongoing

Objective 4:03: Reduce the need to travel through online working or 
online meetings

Justification: Modern technologies enable transactions and interactions 
to take place on-line reducing the need to travel along with the associated 
climate impacts of this travel.

Action Lead Timescale Measure Progress
Leaflet for businesses Sustainable Travel

Wirral Council
Until end of 
funding 

Disseminati
on of 

Leaflet produced and ongoing 
dissemination



Wirral Climate Change Group – Rolling Action Plan – Version at August 2015  

page 21

Climate Local Commitment  21

2014/15 leaflets

Objective 4:04: Create a recognisable brand to aid the development 
of Wirral’s local food movement and promote the consumption of 
local and seasonal produce

Justification:  Wirral has an emergent local food movement.  Developing 
a clear brand should help develop this movement and promote the 
consumption of local and seasonal produce.

Action Lead Timescale Measure Progress
Better Food Wirral identified as brand for local 
food movement

Public Health, 
Wirral Council

April 2014 Brand now established.  A company 
called SO-MO was commissioned in 
June 2015 to start to further promote the 
work of Better Food Wirral

Priorities identified as – increase access to 
good food, supporting the local food market to 
thrive, allowing people to make good food 
choices

Public Health, 
Wirral Council

April 2014 Priorities are still relevant- move to look 
at adapting these priorities in different 
settings e.g. hospitals, care homes, 
schools etc.

Steering Group established to influence 
agenda, included on the steering group is the 
sustainability Liaison Officer

Public Health, 
Wirral Council

On going Contract awarded to SO-MO is to 
establish a network to include the 
sustainability officer and to focus on 
developing sustainable cities agenda 
locally.

Work with VCFS such as luncheon clubs, to 
source food locally

Community Action 
Wirral

Great Grove Street ‘eco pie’ harvest event Eco Schools, 
Wirral Council

October 2014 Successful event held.  To be followed 
up October 2015 with an ‘eco pudding’ 
event 

Monthly West Kirby farmers’ market and local 
food newsletter

TTWK Core Group 
& Mellow Yellow

Ongoing Number 
attending 
farmers’ 
market
Number of 
downloads 
of local 
food 
newsletter

Monthly market is progressing
There were 2,870 downloads of the 
newsletter in August 2015. 

Promote local food foraging, seed swaps and 
re-skilling

TTWK Food Group, 
Incredible Edible

Ongoing ongoing



Wirral Climate Change Group – Rolling Action Plan – Version at August 2015  

page 22

Climate Local Commitment  22

Mellow Yellow
Love Food Hate Waste [Campaign objective is 
to get people to reduce the amount of food 
they waste]

MRWA 2012 onwards Tonnes MRWA has been leading and continues 
to lead the region with regards to this 
national campaign. A Waste Composition 
Analysis (2010) identified that 109,000 
tonnes (28%) of food waste was 
disposed in household bins. Another 
analysis to be completed in 2016.

Mersey Munchers Children’s Food 
Trust/MRWA

2015 onwards Tonnes 11 cookery clubs established. Provide 
cooking lessons and offer cascade 
training to the community

Objective 4:05: Develop community cultivation on suitable vacant or 
underutilised land through: asset transfer to create allotments, land 
sharing and cultivation agreements

Justification: Growing demand for allotments has seen new sites 
brought into use - although Wirral still has below average allotment 
provision.  The demand for land for growing might also be met through 
land sharing and cultivation agreements

Action Lead Timescale Measure Progress
Public Health meeting with Local Authority 
colleagues re: better use of allotments and 
green spaces

Public Health, 
Wirral Council

Ongoing Meeting held with colleagues in Asset 
Management.  Meeting needed with 
Parks & Countryside to progress. 

Better Food Wirral Innovation Fund available 
to community groups to promote innovate 
projects such as land sharing etc

Public Health, 
Wirral Council

August 2014 6 community projects funded last year 
under innovation fund, hoping to 
collaborate with Magenta housing to run 
the fund again in 2015.

Seek funding opportunities for tarmac to 
cultivation raised beds project 

Eco Schools, Wirral 
Council

Opportuniti
es 
identified

2 eco gardening courses for co-
ordinators at Wirral Environment Network 
held. Advanced course planned in 
autumn.  

Big Picnic Project in West Wirral distributing 
baskets of seeds and plants for schools and 
community groups to grow, culminating in a 
big picnic at Thurstaston

Eco School, 
Wirral Council

October  2015

Seek to develop council managed land 
situated at Slatey Rd as a teaching centre for 
cultivation for both adults and children.

Wirral Environment 
Network

Contact made with Council asset 
management 

Promote locally grown food through Incredible TTWK Food Group, Ongoing Ongoing



Wirral Climate Change Group – Rolling Action Plan – Version at August 2015  

page 23

Climate Local Commitment  23

Edible, Apple avenue and allotments Incredible Edible, 
Mellow Yellow

Objective 4:06: Create a directory of local food producers and 
promote these through an expo event.

Justification:  If Wirral is to benefit fully from the transition to more local 
and seasonal food system it makes sense to highlight local producers 

Action Lead Timescale Measure Progress
Better Food Wirral to hold four food exchange 
events in September with the idea of 
promoting local community projects and 
creating a network/directory of food producers/ 
suppliers etc

Public Health, 
Wirral Council

September 
2014

Food exchanges are yet to happen but 
the first is planned summer 2015. Focus 
will be around different national events 
e.g. the big lunch, national sandwich 
week.

Investigation by University of Chester 
Students

Invest Wirral,
Wirral Council

Wirral Chamber of Commerce 
relationship managers actively

Monthly West Kirby farmers’ market and local 
food newsletter

TTWK Core Group 
& Mellow Yellow

Ongoing Number 
attending 
farmers’ 
market
Number of 
downloads 
of local 
food 
newsletter

Monthly market is progressing
There were 2,870 downloads of the 
newsletter in August 2015. 

Objective 4:07: Ensure climate change issues are reflected in 
Wirral’s local food programme

Justification: There are many connections between climate and food. 
Our current energy intense food system is a problem for climate pollution 
and changes in the climate will have an impact on food production. The 
creation of a local food programme presents an opportunity to consider 
and address food-related climate issues

Action Lead Timescale Measure Progress
Develop Better Food Wirral network Public Health, 

Wirral Council
Ongoing Contract awarded to SO-MO is to 

establish a network both physically and 
virtually - to include the sustainability 
officer - and to focus on developing 
sustainable cities agenda locally through 
the Better Food Wirral network.

Make the connection between local food and 
the distance (Food miles) that some produce 

MRWA On-going CO2 
emissions

Supported university food technology 
modules



Wirral Climate Change Group – Rolling Action Plan – Version at August 2015  

page 24

Climate Local Commitment  24

travels with respect to carbon emissions

Objective 4:08: Highlight the benefits of reducing consumption of 
meat

Justification:  Meat forms an important part in the nation’s diet.  
However, there are some concerns about excessive meat consumption 
and its consequences.  The energy intensity of dominant meat production 
processes and emissions from ruminant livestock pose some climate 
concerns.

Action Lead Timescale Measure Progress
Highlight links to relevant resources and 
materials via social media and web pages

Wirral Council

Objective 4:09: Bring forward new initiatives - and strengthen 
existing ones - to reduce waste and encourage the re-use of 
materials  

Justification:  The ‘waste hierarchy’ highlights the importance of waste 
reduction and re-use.  

Action Lead Timescale Measure Progress
Use WARP-IT portal to reduce waste of 
surplus trust materials and furniture

CWP NHS Trust Ongoing -

Introduce WARP-IT portal to reduce waste of 
surplus council materials and furniture

Facilities 
management, 
Wirral Council

September 
2015 – 2016

-

Develop school ‘Big Bin’ challenge Eco Schools, Wirral 
Council

July 2016 Number of 
schools 
reducing 
waste 
collection.

Merseyside Textile Forum Events. Partners 
include MRWA, national and local charities 
and local community groups

Merseyside Textile  
Forum

On-going Tonnes Waste Composition Analysis identified 
that 22,000 tonnes (4%) of textiles was 
disposed of in household bins

Promote national ‘Love your clothes’ and 
‘Pass it on’ campaigns that encourage repair 
and re-styling of old clothes. 

MRWA Tonnes

Develop Really Useful Skills Hubs (RUSH) 
across the region. RUSH will include re-use, 
repair and upcycling of unwanted household 
items. A networks of third sector 
organisations, community groups and 
volunteers will come together to swap ideas 

MRWA April 2015 Tonnes A pilot study is in progress to seek 
partners and develop the project



Wirral Climate Change Group – Rolling Action Plan – Version at August 2015  

page 25

Climate Local Commitment  25

and support skills and training opportunities.
To continue to distribute ‘Junk the Junk Mail 
stickers at events and via requests.

MRWA April 2014 Tonnes Unsolicited mail and flyers are resident’s 
biggest pet hate. Stickers are distributed 
at events attended by MRWA

‘Donate and Create Change’ project to utilise 
four community hubs to act as ‘pop up’ charity 
shops to resell donated goods and stop them 
going to landfill 

Community Action 
Wirral

Publishing Wirral recycling directory TTWK core group 
in association with 
Wirral Environment 
Network

Ongoing Ongoing

Wirral Earth Fest focus on not using plastic 
bottles, recycling and activities such as the 
community art project which will reuse plastic 
to make a banner

TTWK core group.  
Mellow Yellow

September 
2015

Uptake of 
water from 
sources 
provided.  
Successful 
recycling

Planning in process

Objective 4:10: Encourage the use of sustainability appraisal to 
ensure climate sensitive decision making and utilise the skills of 
stakeholders in the Wirral Climate Change Group  

Justification:  Concerns were expressed during the consultation process 
that some strategies, plans and decisions are contradictory.  
Sustainability appraisal is a means to check the compatibility of 
strategies, plans and policies with commonly accepted sustainability 
criteria 

Action Lead Timescale Measure Progress

Objective 4:11: Ensure the policies of Wirral’s Core Strategy Local 
Plan (and related supporting documents) that help minimise climate 
pollution are implemented

Justification:  The Local Plan has several policies that can help minimise 
climate pollution.  Some concerns were expressed during the consultation 
that these need to be implemented.

Action Lead Timescale Measure Progress
Progress the Core Strategy Local Plan and 
supporting Supplementary Planning 
Documents to adoption  

Planning, Wirral 
Council

Adoption of 
Core Strategy 
Local Plan and 
SPDs before 
end of 2016. 

Core 
Strategy 
found 
“sound” at 
Examination

Core Strategy at Pre-Submission Stage, 
Scope of SPDs subject to consultation in 
2013



Wirral Climate Change Group – Rolling Action Plan – Version at August 2015  

page 26

Climate Local Commitment  26

Site specific 
Local Plan to 
follow

Goal: Adapt Wirral to unavoidable climate change

Aim 5: Identify risks and vulnerabilities from expected changes and bring forward plans and actions to limit negative impacts and 
improve resilience

Objective 5:01: Develop a co-ordinated adaptation response 
through Wirral’s climate partnership

Justification:  Co-ordinated work on adaptation is less well developed 
than that on mitigation.  It makes sense to utilise the existing partnership 
to develop coordinated adaptation work further.  

Action Lead Timescale Measure Progress
Present results of updated local climate 
impact profile to Wirral Climate Change Group

Sustainability, 
Wirral Council

June 2015 Presentation Updated LCIP was presented in June 
2015

Present emerging Wirral Council Severe 
Weather Action Plan to Wirral Climate 
Change Group

Health, Safety and 
Resilience, Wirral 
Council 

To be 
determined

Presentation

Objective 5:02: Engage key stakeholders in a risk assessment 
process using UKCIP’s adaptation wizard to identify risks, 
vulnerabilities and priority actions 

Justification: One of the key initial steps in any adaptation response is to 
consider existing risks and vulnerabilities. The UK Climate Impacts 
Programme has developed a variety of tools to assist such an 
assessment

Action Lead Timescale Measure Progress
Share updated local climate impacts profile 
with key stakeholders

Sustainability, 
Wirral Council

June 1015 Update 
shared

Updated draft produced. Agenda item for 
June 2015 Wirral Climate Change Group

Develop severe weather plan for Wirral 
Council to manage risks to service disruption 
from severe weather episodes

Health Safety and 
Resilience, Wirral 
Council

August 2015 Plan in 
place

Initial meeting to discuss severe weather 
preparedness held in December 2014 

Promote use of  existing adaptation tools 
through an adaptation event

Sustainability, 
Wirral Council

2016

Consider potential for using the tool as part of 
the Local Plan evidence base

Planning, Wirral 
Council 

Adoption of 
Core Strategy 
Local Plan and 
SPDs before 
end of 2016. 
Site specific 

Core 
Strategy 
found 
“sound” at 
Examination

Core Strategy at Pre-Submission Stage, 
Scope of SPDs subject to consultation in 
2013



Wirral Climate Change Group – Rolling Action Plan – Version at August 2015  

page 27

Climate Local Commitment  27

Local Plan to 
follow

SME engagement Wirral Chamber of 
Commerce

Objective 5:03: Produce community-specific adaptation information Justification:  Climate adaptation requires a response from households, 
business and community organisations. Different communities in Wirral 
may face specific climate-linked challenges.  For example, some may be 
at risk of flood others vulnerable to transport disruption.  The provision of 
community specific information should help encourage an appropriate 
adaptation response. 

Action Lead Timescale Measure Progress
Maintain and develop the Climate & Health 
content in Wirral JSNA

Public Health / 
Sustainability, 
Wirral Council

On going
Bi-annual

JSNA 
section is 
updated 
periodically 
based upon 
contribution
s and 
active 
involvemen
t of Climate 
Change 
Strategy 
Group and 
others

Current JSNA Climate & Health content 
update complete and re-published 

Implement the CLASP funded Wirral Resilient 
Parks project to survey five sites with existing 
weather impacts in order to develop potential 
alternative management regimes that might be 
applied more widely in anticipation of further 
impacts from climate change

Parks & 
Countryside, Wirral 
Council

March 2015 Five sites reviewed
Friends groups involved.
Project report completed and 
disseminated

Develop schools climate convention workshop 
linked to Resilient Parks project

Eco Schools
Wirral Council

December 
2014

Workshop held.  St Alban’s and Heswall 
Primary took park in Resilient Parks 
session



Wirral Climate Change Group – Rolling Action Plan – Version at August 2015  

page 28

Climate Local Commitment  28

Objective 5:04: Promote awareness of the links between climate 
change and health so that local health planning takes climate issues 
into account

Justification: Anticipated unavoidable changes in the climate will have 
implications for health and health provision.  The links between health 
and climate change and the need for action in these areas were both 
highlighted in the strategy consultation.

Action Lead Timescale Measure Progress
Maintain and develop the Climate & Health 
content in Wirral JSNA

Public Health / 
Sustainability, 
Wirral Council

Ongoing
Bi-annual

JSNA 
section is 
updated 
periodically 
based upon 
contribution
s and 
active 
involvemen
t of Climate 
Change 
Strategy 
Group and 
others

Current JSNA Climate & Health content 
update complete and re-published

Objective 5:05: Promote the use of porous materials in gardens, 
driveways and landscaping schemes and the use of green roofs and 
walls in buildings to limit run-off, provide shade and ameliorate 
temperatures

Justification: ‘Hard’ impermeable building and surfacing materials can 
speed rainfall run-off so contributing to flooding. Such materials can also 
store heat energy contributing to an ‘urban heat island’ effect where 
urban areas become hotter than the surrounding rural hinterland.    
Alternative porous surfaces and ‘living’ structures that incorporate plant 
life can help reduce these problems.  Planning regulations already cover 
use of impermeable materials for paving over front gardens. 
From April 2015 the Government requires that Local Planning Authorities 
ensure that for developments of 10 dwellings or more; or equivalent non-
residential or mixed development, sustainable drainage systems for the 
management of run-off are put in place, unless demonstrated to be 
inappropriate.

Action Lead Timescale Measure Progress
Implement the new requirements for 
Sustainable Drainage Systems in new 
developments

Planning, Wirral 
Council

From April 
2015

On-going



Wirral Climate Change Group – Rolling Action Plan – Version at August 2015  

page 29

Climate Local Commitment  29

Objective 5:06: Promote water saving practices and the use of 
rainwater harvesting systems

Justification:  The importance of water saving was highlighted through 
the consultation process. With longer dry spells and the potential for 
drought anticipated, there is a need to adopt water saving practices.  
Rainwater harvesting systems can reduce demand for mains supplied 
water and divert rainfall to storage during periods of intense rain.

Action Lead Timescale Measure Progress
Promote water saving as part of eco schools 
review

Lynne Struve, Eco 
Schools

Incorporate findings of Wirral Water Cycle 
study 2013 into Planning Policies in Core 
Strategy Local Plan and guidance in 
Supplementary Planning Documents as 
appropriate

Planning, Wirral 
Council

Adoption of 
Core Strategy 
Local Plan and 
SPDs before 
end of 2016. 
Site specific 
Local Plan to 
follow

Core 
Strategy 
found 
“sound” at 
Examination

Core Strategy at Pre-Submission Stage, 
Scope of SPDs subject to consultation in 
2013

Annual school leak detection programme Sustainability,
Wirral Council

Annual – 
summertime

Objective 5:07: Raise awareness of the role of the natural 
environment in combating adverse impacts in order to support 
investment in Wirral’s green infrastructure and green and open 
spaces strategies

Justification: Local green infrastructure and parks and open spaces 
strategies have an important role to play in local adaptation to a changing 
climate.  Green and blue ‘infrastructure’ (e.g. gardens, parks, verges, 
trees and hedges; ponds, lakes, rivers and streams) provide a range 
‘services’ important in climate adaptation (e.g. managing flooding by 
reducing surface runoff, providing natural storage and slowing water 
movement; and managing temperatures through evaporative cooling and 
shade).  

Action Lead Timescale Measure Progress
Planning Policies in Core Strategy Local Plan 
and guidance in Supplementary Planning 
Documents to provide guidance to plan 
positively for the creation, protection, 
enhancement and management of networks of 
biodiversity and green infrastructure 

Planning, Wirral 
Council

Adoption of 
Core Strategy 
Local Plan and 
SPDs before 
end of 2016. 
Site specific 
Local Plan to 

Core 
Strategy 
found 
“sound” at 
Examination 

Core Strategy at Pre-Submission 
Stage, Scope of SPDs subject to 
consultation in 2013



Wirral Climate Change Group – Rolling Action Plan – Version at August 2015  

page 30

Climate Local Commitment  30

follow

Objective 5:08: Seek funding to extend Wirral Green Streets-type 
projects in the east of Wirral

Justification:  The east of Wirral is less well served with ‘green 
infrastructure’ than other parts of the borough.  The Wirral Green Streets 
programme has seen major investment in street trees helping to address 
this imbalance.

Action Lead Timescale Measure Progress

Objective 5:09: Run a campaign to promote engagement with the 
Environment Agency’s ‘Climate Ready’ programme

Justification:  The climate ready programme, led by the Environment 
Agency, provides advice and support to the public, private and voluntary 
sectors to enable them to adapt to the changing climate

Action Lead Timescale Measure Progress
SME engagement regarding programme.  Wirral Chamber of 

Commerce
To be 
determined

Highlight ‘Climate Ready’ support via social 
media 

Sustainability
Wirral Council

To be 
determined

Objective 5:10: Develop community capacity to respond to weather 
events. 

Justification:  Communities can be more resilient to extreme weather if 
they can harness resources from within the community to help prepare 
for, respond to and recover from such weather events.  Building 
community capacity promotes self-help in ways that complement 
responses from local agencies and emergency services. 

Action Lead Timescale Measure Progress
Develop Wirral Emergency Volunteers 
scheme

Health Safety and 
Resilience, Wirral 
Council

Ongoing Scheme established

Objective 5:11: Create a directory of local firms that provide goods 
and services that help with adapting to climate change and promote 
them at an expo event

Justification: If Wirral is to benefit fully from investment in adaptation it 
makes sense to highlight local providers of good and services that may 
help producers

Action Lead Timescale Measure Progress
Investigation by University of Chester students Sustainability

Wirral Council
Survey undertaken but limited response

Building capacity for action in support of both goals



Wirral Climate Change Group – Rolling Action Plan – Version at August 2015  

page 31

Climate Local Commitment  31

Aim 6: Building capacity for action by strengthening local networks and partnerships and by developing wider awareness and 
education initiatives

Objective 6:01: Create an independent Cool Wirral Partnership from 
the Wirral Climate Change Group  

Justification:  It is important that the strategy is seen to be a strategy for 
Wirral, not a Wirral Council strategy.  The existing climate change group 
has evolved over time from an internal council officer group to a wider 
forum with representatives from various groups.  The further evolution of 
the group into an appropriately constituted partnership appears to be a 
logical next step consistent with fostering wider ownership.  Such a move 
could also present new opportunities to develop action.

Action Lead Timescale Measure Progress
Consult on future direction and format of 
Wirral Climate Change Group

Building Services 
and Sustainability, 
Wirral Council

Autumn 2016 Report 
identifying 
options for 
development

Objective 6:02: Develop a Cool Wirral campaign to promote the 
desirability of climate actions and gather pledges in support of the 
strategy from individuals and from organisations in the public, 
private, voluntary, community and faith sectors

Justification: The success of the climate change strategy rests on its 
uptake more widely across Wirral.  A local ‘carbon reduction’ pledge 
campaign (CRed Wirral) has previously been developed, but the system 
upon which it was based is no longer supported.  There is an opportunity 
to build on work undertaken on the CRed Wirral campaign in support of 
the wider strategy.

Action Lead Timescale Measure Progress
Develop Cool Wirral ‘brand’ for online media Sustainability, 

Wirral Council
October 2014 Logo, web 

banners, and 
social media 
styles 
developed  

Logo developed for twitter and project 
dirt profiles.  Banners developed for 
web site but not implemented

Maintain @CoolWirral twitter feed Sustainability, 
Wirral Council

Ongoing Monthly 
number of 
follows 

Transition from @credwirral to 
@coolwirral complete.  Average of 41 
extra followers each month during 
2014/15 

Establish ‘Cool Wirral’ web presence building 
on material developed for CRed Wirral 
campaign

Sustainability, 
Wirral Council

January 2015 Web 
presence 
established.  
Statistics 
collected via 

Cool Wirral pages included at:
www.wirral.gov.uk/coolwirral 
Limited content and functionality.  
Current moves to revise council website 
likely to cut further content.  Alternative 

http://www.wirral.gov.uk/coolwirral


Wirral Climate Change Group – Rolling Action Plan – Version at August 2015  

page 32

Climate Local Commitment  32

Google 
analytics

options under discussion.

Develop content for Cool Wirral group on 
‘Project Dirt’ networking website

Sustainability, 
Wirral Council

Ongoing Number of 
group 
members

Agree final Wirral climate strategy Sustainability, 
Wirral Council

July 2014 Final version 
agreed

Final strategy agreed by Wirral Climate 
Change Group July 2014

Seek endorsement of final Wirral climate 
strategy

Sustainability, 
Wirral Council

Autumn 2014 Climate strategy endorsed by Wirral 
Council

Develop and implement launch programme for 
Wirral climate strategy

Sustainability, 
Wirral Council

Winter 
2014/Spring 
2015

Launch 
programme 
implemented

Launch events held and press release 
issued December 2014

Promote Cool Wirral team in national Big 
Energy Race 2015

Community Action 
Wirral 

February 
2015-April 
2015

Cool Wirral team came third on the 
national leader board and was second 
in the region to the ultimate national 
winner

Seek funding to develop climate-related work 
with faith communities in Wirral

Faiths4Change July 2016 Funding 
secured

Objective 6:03: Develop a network in support of Cool (building on 
existing networks) and provide opportunities for interaction between 
participants through an e-bulletin, social media and public events 

Justification:  The success of the climate change strategy rests on its 
uptake more widely across Wirral. Growing a supportive network and 
using this to share information and learning is seen as an important 
foundation for encouraging action. Electronic communication, social 
media and face-to-face meetings all have a part to play

Action Lead Timescale Measure Progress
Establish and maintain general Cool Wirral 
mailing list

Sustainability, 
Wirral Council

SME engagement Wirral Chamber of 
Commerce

Organise a ‘Cool Yule’ Christmas event linked 
with strategy launch activities

Eco Schools/ 
Sustainability, 
Wirral Council

December 
2014

Cool Yule launch event held

Transition Town West Kirby lecture series on 
energy and climate change

TTWK Energy 
Group

June 2015 and  
ongoing

Numbers 
attending 
event

Organise Festi-velo as part of Festival of Firsts TTWK Core Group July 2014
July 2015

Number 
participating 

2014 event 130 cyclists took part
2015 event 200 cyclists took part

Wirral Earth Fest TTWK Core group 10-12th This year’s Earth Fest is in its planning 



Wirral Climate Change Group – Rolling Action Plan – Version at August 2015  

page 33

Climate Local Commitment  33

and Mellow Yellow 
in partnership with 
St Bridget’s Church

September 
2015

phase

Collaboration with Sustrans/Wirral Bike Hubs 
at Wirral Earth Fest

TTWK Core Group 12th 
September 
2015

Objective 6:04: Encourage the formation of low carbon 
communities/transition towns-type groups to promote climate action 
at community level with at least one group in each constituency 
committee area

Justification:  Community led ‘Transition town’ and low carbon 
community-type groups have been set up around the country and are 
often at the forefront of local climate initiatives.   Not all parts of Wirral 
have such groups in place.  The consultation flagged up the need to 
support the formation of such groups in different parts of the Wirral.

Action Lead Timescale Measure Progress
Provide infrastructure support to new groups Community Action 

Wirral
Develop Transition Town West Kirby activities TTWK core group 

and all subgroups
Ongoing Ongoing

Objective 6:05: Develop a network of exemplar eco buildings 
including examples of different building types with at least one 
Superhome in each constituency committee area and promote ‘open 
house’-type events   

Justification:   Visible and accessible examples of good practice can 
provide a powerful catalyst for wider change.  The consultation 
workshops identified exemplar eco buildings as having an important role 
to play.

Action Lead Timescale Measure Progress
Identify and promote existing exemplar 
buildings

Ongoing Exemplar 
buildings 
identified

One ‘Superhome’ has been identified

Seek opportunities to develop new exemplar 
buildings

Objective 6:06: Expand the number of good practice case studies 
on-line and encourage connections between organisations in 
different parts of the borough to spread good practice and avoid 
‘reinventing the wheel’

Justification:  There are already a number of examples of good practice 
and associated experience although this practice is not always visible.  
The importance of showcasing good practice and sharing experience to 
help avoid reinventing the wheel was a common theme to emerge in 
workshop discussions

Action Lead Timescale Measure Progress



Wirral Climate Change Group – Rolling Action Plan – Version at August 2015  

page 34

Climate Local Commitment  34

Establish case studies section as part of ‘Cool 
Wirral’ web presence utilising material  
collected for CRed Wirral campaign and  
updating to include new examples

Building Services 
and Sustainability, 
Wirral Council

January 2015 Web 
presence 
established.  
Statistics 
collected via 
Google 
analytics

Planned revisions to council website 
will limit the opportunity to use this 
platform. Alternative options for web 
presence are under discussion.

Objective 6:07: Develop climate change-related resources to 
support local ‘eco’ work in schools

Justification:  Wirral has a successful eco schools programme.  This 
presents an opportunity to engage school communities in climate related-
action and learning

Action Lead Timescale Measure Progress
Develop ‘Cool Science’ resources Eco Schools

Wirral Council
July 2016

Objective 6:08: Develop leading schools and community buildings 
as hubs for wider community learning on climate change

Justification:  Schools and community buildings (often run by 
community or faith groups) can act as hubs for wider community learning.  
They thus present an opportunity to facilitate wider learning on climate 
change and the actions which can be taken

Action Lead Timescale Measure Progress
Run school climate workshops as part of 
strategy launch activities to initiate school 
projects linked to strategy themes

Eco Schools
Wirral Council

December 
2016

Event held
Number of 
schools 
involved

Workshop held on 10th December as 
part of launch programme.  Topics 
covered included energy efficiency 
(LED lighting); adaptation (resilient 
parks, coastal management); 
renewable energy (scope for solar PV); 
waste reduction (composting and waste 
electrical equipment)

Hold school climate convention at which 
schools taking part in the climate workshops 
will share their projects and lead activities with 
other schools

Eco Schools
Wirral Council

July 2015 Event held Event held

Utilise the CAW community shops in Prenton, 
Overchurch, West Kirby and Bromborough

Community Action 
Wirral



WIRRAL COUNCIL
AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE
8 JUNE 2015

SUBJECT: ANNUAL REPORT AUDIT AND RISK 
MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

WARD/S AFFECTED: ALL

REPORT OF: CHIEF INTERNAL AUDITOR

KEY DECISION ?  NO

1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
1.1 To comply with best professional practice the Audit and Risk Management 

Committee is required to complete an annual report to Cabinet on the work 
undertaken by the Audit and Risk Management Committee.

1.2 Attached at Appendix A is the Annual Report prepared by the Chair in 
consultation with Internal Audit.

2.0 BACKGROUND AND KEY ISSUES
2.1 The Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG) issued 

amended regulations in 2006, to the 2003 Accounts and Audit Regulations – 
‘The Accounts and Audit (Amendment) (England) Regulations 2006.

2.2 One of the amended regulations impacts on the process for preparing the 
Statement of Internal Control (SIC) which is subsumed within the Annual 
Governance Statement (AGS) and relates specifically to the systems of 
internal audit in operation. This is:-

 Regulation 6 requires bodies to regularly review their system of internal 
audit, and for the findings to be considered by a committee of the body, 
or by the body as a whole.

2.3 Advice from CIPFA includes the assertion that the “systems of internal audit” 
can be considered to include the role and effectiveness of the Audit 
Committee which therefore should be assessed and evaluated.

2.4 To assist Councils in this evaluation exercise CIPFA has provided a self 
assessment checklist and recommended that this be completed annually by 
the Committee.

2.5 An annual report for 2014/15 has been prepared by the Chair in consultation 
with Internal Audit and is attached at Appendix A for consideration and 
approval by the Members.



3.0 RELEVANT RISKS 
3.1 Potential failure of the Audit and Risk Management Committee to comply with 

best professional practice and thereby not function in an efficient and effective 
manner.

4.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
4.1 No other options considered.

5.0 CONSULTATION
5.1 Members of this Committee have been consulted throughout the process 

regarding the content of the annual report and their views are reflected in the 
final document attached.

6.0 IMPLICATIONS FOR VOLUNTARY, COMMUNITY AND FAITH GROUPS
6.1 There are none arising from this report.

7.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: FINANCIAL; IT; STAFFING; AND ASSETS 
7.1 There are none arising from this report.

8.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
8.1 There are none arising from this report.

9.0 EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS
9.1 Has the potential impact of your proposal(s) been reviewed with regard to 

equality?

(b) No because there is no relevance to equality.

10.0 CARBON REDUCTION IMPLICATIONS 
10.1 There are none arising from this report.

11.0 PLANNING AND COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS
11.1 There are none arising from this report.

12.0 RECOMMENDATION
12.1. That the Annual Report be approved by Cabinet.

13.0 REASON FOR RECOMMENDATION
13.1 To comply with best practice identified in the CIPFA publication ‘A Toolkit for 

Local Authority Audit Committees’.



REPORT AUTHOR: Mark P Niblock
Chief Internal Auditor
telephone:  0151 666 3432
email:   markniblock@wirral.gov.uk

APPENDICES
Audit and Risk Management Committee Annual Report 2014/15

REFERENCE MATERIAL
CIPFA Publication ‘A Toolkit for Local Authority Audit Committees’

SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)

Council Meeting Date

Audit and Risk Management Committee Annual Report





1

APPENDIX A

AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT 
COMMITTEE

ANNUAL REPORT 2014/15

Councillor J Crabtree, Chair
Councillor R Abbey, Vice-Chair



2

AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE: 

ANNUAL REPORT 2014/15

C O N T E N T S Page

1. FOREWORD      3

2. BACKGROUND      4

2.1 What drives Governance Policy      4

2.2 Why do we need an Audit Committee      5

2.3 What does the Audit Committee do      6

2.4 How do officers support the Committee      7

3. 2014/15 FINANCIAL YEAR      8

4. SOME KEY INFORMATION     8

4.1. Audit and Risk Management Committee Membership      8

4.2. Key features of the Audit Committee and its operation      8

4.3. Meetings and attendance      9

5. CORE ACTIVITY 2014/15      9

5.1. Terms of Reference      9

5.2. Number & Type of Reports Considered by Committee     12

6. OTHER ACTIVITIES     12

7. OUTCOMES     13

8. PLANS FOR 2015/16     13

9. APPENDIX 1:       

ARM COMMITTEE – TERMS OF REFERENCE    15



3

1. FOREWORD 

By the Chairman of the Audit & Risk Management Committee 2014/15

Councillor Jim Crabtree

I am pleased to present the Audit and Risk Management Committee’s 
Annual Report. It records our progress in providing the degree of 
independence, questioning, and thoroughness required across a wide 
range of control and corporate governance matters 

During the year, the Committee met on seven occasions and received 
reports in connection with the full range of issues that fall within our 
remit.

This report indicates the breadth of the Audit and Risk Management 
Committee’s work in ensuring that every aspect of the council’s work 
should be compliant with standards and transparent to its stakeholders. 
Increasingly, the Committee is receiving report on items such as the 
new Public Sector Internal Audit Standards which ensure that we are 
being kept up to date on recent internal audit developments as well as 
dealing with relevant council business. I believe that this Annual Report 
demonstrates our value to the Council and the public in ensuring that 
improvements to the governance of the authority are being delivered.

As Chair, I believe that the Audit and Risk Management Committee has 
provided a valuable contribution to the development of standards and 
protocols across a wide range of governance areas during what has 
been a challenging year and has proved its worth in helping to ensure 
that these are implemented across the Council in an effective and 
compliant way.

Looking forward the Council is facing a period of unprecedented 
change and transformation regarding how services are delivered in 
order to continue to achieve the required budget savings and comply 
with new statutory requirements. The need to maintain effective 
controls and standards in our public services is vital and I believe that a 
strong Audit and Risk Management Committee is essential to ensure 
that the Council achieves its objectives effectively in these areas. It is 
my intention in the future that the Audit and Risk Management 
Committee will operate in a more proactive manner regarding risks to 
the organisation, in conjunction with officers, identifying key risks and 
ensuring that appropriate actions are taken in direct response to these 
in a timely manner.

Finally, I would like to acknowledge the sterling work of the Members of 
the Audit and Risk Management Committee and the supporting 
officers, during the past year. 



4

2. BACKGROUND

2.1 What drives Governance Policy? 

The Council is responsible for ensuring that its business is conducted 
in accordance with the law and proper standards, and that public 
money is safeguarded, properly accounted for, and used economically, 
efficiently and effectively. In discharging this overall responsibility, the 
Council is also responsible for ensuring that there is a sound system of 
control which facilitates the effective exercise of the Council’s functions 
and which includes arrangements for the management of risk.

Effective corporate governance is a fundamental feature of any 
successful public sector organisation. Corporate governance initially 
became a major issue after several high profile failures in the private 
sector, such as Enron and Worldcom. As a result there were several 
reviews, the Cadbury and Hempel Committees for example, directed at 
improving governance specifically in the private sector.

The trend for strengthening governance arrangements then spread 
from the private sector to the public sector and resulted in the joint 
Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA)/Society 
of Local Authority Chief Executives (SOLACE) document Delivering 
Good Governance in Local Government - a Framework. The 
Framework was structured around the six core principles found in the 
Good Governance Standard for Public Services drawn up by an 
independent commission established by CIPFA, the Office for Public 
Management (OPM) and the Joseph Rowntree Foundation.

A sound corporate governance framework involves accountability to 
service users, stakeholders and the wider community, within which 
authorities take decisions, and lead and control their functions, to 
achieve their objectives. It thereby provides an opportunity to 
demonstrate the positive elements of an authority's business and to 
promote public confidence.

Wirral Council has adopted the revised local Code of Corporate 
Governance based on the following six core principles which underpin 
and define the meaning of good governance:

(i) Focussing on the purpose of the authority and on outcomes for 
the community and creating and implementing a vision for the 
local area;

(ii) Members and officers working together to achieve a common 
purpose with clearly defined functions and roles;

(iii) Promoting the values of the authority and demonstrating the 
values of good governance through behaviour;



5

(iv) Taking informed and transparent decisions that are subject to 
effective scrutiny and managing risk;

(v) Developing the capacity and capability of Members to be
effective and ensuring that officers, including statutory officers, 
also have the capability and capacity to deliver effectively; and,

(vi) Engaging with local people and other stakeholders to ensure 
robust local public accountability.

2.2 Why do we need an Audit Committee ?

While there is no statutory obligation to have such an arrangement, 
Audit Committees are widely recognised as a core component of 
effective governance and therefore reflect good practice. Wirral’s Audit 
and Risk Management Committee is properly constituted and, as such, 
is given sufficient authority and resources by the Council. In effect, the 
Committee has the right to obtain all the information it considers 
necessary and to consult directly with senior managers. In line with 
best practice from both the public and private sectors, the Audit and 
Risk Management Committee can report its observations and concerns 
directly to the Council.

A local authority has a duty to ensure that it is fulfilling its responsibility 
for adequate and effective internal control, risk management, and 
governance, as well as the economy, efficiency and effectiveness of its 
activities. The Audit and Risk Management Committee has a key role in 
overseeing and assessing the internal control, risk management, and 
corporate governance arrangements and advising the Council on the 
adequacy and effectiveness of these arrangements.

Good corporate governance requires independent, effective assurance 
about the adequacy of financial management and of management 
arrangements for achieving the organisation's objectives. These 
responsibilities require an independent and challenging approach. 
Through these mechanisms, Committee Members are able to use their 
skills and experiences to influence the council’s governance, internal 
control processes, and risk management arrangements.

An effective committee can bring many benefits to the Council 
including: 

• increasing public confidence in the objectivity and fairness of financial
and other reporting;

• providing additional assurance through a process of independent and
objective scrutiny;

• raising awareness of the need for internal control and the



6

implementation of audit recommendations; and,

• reinforcing the importance and independence of internal audit

2.3 What does an Audit Committee do ?

The Audit and Risk Management Committee’s main responsibilities are 
to oversee the Council’s corporate governance arrangements, the work 
of internal audit, and the Council’s response to external audit and other 
external inspections.

This purpose is reflected in the committee’s terms of reference which 
are reviewed and adopted each year (Attached at Appendix 1).

The committee advises the Council on all matters relating to its 
corporate governance. In doing so, the committee receives scheduled 
reports on the following matters:

• reviewing the operation and compliance with the Council’s Code of
Corporate Governance and making recommendations on its content;

• keeping the Council's Anti-Fraud and Corruption Policy under review 
and making recommendations to the Council on the content and 
operation of that Policy;

• reviewing and approving the Annual Governance Statement and 
ensuring that;

 they properly reflect the risk environment;
 there is reliable evidence to support the disclosures made; and,
 that any necessary improvement actions are being taken;

•  approving the annual Statement of Accounts;

• receiving and reviewing the External Auditor’s opinion on the 
Statement of Accounts, and monitoring management’s responses to 
the issues raised by external audit;

• overseeing internal audit’s operations, in particular:

 receiving any internal audit strategies, codes of practice, audit 
plans, and considering progress against such plans as necessary;

 receiving the Annual Report on Counter-fraud and Internal Audit
Activities;

 reviewing the progress and adequacy of management’s response 
to internal audit’s recommendations, and matters arising from the   

 internal audit reports; and,



7

•  receiving the External Auditor’s Annual Audit Letter, Audit Plans, and 
any other reports and significant matters deemed necessary by the 
External Auditor;

•  reviewing the progress and adequacy of management’s response to
external audit recommendations;

• reviewing the progress and adequacy of management’s response to
matters arising from external inspection reports;

•  receiving reports on the monitoring and review of risk management, 
in
order to consider the effectiveness of arrangements;

•  monitoring the council’s use of its powers under the Regulation of
Investigatory Powers Act 2000.

2.4. How do Officers Support the Committee?

The Audit and Risk Management Committee is supported by:

• The Strategic Director for Transformation and Resources who has 
overall responsibility for the arrangements in this area;

• The Monitoring Officer who is required by law to ensure that the 
Council acts within its legal powers at all times; and,

• The Director of Resources, as Section 151 Officer who is responsible 
under the law for ensuring the proper administration of the council’s 
financial affairs.

• The Chief Internal Auditor who has a key role to play in supporting the 
Committee because of the importance of the Internal Audit
service to governance. 

• Any other officer of the Council as required. 



8

3. 2014/15 FINANCIAL YEAR

This Annual Report for 2014/15 produced by the Audit and Risk Management 
Committee has been prepared in accordance with the CIPFA best practice 
publication ‘A Toolkit for Local Authority Audit Committees’. The report 
demonstrates how the Audit and Risk Management Committee has fulfilled its 
terms of reference during a very difficult year and how it is fully committed to 
helping to improve the Council’s governance and control environments during 
what should prove to be a very challenging year ahead.

The committee’s activities during 2014/15 were designed to make a positive 
contribution to the continual improvement of governance arrangements across 
the Council, as well as performing the statutory roles as identified in the 
Constitution.

4. SOME KEY INFORMATION

4.1. Audit and Risk Management Committee Membership

The Audit and Risk Management Committee has 9 Members:

Councillor Jim Crabtree - Chair
Councillor Ron Abbey - Vice-Chair
Councillor John Hale - Spokesperson 
Councillor Stuart Kelly - Spokesperson
Councillor David M Elderton
Councillor Paul Doughty
Councillor Joe Walsh
Councillor Mathew Patrick
Councillor Adam Sykes

4.2. Key Features of the Audit Committee and its Operation

The Committee meets CIPFA’s definition of best practice as illustrated below:

Best 
Practice    

Expectation Met Comment

Independence Independent from 
the executive and 
scrutiny

√ The Committee reports to the  Council

Number of
Members

3 to 5 members √ The Committee has 9
Members

Number of
meetings

Aligned to 
business needs

√ The frequency of meetings, 5 times a 
year complies with best practice.

Co-option To be considered 
relative to skills

√ Training is currently provided to
increase Members’ skills, an evaluation 
of the adequacy and effectiveness of 
this is currently being conducted and 



9

appropriate actions will be taken to 
address any shortcomings in due 
course.

Terms of
Reference

Accord with 
suggested
best practice

√ The Committee has adopted
the CIPFA recommended model.

Skills and
training

Members have
sufficient skills for 
the
job

√ General and specific training is
provided to increase Members’
skills, an evaluation of the adequacy 
and effectiveness of this is conducted 
annually and actions to address any 
shortcomings.

4.3. Meetings and Attendance

The Audit Committee normally meets 5 times per year in January, March, 
June, September and November. 

Attendance by Members and approved deputies was over 90%.

5. CORE ACTIVITY 2014/15

5.1. Terms of Reference

The Audit and Risk Management Committee’s Terms of Reference are 
comprehensive, cover all main areas and are attached at Appendix 1 to this 
annual report. The Committee’s work and outcomes in each of its areas of 
responsibility are summarised in the following subsections.

Internal Audit

The Audit and Risk Management Committee:

• Approved the Chief Internal Auditor’s Strategic Audit Plan,
• Considered regular reports produced by the Chief Internal Auditor,

highlighting internal audit work completed, internal audit performance
against key indicators and any significant issues arising during the period,

• Approved amendments to the reporting arrangements to Members 
including development of the summary reports from Internal Audit,

• Considered the Chief Internal Auditor’s Annual Report and assurance 
opinion on the Council’s control environment,

• Considered reviews of the effectiveness of the systems of internal audit,
• Ensured internal and external audit plans were complementary and

provided optimum use of the total audit resource,
• Received updates on the Internal Audit Counter Fraud Teams’ remit and 

activities undertaken,
• Received regular detailed updates on progress towards delivering Internal



10

Audit’s Improvement Plan, which is designed to increase overall efficiency
and effectiveness of systems of Internal Audit across the Council,

• Received and considered implications of the introduction of the first UK
Public Sector Internal Audit Standards,

• Considered reports on audit investigations conducted,
• Considered and approved revisions to Chief Internal Auditors Audit Plan,

We continue to provide support to the Internal Audit service to ensure 
management is responsive to recommendations made and agreed.

External Audit

The Audit and Risk Management Committee:

• Considered the external auditor’s Audit Plan,
• Considered progress against the plan presented by the external auditor
• Received and considered all external audit findings and inspection reports

issued in the year and considered management’s response to them,
ensuring robust and thorough responses,

• Reviewed the external audit Committee Update reports and took 
appropriate actions in response to issues presented,

• Reviewed the Council’s progress on all external audit and inspection
recommendations on a regular basis and asked managers to explain
progress where appropriate, thereby holding them to account,

• Received and considered all of the external auditors reports on the 
Merseyside Pension Fund,

• Considered the external auditor’s Annual Audit Letter,

We continue to provide support to external audit to ensure management is
responsive to recommendations made and agreed.

Risk Management

The Audit and Risk Management Committee:
• Considered regular reports on the Departmental and Corporate Risk 

Registers,
• Promoted risk management across the Council,
• Considered reports on Corporate Risk and Insurance Management,
• Considered a report on the revised Corporate Risk Management Policy 

and the management of risk and endorsed the policy.

We continue to provide support to promote effective Risk Management policy 
and procedures across the Council and ensure best practice is achieved. 

Internal Control and Governance

The Audit and Risk Management Committee:

• Agreed the Council’s Annual Governance Statement and action plans



11

to improve identified weaknesses,
• Supported the development of a Mersey region Counter Fraud Group,
• Engaged with and supported the Counter Fraud Awareness Week 

initiative,
• Supported work undertaken as part of the Audit Commission’s National 

Fraud Initiative,
• Considered and supported amendments to the Council’s counter fraud 

arrangements,
• Considered a report on HR Policies Update,
• Considered a report on Officers Decision Notices permitted under the 

Councils Contract Procedure Rules,
• Agreed to undertake skills assessments for Members and introduce an

appropriate training programme for Committee Members and deputies,
• Approved the updated Audit and Risk Management Committee self

assessment checklist.

The Annual Governance Statement is a key document which summarises the
Council’s governance arrangements and the effectiveness of the
arrangements during the year.

Accounts

The Audit and Risk Management Committee:

• Agreed the Council’s accounting policies,
• Agreed the Annual Statement of Accounts,
• Received and considered the external auditor’s report on the accounts,

and ensured that the Council responded to the auditor’s comments,
• Agreed the annual Merseyside Pension Funds accounts,
• Agreed the Merseyside Pension Fund’s Annual Governance Statement 

and action plans to improve identified weaknesses,
• Received and reviewed reports on the Insurance Fund Budget and 

Annual Report.
• Considered a report on the Grant Claims and Returns Certification

The Audit and Risk Management Committee received regular reports on the 
Council’s Treasury Management arrangements in the context of the economic 
downturn.

Specific Issues

The Audit and Risk Management Committee also considered reports and 
presentations on the following specific issues which arose in the period:

• Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000,
• Insurance arrangements and performance,
• Contract Extension reports (x2)
• Business Investment Grant and Intensive Start Up Scheme Investigation.



12

To give a flavour of our business during the year, the following shows the
types and numbers of reports considered between April 2014 and March 
2015:

5.2. Numbers & Types of Reports Considered by the Audit Committee

8

10

11

8

5

External Audit (8)

Internal Audit (10)

Risk Management (11)

Governance (8)

Financial Management 
and Others (7)

6. OTHER ACTIVITIES

During the year, the Committee demonstrated its commitment to good 
governance by:

i) Authorising amendments to the draft Annual Governance 
Statement.

ii) Arranging special meetings and devoting significant resource to 
addressing governance issues arising.

iii) Referring several matters to Cabinet for attention.

iv) Asking Chief Officers to attend as appropriate and present reports 
on issues identified which affected governance. 

7. OUTCOMES

The Audit and Risk Management Committee aims to focus on adding value 
through its activity. By concentrating on outcomes the Committee can identify 
the benefits of its work. In particular this year the Committee:

• Oversaw work on the Statement of Accounts, 
• Encouraged and presided over a strengthening of the control 

environment, specifically by overseeing various targeted reviews and the 
production of the Annual Governance Statement,



13

• Presided over significant changes in the structure of the organisation 
including officers with statutory responsibilities to ensure the proper 
administration of financial affairs and systems of internal control,

• Encouraged and presided over significant developments and 
improvements to strengthen the delivery of the Internal Audit service, 
including the implementation of a detailed improvement plan for the 
delivery of the internal audit service,

• Received reports which showed how improvements had been planned,
and delivered, to the Statement Of Accounts,

• Encouraged and presided over a strengthening of the Council’s 
information governance specifically by overseeing various targeted 
reviews and ensuing improvements.
and delivered, to the Statement Of Accounts,

• Encouraged a strengthening of the Council’ control environment,
specifically by overseeing various targeted reviews and the production 
of and challenge to the Annual Governance Statement,

In addition, individual Members and the Audit Committee collectively
continued to develop and learn about our roles, and deliver these roles
effectively.

8. PLANS FOR 2015/16

During 2014/15 the Audit and Risk Management Committee has consolidated 
the progress that has been made in previous years, and going forward will 
look to develop further and become the recognised champion of good 
governance for the Council, helping to address any identified issues in what 
promises to be a very challenging and difficult environment. Our priorities for 
2015/16 are to continue to meet our duties as specified in the Constitution by 
developing and building on our current status as well as responding to and 
implementing any requirements arising out the new Public Sector Internal 
Auditing Standards and the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014. For 
2015/16 we will: 

• Continue to develop the Wirral Council Audit and Risk Management 
Committee to review all governance issues identified,

• Develop the proactive nature of the Committee to facilitate actions by 
officers to ensure that risks are identified earlier in the process and 
remedial actions taken in a more timely fashion in response,

• Oversee the restructuring required of the Audit and Risk Management 
Committee to comply fully with the requirements of the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014,

• Continue to drive up standards and meet the demanding requirements
of the external inspection and assessment regime,

• Continue to review all governance arrangements to ensure the Council
adopts the very latest best practice,

• Continue to support the work of Internal and External Audit and ensure
appropriate responses are given to their recommendations,



14

• Ensure we maintain and further improve our standards in relation to the
production of accounts,

• Oversee the implementation of the Public Sector Internal Auditing 
Standards,

• Continue to help the Council to manage the risk of fraud and corruption,
• Continue to develop the Wirral Council Audit and Risk Management 

Committee to review risk and partnerships’ issues and safeguard public 
sector interests,

• Oversee the development of audit plans to evaluate and test controls in 
operation over integrated systems such as Public Health,

• Equip existing and any new Members to fulfil our responsibilities by
providing more detailed and effective training on all key areas of 
responsibility including financial arrangements and risk management, 
governance and audit planning.

Councillor Jim Crabtree (Chair)
Wirral Council Audit and Risk Management Committee 
May 2015



15

9. APPENDIX 1

AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

TERMS OF REFERENCE

1. To provide independent assurance of the adequacy of the risk 
management framework and the associated control environment, 
independent scrutiny of the Council’s financial and non-financial 
performance to the extent that it affects the Council’s exposure to risk 
and weakens the control environment, and to oversee the financial 
reporting process.

2. The Committee has the following duties, powers and authorities:

2.1. approval of the Council’s statement of accounts;

2.2. the responsibilities of the Council under section 151 of the Local
 Government Act 1972 to make proper provision for its financial affairs;

2.3. to consider and make recommendations to Council or Cabinet as
appropriate on;

2.3.1. the annual Audit Report and the Management Letter of the external
auditor;

2.3.2. any other statutory report of the external auditor;

2.3.3. any internal audit report that may be referred to the committee by
the Chief Executive, the Director of Resources, the Chief Internal

Auditor or the Head of Legal and Member Services (as 
Monitoring Officer);

2.3.4. summaries of specific internal audit reports as requested;

2.3.5. the effectiveness and adequacy of the response by the Council, the 
Cabinet, any committee or sub-committee of the Council or of any 
officer to any internal or external audit report or management letter;

2.3.6. the systems of control and the arrangements for the prevention of fraud 
and corruption within the Council;

2.3.7. any other matter relevant to the audit of the Council’s accounts and 
financial records or its systems for the control and safeguarding of all 
the Council’s assets;

2.3.8. a report from Internal Audit on agreed recommendations not 
implemented within a reasonable timescale; and



16

2.3.9. the Head of Internal Audit’s annual report and opinion, and a summary 
of internal audit activity (actual and proposed) and the level of 
assurance it can give over the Council’s corporate governance 
arrangements;

2.4. to approve (but not direct) the strategy, plan and performance of the 
Council’s internal audit service;

2.5. to oversee the production of the Authority’s Annual Governance 
Statement and subsumed Statement on Internal Control and 
recommend its adoption;

2.6. to maintain an overview of the Council’s Constitution in respect of 
contract procedure rules, financial regulations and codes of conduct 
and to make recommendations to Council or Cabinet, as appropriate;

2.7. to monitor the Council’s policies on “Raising Concerns at Work”, to the 
anti-fraud and corruption strategy and the complaints procedure;

2.8. to liaise with the Audit Commission over the appointment of the 
Council’s external auditors.

3. The Chair of the Audit and Risk Management Committee shall act as 
the Council’s Risk Management Champion.

4. Executive Members will not normally be members of the Audit and Risk 
Management Committee.



WIRRAL COUNCIL
CABINET
8 OCTOBER 2015

SUBJECT: ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 
2014-15

WARD/S AFFECTED: ALL
REPORT OF: STRATEGIC DIRECTOR – 

TRANSFORMATION & RESOURCES
KEY DECISION NO

1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1 The preparation and publication of an Annual Governance Statement (AGS) is 
necessary to meet the statutory requirement set out in the Accounts and Audit 
(England) Regulations 2011, Regulation 4(3).

1.2 This report presents Cabinet with the final Annual Governance Statement and an 
action plan for approval by Members.

2.0 BACKGROUND AND KEY ISSUES

2.1 It is necessary for the Council: to have approved and adopted a Code of 
Corporate Governance that complies with the principles of the CIPFA/SOLACE 
Framework Delivering Good Governance in Local Government; and to report 
publicly through the Annual Governance Statement the extent to which the 
governance processes outlined in the Code are operating effectively in practice.

2.2 The Framework identifies six core principles of good governance:

1. Focusing on the purpose of the Authority and on outcomes for the community 
and creating and implementing a vision for the local area.

2. Members and officers working together to achieve a common purpose with 
clearly defined functions and roles.

3. Promoting values for the Authority and demonstrating the values of good 
governance through upholding high standards of conduct and behaviour.

4. Taking informed and transparent decisions which are subject to effective 
scrutiny and managing risk.

5. Developing the capacity and capability of Members and Officers to be 
effective.

6. Engaging with local people and other stakeholders to ensure robust 
accountability.

3.0 ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 2014-15

3.1 The approach

The production of the Council’s Annual Governance Statement is based on 
relevant supporting evidence provided by Internal Audit, with the overall direction 
provided by the Strategic Leadership Team to ensure high level corporate 
engagement and ownership.



The Council’s Internal Audit team has been responsible for undertaking the 
relevant assurance work; however, it is important to note that the Annual 
Governance Statement is not owned by the audit function and is a Council 
statement on the effectiveness of its governance processes.

The review of the Annual Governance Statement and the accompanying 
assurances are also important roles for the Audit and Risk Management 
Committee.

3.2 Evidence

Internal Audit has provided the following sources of evidence and documentation 
to support the production of the Annual Governance Statement:

a) A review of the key governance processes in place. 

b) Collation and review of Chief Officers and Managers Assurance Statements 
(in which assurances are provided and weaknesses highlighted over a range of 
key governance processes within specific areas of responsibility).

c) A review of reports by external review agencies has been completed, e.g. 
External Audit, Local Government Association, OFSTED, and the Care Quality 
Commission; so as to highlight key governance issues and findings. 

4.0 RELEVANT RISKS

4.1 Potential failure of the Council to comply with the statutory requirement set out in 
the Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 2011, Regulation 4(3).

5.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

5.1 Not applicable due to the statutory requirement.

6.0 CONSULTATION

6.1 Consultation has taken place with the Portfolio Holder for Governance, 
Commissioning and Improvement, Council Leader and External Audit to inform 
the draft of the Annual Governance Statement.

6.2 The production of the statement has been led by the Council’s Strategic 
Leadership Team and supported by officers of the Corporate Governance Group.  

6.3 Wirral’s External Auditors have also had the opportunity to consider the draft 
Annual Governance Statement and comment accordingly.

6.4 A final draft of the 2014-15 Annual Governance Statement was presented to            
Audit & Risk Management Committee on 22nd September 2015.

7.0 IMPLICATIONS FOR VOLUNTARY, COMMUNITY AND FAITH GROUPS

7.1 There are none arising directly from this report. 



8.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: FINANCIAL; IT; STAFFING; AND ASSETS

8.1 There are none arising directly from this report.

9.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

9.1 The preparation and publication of an Annual Governance Statement (AGS) is 
necessary to meet the statutory requirement set out in the Accounts and Audit 
(England) Regulations 2011, Regulation 4(3).

10.0 EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS

10.1 Has the potential impact of your proposal(s) been reviewed with regard to 
equality?

There are none arising directly from this report. 

11.0 CARBON REDUCTION IMPLICATIONS

11.1 There are none arising directly from this report. 

12.0 PLANNING AND COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS

12.1 There are none arising directly from this report. 

13.0 RECOMMENDATIONS

13.1 That the Annual Governance Statement for 2014-15 be endorsed.

14.0 REASON FOR RECOMMENDATION

14.1 The preparation and publication of an Annual Governance Statement (AGS) is 
necessary to meet the statutory requirement set out in the Accounts and Audit 
England) Regulations 2011, Regulation 4(3).

REPORT AUTHOR: Lucy Barrow
0151 691 8006
lucybarrow@wirral.gov.uk

APPENDICES

1. Annual Governance Statement 2014-15
2. Significant Governance Issues Action Plan



REFERENCE MATERIAL

 CIPFA/SOLACE Delivering Good Governance in Local Government: Guidance 
Note and Framework (2012).

 CIPFA Annual Governance Statement: A Rough Guide for Practitioners 2007/08.
 Accounts and Audit Regulations (England) 2011.
 CIPFA Code of Practice for Internal Audit in Local Government 2006.
 CIPFA The Role of the Chief Financial Officer in Local Government 2010.
 CIPFA The Role of the Head of Internal Audit in Public Service Organisations 

2010.

SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)

Council Meeting Date
Audit and Risk Management Committee - 
Annual Governance Statement 2014-15

Audit and Risk Management Committee – 
Annual Governance Statement 2014-15

18 March 2015

8 June 2015



1

ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 2014-15

1. Scope of Responsibility

Wirral Council is responsible for ensuring that its business is conducted in accordance with the 
law and proper standards, and that public money is safeguarded, properly accounted for and 
used economically, efficiently and effectively. Wirral Council also has a duty, under the Local 
Government Act 1999, to make arrangements to secure continuous improvement in the way in 
which its functions are exercised, having regard to a combination of economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness.

In discharging this overall responsibility, including as accountable body for the Merseyside 
Pension Fund, Wirral Council is responsible for putting in place proper arrangements for the 
governance of its affairs, facilitating the effective exercise of its functions, which includes 
activities for the management of risk.

Wirral Council has approved and adopted a code of corporate governance, which is consistent 
with the principles of the CIPFA/SOLACE Framework Delivering Good Governance in Local 
Government. A copy of the authority’s code is available on our website at www.wirral.gov.uk. This 
statement explains how Wirral Council has complied with the code and also meets the 
requirements of Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 2011, regulation 4 (3), which requires 
all relevant bodies to prepare an annual governance statement.

2. The Purpose of the Governance Framework

The governance framework comprises the systems and processes, culture and values by which 
the Authority is directed and controlled, together with the activities through which it accounts to, 
engages with and, where appropriate, leads the community. It enables the Authority to monitor 
the achievement of its strategic objectives and to consider whether those objectives have led to 
the delivery of appropriate, cost- effective services.

The system of internal control is a significant part of that framework and is designed to manage 
risk to a reasonable level. It cannot eliminate all risk of failure to meet the targets in our policies, 
aims and objectives and can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of 
effectiveness. The system of internal control is based on an ongoing process designed to identify 
and prioritise the risks to the achievement of Wirral Council’s policies, aims and objectives, to 
evaluate the likelihood and potential impact of those risks being realised, and to manage them 
efficiently, effectively and economically.

The governance framework has been in place at Wirral Council for the year ending 31 March 
2015 and up to the date of approval of the annual statement of accounts.

http://www.wirral.gov.uk/


2

3. Overview of Council Progress

The Council has continued to progress its plans during 2014-15 to continually strengthen its 
governance arrangements and build on previous improvements overseen by Wirral’s Improvement 
Board which withdrew in November 2013.  Internal governance controls have been strengthened 
and this is demonstrated by improvements delivered during 2014-15 to address the Council’s 
existing governance issues.

The Council has identified four governance issues in 2014-15 which are outlined in this statement.  
This presents an improved position from five governance issues in 2013-14 and demonstrates 
significantly strengthened governance arrangements from the 2012-13 statement which outlined 
fifteen issues.  

The Council has made considerable progress to conclude its 2013-14 governance issue relating to 
its asset management plans and this issue is therefore no longer considered significant.  Cabinet 
approved a revised Asset Management Strategy in June 2014 and has delivered capital receipts of 
£3.3 million during 2014-15 through disposal of assets, with a target of £20 million identified by 
2017-18.  Other improvements include the introduction of an asset management system and the 
consolidation of a new asset management function as a single structure within the Council.

There have been no ‘new’ governance issues identified during 2014-15 which demonstrates the 
Council is one which is stable and has embedded and consolidated arrangements to strengthen 
governance.  The four remaining issues are related to procurement, ICT business continuity, 
absence management and organisational culture.  These are existing issues which require further 
work to demonstrate a sufficiently improved position before they can be removed from the 
Council’s annual governance statement.  On this basis the Council has decided to retain these as 
significant governance issues to ensure that there are robust review and scrutiny arrangements in 
place to ensure they are addressed.  Plans have been developed to deliver improvements which 
will be regularly reported to senior management and elected members.

Further evidence of the Council’s improved position can be illustrated by the Council success in its 
award of ‘Most Improved Council’ at the 2015 LGC Local Government awards in March 2015.  This 
award highlights that the Council has been recognised by its peers for the improvements that have 
been achieved. The Council was also shortlisted for awards in a further three categories for 
entrepreneurialism, efficiency and driving economic growth.

4. The Governance Framework

The CIPFA/SOLACE Framework ‘Delivering Good Governance in Local Government’ identifies six 
key principles of governance best practice.

Wirral Council’s governance environment is consistent with these six core principles. Key areas of 
assurance of the systems and processes which comprise the Council’s governance arrangements 
are as follows:



3

Principle 1: Focusing on the purpose of the Authority and on outcomes for the community 
including citizens and service users and creating and implementing a vision for the local area.

The Council can demonstrate that it is focusing on outcomes for the community and on a 
longer- term vision for the area. The Council has in place a three-year corporate plan for the 
period 2013-16, setting out a clear vision and set of priorities to guide the allocation of 
resources. 

“Wirral will be a place where the vulnerable are safe and protected, where employers 
want to invest and local businesses thrive, and where good health and an excellent 
quality of life is within the reach of everyone who lives here”.

An updated Corporate Plan for 2015-16 was approved by Council in December 2014 to further 
embed the Council’s vision and to respond to emerging local and national policy drivers.  The plan 
provides a clearly defined approach to deliver projects and activity in accordance with the Council’s 
priorities and within available resources.  The plan is underpinned by a range of plans and 
strategies as defined in the Council’s code of corporate governance.
  
Directorate plans have also been reviewed and refreshed for 2015-16 to reflect the corporate plan 
priorities and the Council’s vision.  The plans have been approved by the relevant Portfolio 
Holders and presented to Member-led Policy and Performance Committees during March 2015 
for consideration and to inform their future work programmes.  

The Strategic Leadership Team review performance of the Corporate Plan on a monthly basis with 
regular reports provided to Cabinet on a quarterly basis.  The Policy and Performance committees 
receive performance reports on directorate plans on a quarterly basis.

The Council is now focused on developing its future plans to ensure that the Council can effectively 
respond to meet residents’ needs and deliver its vision and priorities.  The Council’s leadership is 
working with its Strategic Leadership Team under the direction of the new Chief Executive to 
develop a new Council plan which will shape the way the Council operates over the next three 
years.

The Council continues to demonstrate strengthened financial management and stability.  The 
Medium Term Financial Strategy was agreed by Council in February 2015 and sets out how we will 
resource the priorities set out in the Corporate Plan.  The Council has achieved a balanced budget 
for 2014-15 which includes the delivery of £36 million savings.  A further £38 million savings have 
been approved by Council for 2015-16 with early decisions agreed by Council in December 2014. 

The Council is currently reviewing its partnership arrangements.  During 2015-16, we will work 
closely with its partners to establish a long term vision for the borough.  A Public Service Board 
is in place with the lead officers of public sector organisations in Wirral meeting on a regular 
basis to discuss issues relevant to a wide range of public sector partners, including service 
redesign and improved integration.



4

An independent review of Wirral’s Health and Wellbeing Board took place during January 2015 
and identified the need for a clear vision for Wirral.  This will be progressed during 2015-16 to 
ensure that there is a single agreed vision for Wirral partners.

The Council continues to implement its multi-agency approach to public sector reform 
supported by a range of national initiatives.  Wirral is one of only nine areas in the country and 
the only metropolitan Council to participate in the Public Service Transformation Network.  This 
includes an innovative programme to tackle health-related worklessness in Wirral through a 
partnership approach.  The Council has also recently been selected as one of nine areas to 
achieve national vanguard status for primary and acute care services.  This status will provide a 
framework to focus on a whole system approach for health and social care integration.  

On 1st April 2014, Wirral joined the five other Merseyside local authorities to form Liverpool 
City Region Combined Authority to promote the economic development of the region, draw 
down support from central government and European funding streams and work in a targeted 
and integrated way on transport-related initiatives. Wirral Council Leader Phil Davies is the 
Chair of the Combined Authority and is leading discussions with central government to develop 
a devolution package for the city region. 

Principle 2: Members and officers working together to achieve a common purpose with clearly 
defined functions and roles. 

The Council’s political leadership provides the strategic direction for the delivery of the long-term 
vision of the Council, working closely with senior officers and all elected members. 

The Council’s Constitution provides a clear framework to ensure that Members and Officers have 
clearly defined functions and roles.  This includes a scheme of delegation and a protocol on 
Member / Officer relations that clarify the expectations and boundaries between Member and 
Officer roles and responsibilities. 

The Council’s Member-led Standards and Constitutional Oversight Committee has undertaken some 
work to review the Council’s Constitution during the 2014-15 municipal year.  This work will inform 
further proposed revisions to the Council’s Constitution which it is anticipated will be presented for 
approval to Council in July 2015 to ensure that it remains fit for purpose.  

Three Policy and Performance Committees are in place and aligned to the three strategic 
directorates, and supported by a team of dedicated Scrutiny Officers. The Committees have clear 
responsibilities to inform policy development and to enable pre-scrutiny of decisions within the 
remit of the strategic directorate. A Co-ordinating Committee is responsible for overseeing 
arrangements and allocating cross cutting activities.

Dedicated planning sessions take place with Cabinet and the Strategic Leadership Team to develop 
the future direction of the Council. Cabinet portfolios clearly outline the role and responsibility of 
Cabinet in promoting and delivering the Council’s corporate plan and its budget, and to ensure 



5

that Cabinet Members champion and deliver activities which will result in improved outcomes for 
Wirral residents and create a Council fit for the future. 

Portfolio briefings are working effectively to ensure that Cabinet Members and Strategic Directors 
meet on a regular basis to discuss items relevant to the portfolio area including performance of 
services, budget and risk management issues. The Deputy Leader holds the portfolio for 
Governance, Commissioning and Improvement and reports to Cabinet and Council on a regular 
basis regarding matters within the portfolios responsibilities.

Principle 3: Promoting the values of the Authority and demonstrating the values of good 
governance through behaviour.

The Council has an agreed set of organisational values and behaviours which inform and shape 
how staff across the Council provide services to Wirral residents, businesses and other 
stakeholders.  The values are for staff to deliver with integrity, ambition, confidence and 
efficiency. 

The Council adopted a new performance appraisal process for 2014-15 which requires managers 
and staff to evidence how the organisational values have been demonstrated.  The 2014-15 target for 
completion of performance appraisals has not been achieved and this will be considered as part of 
the Council’s approach to organisational culture as set out in the governance issues section of this 
statement.  Targets have been agreed and a timetable is in place for completing performance 
appraisals during 2015-16.  

The Council’s Constitution sets out a Code of Conduct for Members to ensure there is clear 
accountability and clarity.  During the 2014-15 municipal year, the Standards and Constitutional 
Working Group has reviewed the protocol on Member / Officer relations to provide a framework to 
govern how Members and Officers work together.  The protocol gained Council approval in March 
2015 and will be embedded into the Council’s Constitution.

The Council refreshed its grievance and confidential reporting policies during 2014-15 and the 
application of the Council’s grievance policies received a positive audit report during 2014-15 
marking a significant improvement from the previous position. 

The Council has launched a new intranet which gives prominence to these policies and others 
including information security.  The Council’s Code of Corporate Governance was also made 
available on the intranet site to provide visibility to all employees.  

A new ‘dignity at work’ policy has also been implemented during 2014-15 to support the 
Employee Code of Conduct. The policy provides a process to follow when dealing with allegations 
of bullying and harassment and has been fully communicated to all staff with a briefing session 
provided to senior managers in October 2014.  The Council has also introduced dignity at work 
advisors to support employees through these processes. 



6

Principle 4: Taking informed and transparent decisions which are subject to effective scrutiny 
and managing risk.

The Council reviewed and refreshed its Corporate Risk Management policy during 2014-15 to 
ensure that the policy sets out clear roles, responsibilities and reporting lines within the Council.  
The policy was approved by the Audit and Risk Management Committee in March 2015 and will be 
presented to Cabinet for approval in June 2015.

The Council has participated in a benchmarking exercise with other authorities during 2014-15 to 
further develop its approach to managing risks and incorporating best practice from others.  Risk 
monitoring reports are routinely reported to the Council’s Corporate Governance Group and 
Strategic Leadership Team, as well as regularly presented to the Audit and Risk Management 
Committee for their review of assurance requirements.

The Audit and Risk Management Committee also has responsibilities to ensure there is compliance 
and robust arrangements for Financial Regulations and Contract Procedure Rules.  The Council is 
currently reviewing its Contract Procedure Rules which will be incorporated into a revised 
Constitution which will be presented to the Audit and Risk Management Committee before being 
referred to Council for approval.  There is still further work required to further strengthen the 
Council’s procurement arrangements and action will be taken during 2015-16 to progress this work.

The Local Audit Accountability Act requires local public bodies to have in place an independent 
Auditor Panel to oversee the appointment and monitoring of external audit services by 31 March 
2017.  A statement by the Secretary of State is scheduled for autumn 2015 and early indications are 
that an extension to the current arrangements is likely to be announced as well as a national sector 
wide opt-in arrangement for the collective procurement of these services in the future.

The Council has previously considered proposals to strengthen the independent nature of the 
Audit and Risk Management Committee through the appointment of a majority of external 
members.  Significant steps have also been taken by the organisation to improve its overall 
governance arrangements including many actions directly involving this committee and its 
operation that have greatly improved its effectiveness and overall contribution to good 
governance across the Council. 

Discussions are also taking place with colleagues from across the North West Councils which have 
identified that only two of the twenty six Councils represented currently utilise independent external 
members on their audit committees with varying degrees of success. It is not therefore considered 
necessary at this moment in time to proceed with this action, however, the operation of the 
committee will continue to be monitored and evaluated annually against the CIPFA Code of Best 
Practice for Audit Committees and any Secretary of States direction/guidance. All necessary 
improvements will be implemented as required.  



7

Principle 5: Developing the capacity and capability of members to be effective and ensuring that 
officers, including statutory officers, also have the capability to deliver effectively.

In January 2014, Wirral began an ambitious programme of transformation, designed to remodel 
the authority in line with the Council’s priorities.  This programme included a review of all Council 
services and officer structures to ensure they deliver the Corporate Plan vision and meet the 
needs and outcomes of Wirral’s community, whilst at the same time identifying the savings that 
the Council must make in future years. 

The Council has a Leadership Development Programme for senior managers from across the 
organisation which focuses on the Wirral vision, leadership in a changing context, and how to 
apply their learning in the leadership of the organisation.

The Council has a ‘Skills for Wirral’ training and development programme for managers and 
employees with regular sessions held every month on subjects including demystifying stress, 
resilient leadership, coaching skills and wellness and recovery action planning.

The agreed set of management expectations are in place and linked to performance appraisals. 
The’ Wirral Management Development Programme’ provides essential training for managers to 
ensure that they have the support to meet the expectations framework. The Framework has nine 
essential modules which contain a mixture of workshops and e-learning modules. A new online 
training needs analysis assists in identifying priorities for managers, alongside specific targeted 
programmes.  A calendar of upcoming training sessions is advertised prominently on the new 
intranet. 

The Authority offers members, including the newly elected, a programme of training covering 
the Member Charter, Code of Conduct, Code of Corporate Governance, and Regulatory 
Framework.  All Elected Members also have the opportunity to complete a personal development 
plan.  

Principle 6: Engaging with local people and other stakeholders to ensure robust local 
public accountability.

As set out in the Corporate Plan 2013-16, the Council is committed to engaging and empowering 
individuals and communities in both the design and delivery of local services. The Council 
completed a major budget consultation initiative in autumn 2014 to ask local residents, staff and 
stakeholders for their views on proposals for where the Council could deliver savings. Over 8,000 
responses were received on a range of budget options during an extensive consultation process 
and in December 2014, the results of the consultation were reported to Cabinet for 
recommendations to be approved at Council. 

The consultation achieved amongst the highest levels of participation in the UK compared to 
similar exercises and informed the budget decisions recommended for approval by Council.  
These decisions led to further detailed engagement work with residents, stakeholders and 



8

service users.

The Council moved forward its neighbourhood working arrangements which are designed to bring 
communities closer to the decision-making process via four constituency areas.  Constituency 
Managers work in partnership with the Police, Fire and Rescue, Health and Social Care sectors.  Each 
constituency committee has developed a neighbourhood plan and has been allocated an initial 
‘start up’ grant to spend according to constituency priorities.  

5. Review of Effectiveness

Wirral Council has responsibility for conducting, at least annually, a review of the effectiveness of 
its governance framework including the system of internal control.

The review of effectiveness is informed by: the work of Internal Audit and the Chief Internal 
Auditor’s Annual Report; findings and reports issued by the external auditors and other review 
agencies and inspectorates; and feedback and comments provided by Chief Officers and managers 
within the Authority who have responsibility for the development and maintenance of the 
governance environment.  

Corporate Management Assurance

The Council’s Strategic Leadership Team has managed the development of the Annual 
Governance Statement to ensure a high level of corporate engagement and ownership. A 
quarterly review of performance management, audit and risk takes place to review and consider 
emerging governance issues and ensure that appropriate action is in place.

An officer Corporate Governance Group is chaired by the Strategic Director for Transformation 
and Resources.  The group includes strategic leads for Performance, Risk, Internal Audit, 
Improvement and Strategy to ensure it has an appropriate profile within the organisation and 
significant governance issues are monitored and responded to in a timely manner.

The Council’s Chief Information Officer has been appointed as the Authority’s Senior 
Information Risk Owner and is a member of the Officer Information Governance Group which 
is chaired by the Strategic Director for Transformation and Resources.

Arrangements are in place to ensure the Head of Paid Service and Monitoring Officer role and 
functions are discharged effectively and these functions are set out in the Council’s Constitution. 
This ensures that there is compliance with relevant laws and regulations and internal policies and 
procedures.  The Council complies with the CIPFA Statement on the Role of the Chief Financial 
Officer in Local Government 2010. 

The Council also complies with the CIPFA Statement on the Role of the Head of Internal Audit in 
Public Service Organisations 2010.  The Chief Internal Auditor provides reports to the Council’s 
Strategic Leadership Team and Audit and Risk Management Committee on a monthly basis.  On 



9

the basis of the programme of work undertaken, the Chief Internal Auditor has concluded that 
there is a sound system of internal control, designed to meet the Council’s objectives, and that 
controls are generally being applied consistently.

Council

Council sets the authority’s overall policies and budget each year and holds the Cabinet to 
account. Annual Policy Council meets in July to discuss, debate and further shape the future 
purpose of the organisation through the consideration of the Council’s corporate plan.  

Cabinet

Cabinet has a leading role in ensuring good governance arrangements are in place to drive 
forward transformation and improvements across the Council. The Deputy Leader holds the 
Governance, Commissioning and Improvement portfolio to ensure that there is a strong and 
robust leadership approach to governance and compliance across the organisation.

Audit and Risk Management Committee

The Audit and Risk Management Committee has an important role in maintaining the Council’s 
system of internal control.  It provides an independent assurance and scrutiny of the Council’s 
financial and non-financial performance, including an assessment of the adequacy of the Council’s 
risk management arrangements.

External Audit

Grant Thornton is the Council’s independently appointment External Auditor with a broad remit 
covering the Council’s finance and governance matters.  The annual work programme is set in 
accordance with the Code of Audit Practice ('the Code') issued by the Audit Commission and 
includes nationally prescribed and locally determined work.  The Auditors work considers the 
Council's key risks when reaching its conclusions under the Code.

Grant Thornton works closely with the Council to review its governance arrangements and regularly 
meets with the Strategic Director for Transformation and Resources and other statutory officers to 
review progress and ensure the Council is fulfilling its responsibilities.

The Council secured an unqualified external audit opinion on its value for money conclusion for 
2013-14 and feels confident that it will achieve the same opinion for 2014-15.

Standards and Constitutional Oversight Committee

The Standards and Constitutional Oversight Committee is responsible for keeping the Council’s 
constitutional arrangements under review and making recommendations to the Council for ways 
in which the Constitution should be amended in order to better achieve its purposes. The 



10

Committee also oversees and agrees minor changes to the Council’s constitutional arrangements 
as recommended by the Monitoring Officer.

Merseyside Pension Fund

Wirral Council is also the administering authority for the Merseyside Pension Fund which 
publishes its own statement of accounts on an annual basis and includes a “Governance 
Compliance Statement”. The statement outlines compliance to industry specific governance 
principles.

6. Significant Governance Issues

The following governance issues have been identified as ‘significant’ during 2014-15 and will 
be addressed through appropriate actions.

ICT Business Continuity and Resilience Plans

The Council has identified weaknesses in its business continuity arrangements, which may be 
susceptible due to the Council not having in place robust ICT business continuity plans.  The 
Council must ensure that these plans are in place for its identified critical services to ensure these 
services can function effectively in the event of an incident.

The Council has identified the need to strengthen its ICT resilience and respond to risks related to 
the current location of its data centres.  

Corporate Procurement Arrangements

The Council must continue to take action to address identified weaknesses in relation to its 
corporate procurement arrangements.

Absence Management

The organisation failed to meet its absence target for 2014/15.

The Council must now review its approach to ensure that absence is reported and managed 
effectively in accordance with Council policies.

Culture

The Council has identified issues relating to staff and management adherence to internal controls.

The Council is developing plans to reinforce its expectations of all staff in relation to internal 
controls and ensure that managers are committed to creating a culture where these controls are 
visible and understood. 



11

Issues identified in this statement are already being addressed through robust and planned activity. 
Over the coming year we will continue to ensure that these actions continue to be delivered to 
further enhance our governance arrangements, and ensure that we are satisfied that they will 
address the improvements required.

The Council will monitor their implementation and operation as part of our next annual review.

Signed: Date:  

Chief Executive

Signed: Date:  

Leader of the Council



11



ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 2014/15: SIGNIFICANT GOVERNANCE ISSUES ACTION PLAN

1

Governance Issue Action Being Taken Performance Measure(s) Lead Officer Oversight Body Expected 
Completion 
Date 

ICT Business Continuity and 
Resilience Plans
The Council has identified 
weaknesses in its business 
continuity arrangements, 
which may be susceptible 
due to the Council not 
having in place robust ICT 
business continuity plans.  
The Council must ensure 
that these plans are in place 
for its identified critical 
services to ensure these 
services can function 
effectively in the event of an 
incident.

The Council has identified 
the need to strengthen its 
ICT resilience and respond 
to risks related to the 
current location of its data 
centres.  

A Business Continuity Policy 
has been produced and 
publicised on the Council’s 
Intranet.  This accompanies a 
business continuity planning 
template which is in the 
process of being completed 
for all those services deemed 
to be critical.  The content of 
the plans will be used to 
inform the work plans for 
the IT service in the event of 
data loss of one or a number 
of systems.

The project to move one of 
the Council’s data centres is 
being initiated, with a 
number of options being 
researched.  These options 
include:
 Co-location with a public 

sector organisation
 Co-location with a 

commercial organisation
 Use of Wirral-owned 

assets.

Effective and tested Business 
Continuity Plans in place for 
all critical services.

Completion of relocation 
project.

Head of Corporate 
and Community 
Safety

Chief Information 
Officer

SLT

SLT

Q4 2015/16

Q4 2015/16



ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 2014/15: SIGNIFICANT GOVERNANCE ISSUES ACTION PLAN

2

Governance Issue Action Being Taken Performance Measure(s) Lead Officer Oversight Body Expected 
Completion 
Date 

Corporate Procurement 
Arrangements
The Council must continue 
to take action to address 
identified weaknesses in 
relation to its corporate 
procurement arrangements.  

The organisation’s capacity 
to respond and adhere to 
policy and legislative 
requirements is being 
strengthened.

Adherence to corporate 
procurement procedures 
(Contract Procedure Rules / 
Procurement Toolkit) which 
should include all national 
and European policy and 
legislative requirements.

Strategic Director: 
Transformation and 
Resources

SLT Q4 2015/16

Absence Management
The organisation failed to 
meet its absence target for 
2014/15.

The Council must now 
review its approach to 
ensure that absence is 
reported and managed 
effectively in accordance 
with Council policies.

A range of measures are 
being taken to reinforce the 
Council’s absence 
management policy with 
managers and employees. 
This includes strengthening 
management information 
and the completion of a 
mandatory e-learning 
package on attendance 
management by all staff.
Data provided by North 
West Employers shows that 
the Council’s performance in 
comparison with other 
authorities has improved in 
recent years.

Achievement of the absence 
target for 2015/16 of 9.75 
days per person.

Comparative position with 
other North West councils.

Head of Human 
Resources and 
Organisational 
Development

SLT Q4 2015/16

Culture
The Council has identified 
issues relating to staff and 
management adherence to 
internal controls.

The People Strategy 2015 is 
being developed to support 
a refreshed leadership and 
culture framework, linked to 
the Council’s target 
operating model. This will 

Delivery and embededness 
of the People Strategy.

Head of Human 
Resources and 
Organisational 
Development

SLT Q4 2015/16



ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 2014/15: SIGNIFICANT GOVERNANCE ISSUES ACTION PLAN

3

Governance Issue Action Being Taken Performance Measure(s) Lead Officer Oversight Body Expected 
Completion 
Date 

The Council is developing 
plans to reinforce its 
expectations of all staff in 
relation to internal controls 
and ensure that managers 
are committed to creating a 
culture where these controls 
are visible and understood. 

include a diagnosis of the 
required changes to culture, 
structure, systems and 
processes, underpinned by a 
new form of leadership for 
the future. 





WIRRAL COUNCIL

CABINET

8 OCTOBER 2015

SUBJECT: EMPOWERING LOCALLY / 
NEIGHBOURHOOD WORKING TO 
DELIVER THE WIRRAL PLAN 2020

WARD/S AFFECTED: ALL WARDS

REPORT OF: GRAHAM HODKINSON, DIRECTOR OF 
ADULT SOCIAL SERVICES 

RESPONSIBLE PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER: 

COUNCILLOR GEORGE DAVIES, 
NEIGHBOURHOODS, HOUSING AND 
ENGAGEMENT

KEY DECISION?  YES

1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
1.1 The five-year Wirral Plan sets out a clear vision of how the public services 

across the area will work together to deliver a better life for local people. 

1.2 One of the four key themes of this work is the principle of empowering locally: 
giving back power and responsibility to communities and tailoring public 
services to meet the unique needs of local areas and neighbourhoods.

1.3 This report seeks Cabinet approval for the further development of the 
neighbourhood working model in order to support the effective delivery of the 
Wirral Plan 2020 outcomes at a local level.

2.0 BACKGROUND AND KEY ISSUES

2.1 The Council’s current neighbourhood working model was established in May 
2013, establishing 4 Constituency Committees, 4 Constituency Teams, 4 Local 
Public Service Boards, and 4 Constituency Plans based upon local priorities.

2.2 But the Wirral Plan recognises that the area is changing and that now and in 
the future people will be leading different lives, and will want more freedom, 
responsibility and control over how they live and work. This has major 
implications for all public services and the way we work in neighbourhoods.

2.3   A fundamental principle of delivering the Plan will be working with residents to 
address issues and needs at the most local level possible. We must also look 
beyond our organisational and geographic boundaries to work on shared 
priorities with public, voluntary and private partners at the most local level, as 
well as borough-wide and regionally (please see Appendix A).



2.4 It is proposed to establish new key outcomes and principles for the Council’s 
neighbourhood working model, i.e.  

Key Outcomes:

 More independent and resilient citizens and communities who are able to 
support each other. 

 Revitalised communities with a focus on individual wellbeing, greater local 
control and influence, and control in relation to assets, open spaces and the 
place.

 A changing role for the Council from being a traditional deliverer of services to 
becoming a leader and commissioner locally to improve outcomes for 
residents.

 Released capacity, knowledge, assets and expertise from and to local 
communities. 

 Councillors as civic and community leaders, resolving issues at a local level 
with constituents.

 Citizens working with the commissioners to co-design solutions to improve 
outcomes in their local area in the context of reducing resources.

 Citizens involved in local decisions relating to priorities in their area, and 
already thriving communities realising their full potential and unlocking their 
skills and expertise to deliver more for themselves, their neighbours and their 
communities. 

 Joined up and accessible services, focussed on delivering the right outcomes 
and provided at the right level for our citizens and communities.

 Constituency Committees focussed on driving and delivering the Wirral Plan, 
with the freedom to utilise resources accordingly.

Key Principles:

 Offer citizens and communities a greater say, more control, and responsibility 
in relation to their communities.

 Create an environment where volunteering / neighbouring is the cornerstone 
of resilient local communities. 

 Release leadership potential through development activities (for individuals 
families and communities).

2.5 It is proposed to develop a Neighbourhood Working Development Plan by 
December 2015, with key partners, utilising 4 work streams; (i) operational 
integration (please see Appendix B), (ii) process planning (e.g. 
Neighbourhood Plans and Asset Transfers), (iii) resources (e.g. transition 
phases), and (iv) community development models. The Neighbourhood 
Working Development Plan will also include:

 Clarity of purpose for Constituency Committees and Members in order to 
provide more leadership locally.

 Clarity of purpose for Constituency Managers in order to harness the 
collective power locally to tackle issues and improve lives.

 How resources will need to be realigned to give back responsibility and power 
to communities and to ensure our support is tailored to the unique needs of 
local areas and neighbourhoods.



 How resources need to be pooled and shared, and how we need to make the 
best use of assets and buildings for the benefit of local people.

 A transition process highlighting where the support of constituencies is 
needed in order to achieve the Wirral Plan 2020 outcomes.

 The need for Neighbourhood Plans to be linked to the Wirral Plan 2020 
outcomes, and are planned, agreed and delivered at a local level.

3.0 RELEVANT RISKS 

3.1 By not establishing an appropriate neighbourhood working model, and by not 
changing the way the council does things to respond to the new needs of 
residents, then the Council will fail in its duty to the communities it serves.

3.2 By not establishing an appropriate neighbourhood working model, the Localism 
Act 2011 will not be implemented and communities will not be empowered to 
take action in order to gain sustainable change.

3.3 By not establishing an appropriate neighbourhood working model, the Wirral 
Plan 2020 outcomes may not be achieved.

4.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

4.1 This report proposes the development of a Neighbourhood Working 
Development Plan which will consider best practice options for neighbourhood 
working.

5.0 CONSULTATION 

5.1 This report proposes the further development of an appropriate neighbourhood 
working model with partners.

6.0 OUTSTANDING PREVIOUSLY APPROVED ACTIONS 

6.1  None

7.0 IMPLICATIONS FOR VOLUNTARY, COMMUNITY AND FAITH GROUPS

7.1 The social sector has well established working relationships with the public 
sector, and has a flexible and responsive approach to the changing needs of 
individuals and communities. The Council is committed to working with the 
social sector to focus on achieving the right shared outcomes for residents. 

8.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: FINANCIAL; IT; STAFFING; AND ASSETS 

8.1 There are no direct costs associated with the content of this report. However, 
the proposed new Neighbourhood Working Development Plan will highlight 
where any potential initial investment may be required.



8.2 Please note that the new neighbourhood working model will ensure existing 
resources are realigned to give back responsibility and power to communities 
and will ensure existing resources can be pooled and shared, and how we need 
to make the best use of assets and buildings for the benefit of local people.

9.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

9.1 There will be constitutional elements to the process of further developing the 
Council’s neighbourhood working model which may require changes to the 
Council’s constitution. All proposed changes identified will be agreed by 
Cabinet and Council.

10.0 EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS

10.1 There are no equalities implications contained within this report. However, an 
equality impact will be completed as part of the process of developing a 
Neighbourhood Working Development Plan. 

11.0 CARBON REDUCTION AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 

11.1 It is envisaged that revitalised communities will be empowered to focus on 
greater local control and influence in relation to assets, open spaces and the 
place.

12.0 PLANNING AND COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS

12.1 There are no implications contained within this report.

13.0 RECOMMENDATION/S

13.1 Cabinet agrees to the further development of the neighbourhood working model 
in order to support the effective delivery of the Wirral Plan 2020 outcomes at a 
local level.

13.2 Cabinet agrees to the development of a Neighbourhood Working Development 
Plan by December 2015, which will be a key component of the Wirral Plan 2020 
delivery plan.

13.3 Cabinet agrees to the alignment of the delivery of 2020 outcomes to 
neighbourhood working where this is appropriate to do so, proactively 
promoting co-location and working across organisational boundaries.

13.4 Cabinet agrees to realigning resources required to deliver the Neighbourhood 
Working Development Plan and Neighbourhood Plans, once these are in place, 
and to embed this in the Council’s 5 year financial plan.

13.5 Cabinet agrees to the review of the role of Constituency Committees and 
Constituency Managers in line with the proposed Neighbourhood Working 
Development Plan.



14.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S
14.1 To further develop the neighbourhood working model in order to support the 

effective delivery of the Wirral Plan 2020 outcomes at a local level.

REPORT AUTHOR:  Jacqui Cross
                           Neighbourhoods Senior Manager
                           Telephone: (0151) 691 8064
                           Email: jacquicross@wirral.gov.uk 

SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)

Council Meeting Date

Cabinet – Neighbourhoods Programme Review
Cabinet – Progressing Neighbourhood Working
Cabinet – Proposed Operating Model for 
Neighbourhood Working
Cabinet – Neighbourhood Working, Forging a 
Modern Relationship Between the Council and 
residents

13/03/2014
07/11/2013

23/05/2013

24/01/2013

mailto:jacquicross@wirral.gov.uk


APPENDIX A Proposed Outline for a Neighbourhood Working Model 

ll
Neighbourhood

Plans

Constituencies        
(operating at the most local 

level)

2020 WIRRAL PLAN PLEDGES

Be 
outcomes 
focussed

Constituencies influence 
where integrated delivery 

units need to provide services

Empower communities 
to be involved in co-

production

A
S
S
E
T

T
R
A
N
S
F
E
R Support 

process of all 
sectors sharing 

assets

Encourage 
communities to 
take on assets 

(buildings, 
land, services)

Support fast 
transfer 
process

P
A
R
T
N
E
R
S
H
I
P
S

Support 
community 

services 
becoming 

more joined-up 
and accessible

Identify and 
establish 

partnership 
opportunities 

across all 
sectors

RESILIENT AND INDEPENDENT COMMUNITIES

Promote 
self-sufficient 
communities

Build on what people 
already do, e.g. 

volunteering, 
neighbouring, etc.

Support delivery of 
behaviour change 

campaigns and 
activities



Appendix B Neighbourhood/Constituency Influence Model (PHASE 1)




	Agenda
	3 Wirral Plan: Delivery Plan Phase One and Medium Term Financial Strategy
	Delivery Plan (Phase One) Appendix

	4 Climate Change Annual Progress Report and Action Plan
	Appendix 1 Annual Progress Report 2015
	Appendix_2_WirralClimateStrategyRollingActionPlan_Aug_2015

	5 Audit and Risk Management Committee Annual Report 2014/15
	ANNUAL REPORT APPENDIX, 08/06/2015 Audit and Risk Management Committee

	6 Annual Governance Statement 2014-15
	Appendix 1 - Annual Governance Statement
	Appendix 2 Significant Governance Issues Action Plan

	7 Empowering Locally / Neighbourhood Working to Deliver the Wirral Plan 2020



